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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 1.                 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) 

EQUIFAX INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

  Three Months Ended  

  September 30,  

(In millions, except
per share amounts)       2006         2005     

  (Unaudited)  

Operating revenue $ 394.6 $ 375.3
Operating expenses:

Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization below) 157.9 153.0
Selling, general and administrative expenses 95.7 94.5
Depreciation and amortization 20.4 20.5

Total operating expenses 274.0 268.0
Operating income 120.6 107.3

Interest expense (7.9 ) (8.6 )
Minority interests in earnings, net of tax (1.0 ) (1.0 )
Other income, net 0.5 4.8

Income before income taxes 112.2 102.5
Provision for income taxes (33.3) (40.0)

Net income $ 78.9 $ 62.5
Basic earnings per common share $ 0.62 $ 0.48
Shares used in computing basic earnings per share 126.4 129.9
Diluted earnings per common share $ 0.61 $ 0.47
Shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 128.4 132.5
Dividends per common share $ 0.04 $ 0.04

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EQUIFAX INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (Continued)

 Nine Months Ended  

 September 30,  

(In millions, except per share
amounts)  2006  2005  

 (Unaudited)  

Operating revenue $ 1,156.3 $ 1,082.1
Operating expenses:

Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization below) 466.5 443.3
Selling, general and administrative expenses 301.6 262.3
Depreciation and amortization 62.0 60.5

Total operating expenses 830.1 766.1
Operating income 326.2 316.0

Interest expense (24.0) (27.5)
Minority interests in earnings, net of tax (3.0 ) (3.6 )
Other income, net 16.0 9.9

Income before income taxes 315.2 294.8
Provision for income taxes (103.8) (111.1)

Net income $ 211.4 $ 183.7
Basic earnings per common share $ 1.65 $ 1.42
Shares used in computing basic earnings per share 127.8 129.8
Diluted earnings per common share $ 1.62 $ 1.39
Shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 130.1 132.6
Dividends per common share $ 0.12 $ 0.11

 

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EQUIFAX INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

 September 30, December 31,  

(In millions, except par values)  2006 2005  

(Unaudited)   

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 55.7 $ 37.5
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $10.3 at September 30,

2006 and $9.6 at December 31, 2005 248.5 216.0
Prepaid expenses 24.9 17.9
Other current assets 12.9 9.0

Total current assets 342.0 280.4
Property and equipment:

Capitalized internal-use software and system costs 232.8 205.9
Data processing equipment and furniture 133.6 124.5
Land, buildings and improvements 29.2 29.1

Total property and equipment 395.6 359.5
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (239.0) (202.7)

Total property and equipment, net 156.6 156.8
Goodwill 808.5 791.2
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 95.3 95.0
Purchased intangible assets, net 242.7 263.4
Prepaid pension asset 189.9 183.7
Other assets, net 59.1 61.0

Total assets $ 1,894.1 $ 1,831.5
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt and current maturities $ 91.7 $ 92.3
Accounts payable 21.3 5.9
Accrued expenses 50.1 54.0
Accrued salaries and bonuses 40.7 40.7
Deferred revenue 62.3 49.2
Other current liabilities 54.9 52.4

Total current liabilities 321.0 294.5
Long-term debt 416.9 463.8
Deferred income tax liabilities, net 135.3 126.1
Other long-term liabilities 102.8 126.8

Total liabilities 976.0 1,011.2
Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 5)
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: Authorized shares—10.0; Issued shares—none — —
Common stock, $1.25 par value: Authorized shares—300.0;
Issued shares—186.2 at September 30, 2006 and 185.2 at December 31, 2005;

Outstanding shares—125.7 at September 30, 2006 and 129.2 at December 31, 2005 232.7 231.5
Paid-in capital 599.9 559.0
Retained earnings 1,720.7 1,525.1
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (134.0) (157.8)
Treasury stock, at cost, 56.3 shares at September 30, 2006 and 51.7 shares at December 31, 2005 (1,439.5 ) (1,274.6 )
Stock held by employee benefits trusts, at cost, 4.2 shares at September 30, 2006 and 4.3 shares

at December 31, 2005 (61.7) (62.9)
Total shareholders’ equity 918.1 820.3

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 1,894.1 $ 1,831.5
 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EQUIFAX INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 Nine Months Ended  

 September 30,  

(In millions)  2006  2005  

 (Unaudited)  

Operating activities:
Net income $ 211.4 $ 183.7
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 62.0 60.5
Stock-based compensation expense 14.4 5.9
Tax effects of stock-based compensation plans 6.9 13.0

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation plans (3.5 ) —
Deferred income taxes 3.7 13.7
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable, net (29.3) (21.4)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (6.7 ) 10.9
Other assets (3.9 ) (12.3)
Current liabilities, excluding debt 26.1 (4.5 )
Other long-term liabilities, excluding debt (25.7) (11.8)

Cash provided by operating activities 255.4 237.7
Investing activities:



Capital expenditures (34.1) (33.3)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (121.8)
Other (0.1 ) 10.1

Cash used in investing activities (34.2) (145.0)
Financing activities:

Net short-term (repayments) borrowings (0.6 ) 88.6
Net (repayments) borrowings under long-term revolving credit facilities (47.0) 120.0
Payments on long-term debt — (250.0)
Treasury stock purchases (163.9) (95.0)
Dividends paid (15.3) (14.8)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 19.8 47.7
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation plans 3.5 —
Other (0.2 ) 0.7

Cash used in financing activities (203.7) (102.8)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 0.7 (0.5 )
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 18.2 (10.6)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 37.5 52.1
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 55.7 $ 41.5

 

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EQUIFAX INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(UNAUDITED)

 

         Accumulated    

Stock
Held By  

  Common Stock      Other    Employee  Total
 

 Outstanding    Paid-In  Retained  Comprehensive  Treasury  Benefits  Shareholders’
  Shares  Amount  Capital  Earnings  Loss  Stock  Trusts  Equity
 

 (In millions, except per share amounts)
Balance, December 31, 2005 129.2 $ 231.5 $ 559.0 $ 1,525.1 $ (157.8 ) $ (1,274.6 ) $ (62.9 ) $ 820.3
Net income — — — 211.4 — — — 211.4
Other comprehensive income — — — — 23.8 — — 23.8
Shares issued under stock plans 0.9 1.1 16.8 — — — — 17.9
Shares issued under benefits plans 0.1 — 1.5 — — — 1.2 2.7
Treasury stock traded for option price — — 0.2 — — (1.0 ) — (0.8 )
Treasury stock traded for minimum tax withholdings — — (0.2 ) — — (1.9 ) — (2.1 )
Treasury stock purchased ($35.02 per share)* (4.6 ) — — — — (162.0 ) — (162.0 )
Cash dividends ($0.12 per share) — — — (15.8 ) — — — (15.8 )
Dividends paid to employee benefits trusts — — 0.5 — — — — 0.5
Stock-based compensation expense — — 14.4 — — — — 14.4
Tax effects of stock-based compensation plans — — 6.9 — — — — 6.9
Other 0.1 0.1 0.8 — — — — 0.9
Balance, September 30, 2006 125.7 $ 232.7 $ 599.9 $ 1,720.7 $ (134.0 ) $ (1,439.5 ) $ (61.7 ) $ 918.1

*                       At September 30, 2006, $183.4 million was authorized for future repurchases of our common stock.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss consists of the following components: 

  September 30,  December 31,  

  2006  2005  

  (In millions)  

Foreign currency translation $ (116.6) $ (140.1)
Minimum pension liability, net of accumulated tax of $10.0 at September 30, 2006

and December 31, 2005 (16.7) (16.7)
Cash flow hedging transactions, net of tax of $0.4 and $0.6 at September 30, 2006 and

December 31, 2005, respectively (0.7 ) (1.0 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (134.0) $ (157.8)

 

Comprehensive Income is as follows: 

 Three Months Ended  

Nine Months
Ended  

 September 30,  September 30,  

 2006 2005  2006  2005  

 (In millions)  

Net income $ 78.9 $ 62.5 $ 211.4 $ 183.7
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustment 4.6 15.0 23.5 16.1
Minimum pension liability adjustment — — — (1.0 )
Change in cumulative loss from cash flow hedging transactions (0.3 ) 0.4 0.3 0.6

Comprehensive income $ 83.2 $ 77.9 $ 235.2 $ 199.4
 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EQUIFAX INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) 

September 30, 2006

As used herein, the terms “Equifax”, “the Company”, “we”, “our” and “us” refer to Equifax Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries as a combined
entity, except where it is clear that the terms mean only Equifax Inc.

1.      SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of Operations.   We collect, organize and manage various types of financial, demographic and marketing information. Our products and services enable
businesses to make credit and service decisions, manage their portfolio risk and develop marketing strategies concerning consumers and commercial enterprises. We serve
customers across a wide range of industries, including the financial services, mortgage, retail, telecommunications, utilities, automotive, brokerage, healthcare and insurance
industries, as well as state and federal governments. We also enable consumers to manage and protect their financial health through a portfolio of products offered directly to
individuals. We operate in 13 countries: North America (the U.S., Canada and Costa Rica), Europe (the United Kingdom, Ireland, Spain and Portugal) and Latin America
(Brazil, Argentina, Chile, El Salvador, Peru and Uruguay). For information about our operating segments, including product and service offerings, see Note 8 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Basis of Presentation.   The accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, the unaudited Consolidated
Financial Statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. As a result, these Consolidated Financial
Statements should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto included in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005 (“2005 Form 10-K”).

We believe that the accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring items, considered necessary for a
fair statement of results for the interim periods presented.

We have reclassified certain prior period amounts in our Consolidated Financial Statements to conform to the current period presentation, including the reclassification of
prior year amounts related to the presentation of purchased software from other assets, net to capitalized internal-use software and system costs on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The purchased software balance and related accumulated amortization was $54.3 million and $30.6 million, respectively, at September 30, 2006, and $43.5 million
and $23.7 million, respectively, at December 31, 2005.
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Earnings Per Share.   In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 128, “Earnings per Share,” our basic earnings per share (“EPS”)
is calculated as net income divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is calculated to reflect the potential
dilution that would occur if stock options or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised and resulted in additional common shares outstanding. The income amount
used in our EPS calculations is the same for both basic and diluted EPS. A reconciliation of the weighted-average outstanding shares used in the two calculations is as follows:

 

Three Months
Ended

September 30,  

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,  

 2006  2005  2006  2005  

 (In millions)  

Weighted-average shares outstanding (basic) 126.4 129.9 127.8 129.8
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 1.6 2.0 1.8 2.2
Long-term incentive plans 0.4 0.6 0.5 0.6

Weighted-average shares outstanding (diluted) 128.4 132.5 130.1 132.6
 

Between October 1, 2006 and October 31, 2006, we purchased 0.6 million shares of our common stock for $23.6 million under the stock repurchase program authorized
by our Board of Directors.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements.   In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”), which provides clarification related to the process associated with accounting for
uncertain tax positions recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. FIN 48 prescribes a more likely than not threshold for financial statement recognition
and measurement of a tax position taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance related to, among other things, classification, accounting for
interest and penalties associated with tax positions, and disclosure requirements. We will be required to adopt FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. For transition purposes, we will
adopt FIN 48 as a change in accounting principle through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on
our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”), which provides guidance for measuring the fair value of assets and
liabilities, as well as requires expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 indicates that fair value should be determined based on the assumptions
marketplace participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, and provides additional guidelines to consider in determining the market-based measurement. We will be
required to adopt SFAS 157 on January 1, 2008, although early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 157 on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (“SFAS 158”), which is effective for us as of December 31, 2006. SFAS 158 requires us to recognize (1) the overfunded or
underfunded status of our defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans as an asset or liability in our Consolidated Balance Sheet and (2) changes in the
funded status in the year in which the changes occur through other comprehensive income, a component of shareholders’ equity. For a pension plan, the benefit obligation is
the projected benefit obligation; for any other postretirement plan, the benefit obligation is the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. This statement also requires us
to measure the funded status of our plans as of the date of our year-end Consolidated Balance Sheet, December 31, which is consistent with our current measurement date.
SFAS 158 also provides additional disclosure requirements and guidance related to balance sheet
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classification. We do not expect this guidance to impact our Consolidated Statements of Income, nor do we expect it to impact our debt covenant compliance upon adoption. If
this guidance had been effective as of December 31, 2005, the impact on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at such date would have been a $95.2 million decrease in total
assets (including the impact to the long-term deferred tax asset), a $26.1 million increase to total liabilities and a $121.3 million decrease to shareholders’ equity. The impact
on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2006 is uncertain until we measure the funded status of our pension and other postretirement plans as of that date, but
could vary significantly from the impact as of December 31, 2005 depending on, among other things, changes in assumptions, such as discount rates and expected return on
plan assets, as well as the fair value of our plan assets.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) Topic 1N, “Financial Statements - Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”), which expresses the Staff’s views regarding the
process of quantifying financial statement misstatements due to the current diversity in practice. SAB 108 will require companies to use two approaches when quantifying
financial statement misstatements. We are required to adopt SAB 108 for the year ending December 31, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting SAB 108 on
our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) related to EITF Issue No. 06-04, “Accounting for Deferred
Compensation and Postretirement Benefit Aspects of Endorsement Split-Dollar Life Insurance Arrangements” (“EITF 06-04”), which requires the recognition of a liability
related to postretirement benefits covered by endorsement split-dollar life insurance arrangements since the employer has the obligation to provide the benefit to the employee.
We have endorsement split-dollar life insurance arrangements for certain officers of the Company. The liability is required to be recognized in accordance with SFAS
No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits, Other Than Pensions,” or Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 12, “Omnibus Opinion—1967,”
as appropriate. For transition purposes, we may adopt EITF 06-04 as a change in accounting principle through either (1) retrospective application to all periods presented or
(2) a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. We will be required to adopt EITF 06-04 on January 1, 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting EITF
06-04 on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the EITF related to EITF Issue No. 06-05, “Accounting for Purchases of Life Insurance—Determining
the Amount That Could Be Realized in Accordance with FASB Technical Bulletin No. 85-4, Accounting for Purchases of Life Insurance” (“EITF 06-05”), which requires
that a policyholder consider additional amounts included in the contractual terms of the policy in determining the amount that could be realized under the life insurance policy.
EITF 06-05 provides additional guidance for determining the amount to be realized, including the policy level for which the analysis should be performed, amounts excluded
and measurement criteria. For transition purposes, we may adopt EITF 06-05 as a change in accounting principle through either (1) retrospective application to all periods
presented or (2) a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. We will be required to adopt EITF 06-05 on January 1, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact of
adopting EITF 06-05 on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

2.      STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” (“SFAS No. 123R”), which replaced SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123”), and superseded APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB No. 25”). SFAS No. 123R requires that the
cost relating to share-based payment transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services from either employees or non-employees be
recognized in the financial statements as the goods are received or services are rendered. That cost is measured based on the fair
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value of the equity or liability instruments issued. We are no longer permitted to follow the intrinsic value accounting method of APB No. 25, which resulted in no expense
being recorded for stock option grants for which the exercise price was equal to the fair value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Prior to the adoption of SFAS
No. 123R, we recognized compensation expense for nonvested stock over the stated vesting period in accordance with APB No. 25.

SFAS No. 123R applies to all of our outstanding unvested share-based payment awards as of January 1, 2006 and all prospective awards. All of our stock-based awards,
which are stock options and nonvested stock, are classified as equity instruments. In accordance with SFAS No. 123R, we elected to use the modified prospective transition
method as opposed to the modified retrospective transition method. Under the modified prospective transition method, financial statements prior to adoption remain
unchanged. The following discusses several other elections we made as a result of adopting SFAS No. 123R:

·       For our pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 123, we used the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we compute the fair value
of options granted on or after January 1, 2006 using the binomial model. Additionally, based on the guidance in the SEC’s SAB No. 107, “Share-Based Payment”, we
changed our expected volatility assumption used in the binomial model. We will revisit all assumptions at each grant date. The fair value of stock options granted prior to
the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, calculated using the Black-Scholes model, remains unchanged.

·       Forfeitures under SFAS No. 123 were recognized when they occurred. SFAS No. 123R, however, requires forfeitures be estimated at the grant date. Accordingly,
compensation cost is recognized based on the number of awards expected to vest. There may be adjustments in future periods if actual forfeitures differ from our
estimates. For nonvested shares granted prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we recorded a cumulative catch-up adjustment in January 2006 related to estimated
forfeitures. This positive adjustment was not material to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Our forfeiture rate is based upon historical experience as well as
anticipated employee turnover considering certain qualitative factors.

·       Generally, our stock options are subject to graded vesting, while our nonvested shares are subject to cliff vesting. SFAS No. 123R permits entities to elect between the
accelerated recognition method or straight-line recognition method for recognizing compensation cost related to awards subject to graded vesting based on a service
condition. Consistent with our prior practice, we continue to apply the accelerated recognition method related to awards subject to graded vesting, which results in more
compensation cost early in the vesting period.

Our nonvested stock has accelerated vesting features upon retirement, while our stock options continue to vest over the same vesting schedule even though no additional
service is required by the employee after retirement. Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we began recognizing compensation cost related to new stock-based awards from
the grant date through the date the employee is eligible to receive the award without further service, such as when the employee becomes retirement eligible, which may be
shorter than the stated vesting period. For stock-based awards granted prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we recognized compensation cost over the stated vesting
period and recognized the impact, if any, upon retirement; this recognition policy will continue for any such awards that were unvested at the time of adoption.

Stock-Based Award Plans.

Stock Options.   Our shareholders have approved a stock option plan which provides that qualified and nonqualified stock options may be granted to officers and
employees. In addition, stock options remain outstanding under two plans from which no new grants may be made. Authorized stock option
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grants can only be made from shareholder approved plans. The plan requires that stock options be granted at exercise prices not less than market value on the date of grant.
Generally, stock options are subject to graded vesting for periods of up to three years based on service, with 25% vesting immediately upon grant, and expire ten years from
the grant date. The following table summarizes changes in outstanding stock options during the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as well as stock options that are



vested and expected to vest and stock options exercisable at September 30, 2006:

   

Weighted-
Average  

Weighted-
Average

Remaining  Aggregate  

 Shares  Exercise Price  Contractual Term  Intrinsic Value  

 (in thousands)   (in years)  (in millions)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 6,453 $ 22.68
Granted (all at market price) 764 $ 36.49
Exercised (990) $ 21.04
Forfeited and cancelled (36) $ 29.08
Outstanding at September 30, 2006 6,191 $ 24.62 6.0 $75.0
Vested and expected to vest at

September 30, 2006 6,064 $ 24.48 6.0 $74.3
Exercisable at September 30, 2006 5,079 $ 22.81 5.4 $70.6

 

The aggregate intrinsic value amounts in the table above represent the difference between the closing price of Equifax’s common stock on September 30, 2006 and the
exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money stock options as of the same date. This represents the amount that would have been received by the stock option
holders if they had all exercised their stock options on September 30, 2006. In future periods, this amount will change depending on fluctuations in Equifax’s stock price. The
total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $3.7 million and $15.6 million, respectively.

Nonvested Stock.   Our plan also provides for awards of nonvested shares of our common stock that can be granted to executive officers, employees and directors.
Nonvested stock awards are generally subject to cliff vesting over a period between three to five years based on service. The following table summarizes changes in our
nonvested stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and the related weighted-average grant date fair value:

  

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date  

 Shares  Fair Value  

 (in thousands)   

Nonvested at December 31, 2005 689 $ 28.74
Granted 244 $ 36.91
Vested (133) $ 27.94
Forfeited (14) $ 28.27
Nonvested at September 30, 2006 786 $ 31.41

 

The total fair value of nonvested stock that vested during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, was $0.7 million and $4.8 million, respectively, based on
the weighted-average fair value on the vesting date and $0.7 million and $3.7 million, respectively, based on the weighted-average fair value on the date of grant.
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We expect to issue new shares of common stock or common shares held by our employee benefits trust upon the exercise of stock options or once nonvested shares vest.
We have not changed our policies related to stock-based awards, such as the quantity or type of instruments issued, as a result of adopting SFAS No. 123R, nor have we
changed the terms of our stock-based awards. At September 30, 2006, there were 2.3 million shares available for future stock option grants and nonvested stock awards.

Measurement of Fair Value.

Stock Options.   We use the binomial model to calculate the fair value of stock options granted on or after January 1, 2006. The binomial model incorporates assumptions
regarding anticipated employee exercise behavior, expected stock price volatility, dividend yield and risk-free interest rate. Anticipated employee exercise behavior and
expected post-vesting cancellations over the contractual term used in the binomial model were primarily based on historical exercise patterns. These historical exercise
patterns indicated there was not significantly different exercise behavior between employee groups. For our expected stock price volatility assumption, we weighted historical
volatility and implied volatility. We used daily observations for historical volatility, while our implied volatility assumption was based on actively traded options related to our
common stock. The expected term is derived from the binomial model based on assumptions incorporated into the binomial model as described above.

The fair value for stock options granted during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, was estimated at the date of grant using the binomial
model and the Black-Scholes model, respectively, with the following weighted-average assumptions:

  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended  

  September 30,  September 30,  

     2006       2005       2006       2005    

Dividend yield 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%
Expected volatility 23.9% 31.4% 24.1% 31.4%
Risk-free interest rate 4.9% 3.7% 4.8% 3.7%
Expected term (in years) 4.4 4.5 4.4 4.5
Weighted-average fair value of stock

options granted $7.44 $ 10.78 $8.31 $9.81
 

Nonvested Stock.   The fair value of nonvested stock is based on the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. However, since our nonvested stock
does not pay dividends during the vesting period, the fair value on the date of grant is reduced by the present value of the expected dividends over the requisite service period
(discounted using the appropriate risk-free interest rate).

Financial Statement Impact.   Total stock-based compensation expense was $3.6 million and $2.1 million, for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, of which $3.3 million and $2.1 million, respectively, was included in selling, general and administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The
income tax benefit related to stock-based compensation expense was $1.2 million and $0.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Total stock-based compensation expense was $14.4 million and $5.9 million, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, of which $13.4
million and $5.9 million, respectively, was included in selling, general and administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The income tax benefit related
to stock-based compensation expense was $5.0 million and $2.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

For the three months ended September 30, 2006, the incremental negative impact of adopting SFAS No. 123R was $0.8 million, pretax, and $0.6 million, net of tax, with
less than $0.01 impact on basic and diluted EPS. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the incremental negative impact of adopting
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SFAS No. 123R was $6.6 million, pretax, and $4.5 million, net of tax, with a $0.04 and $0.03 impact on basic and diluted EPS, respectively. The incremental impact of SFAS
No. 123R during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 represents (1) the stock option expense related to stock options unvested at the time of adoption and
those granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2006, (2) the accelerated expense recognition for nonvested shares that were granted during the nine months ended
September 30, 2006, to employees that are retirement eligible prior to the expiration of the stated vesting period, and (3) the impact of estimating forfeitures related to
nonvested shares.

At September 30, 2006, our total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock and stock options was $12.5 million with a weighted-average recognition
period of 2.2 years and $3.8 million with a weighted-average recognition period of 1.1 years, respectively.

SFAS No. 123R requires that benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash
flow as required under prior accounting standards. This requirement reduced operating cash flows and increased financing cash flows by $3.5 million during the nine months
ended September 30, 2006.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-based compensation under APB No. 25 and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transitional Disclosure.” Accordingly, by our use of the intrinsic value method to account for stock-based employee
compensation, we did not recognize compensation cost in connection with our stock option plans during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005. If we had
elected to recognize compensation cost for our stock options granted during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 based on the grant date fair value as
prescribed by SFAS No. 123, net income and EPS would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated in the table below:

 

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2005  

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2005  

 (In millions, except per share amounts)  

Net income, as reported $62.5 $ 183.7
Add: Total stock-based employee compensation expense, net of related

tax effect, included in reported net income 1.3 3.7
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined

under fair value-based method for all awards, net of related tax
effects (3.0 ) (8.6 )

Pro forma net income $60.8 $ 178.8
Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported $0.48 $ 1.42
Basic—pro forma $0.47 $ 1.38
Diluted—as reported $0.47 $ 1.39
Diluted—pro forma $0.46 $ 1.35

 

3.   GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill.   Goodwill represents the cost in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired in a business combination. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”), goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis and on an interim basis if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. We perform our annual goodwill impairment tests as of September 30. Our
annual impairment tests as of September 30, 2006 resulted in no impairment of goodwill. Goodwill
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allocated to our reporting units at December 31, 2005 and changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 are as follows:

Information
Services  

Marketing
Services  

Personal
Solutions  

European
Operations  

Latin American
Operations  Corporate  Total

(In millions)
Balance, December 31, 2005 $ 232.8 $ 289.5 $1.8 $ 105.4 $ 155.8 $ 5.9 $ 791.2
Purchase price adjustment — (0.3) — — — — (0.3)
Foreign currency translation 2.1 — — 9.2 6.3 — 17.6
Balance, September 30, 2006 $ 234.9 $ 289.2 $1.8 $ 114.6 $ 162.1 $ 5.9 $ 808.5

 

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets.   Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of contractual/territorial rights representing the estimated fair value of rights to operate in
certain territories acquired through the purchase of independent credit reporting agencies in the U.S. and Canada. Our contractual/territorial rights are perpetual in nature and,
therefore, the useful lives are considered indefinite. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we are required to test indefinite-
lived intangible assets for impairment annually and whenever events or circumstances indicate that there may be an impairment of the asset value. We perform our annual
indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment test as of September 30. Our annual impairment test as of September 30, 2006 resulted in no impairment of our indefinite-lived
intangible assets.

Purchased Intangible Assets.   Purchased intangible assets represent the estimated fair value of acquired intangible assets used in our business. Purchased data files
represent the estimated fair value of files acquired primarily through the purchase of independent credit reporting agencies in the U.S. and Canada. We expense the cost of
modifying and updating credit files in the period such costs are incurred. We generally amortize purchased data files, which primarily consist of acquired credit files, over 15
years on a straight-line basis. Acquired software is amortized over a period of three to seven years and non-compete agreements are amortized over a period of two to three
years. All of our purchased intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis. Purchased intangible assets at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 consist of the
following:

 September 30, 2006  December 31, 2005
 Gross  

Accumulated
Amortization  Net  Gross  

Accumulated
Amortization  Net

 (In millions)
Definite-lived intangible assets:
Purchased data files $ 394.8 $ (187.3) $ 207.5 $ 398.9 $ (176.2) $ 222.7
Acquired software 38.6 (14.7) 23.9 38.7 (12.0) 26.7
Non-compete agreements 5.5 (4.3 ) 1.2 11.9 (9.2 ) 2.7
Customer relationships 11.4 (1.7 ) 9.7 11.4 (0.7 ) 10.7
Purchased trademarks 0.8 (0.4 ) 0.4 0.8 (0.2 ) 0.6

Total definite-lived intangible assets $ 451.1 $ (208.4) $ 242.7 $ 461.7 $ (198.3) $ 263.4
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Amortization expense related to purchased intangible assets was $7.5 million and $9.1 million during the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Amortization expense related to purchased intangible assets was $23.5 million and $22.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Estimated future amortization expense related to definite-lived purchased intangible assets at September 30, 2006 is as follows:

Years ending December 31,   Amount
  (In millions)

Three months ending December 31, 2006 $ 7.5
2007 29.3
2008 28.4
2009 27.7
2010 27.5
Thereafter 122.3

$ 242.7
 

4.   DEBT 

Debt outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 was as follows:

 

September 30,
2006  

December 31,
2005  

 (In millions)  

Notes, 4.95%, due November 2007 $ 250.0 $ 250.0
Debentures, 6.9%, due July 2028 150.0 150.0
Trade receivables-backed revolving credit facility 90.0 88.0
Borrowings under long-term revolving credit facilities 18.0 65.0
Other 1.8 4.4

Total debt 509.8 557.4
Less short-term debt and current maturities (91.7) (92.3)
Less unamortized discounts (1.2 ) (1.3 )

Total long-term debt $ 416.9 $ 463.8
 

Long-Term Revolving Credit Facility.   On July 24, 2006, we amended and restated our existing five-year, $500.0 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility with
SunTrust Bank, as Joint Lead and Administrative Agent, Banc of America Securities, LLC, as Joint Lead and Syndication Agent, and a number of other financial institutions.
SunTrust Bank and Bank of America, N.A., of which Banc of America Securities, LLC is a subsidiary, are both considered related parties in accordance with SFAS No. 57,
“Related Party Disclosures,” since members of our Board of Directors have affiliations with these companies. Under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the
“Amended Credit Agreement”), SunTrust Bank and Banc of America Securities, LLC have each committed $75.0 million. We believe that the terms of this transaction are at
current market rates and would not have been any different had it been negotiated with an independent third party. For additional information about these related parties, see
Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2005 Form 10-K.

Under the Amended Credit Agreement, among other provisions, the term was extended from August 20, 2009 to July 24, 2011; the applicable margin for borrowings and
the annual facility fee were lowered; the maximum leverage ratio (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) was increased from 3.0 to 1 to 3.50 to 1; and a minimum
interest coverage ratio was deleted. The Amended Credit Agreement may be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes.
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The Amended Credit Agreement also includes an “accordion” feature that will allow us to request an increase of up to $500.0 million in the maximum borrowing
commitment, which cannot exceed $1.0 billion. Each member of the lending group may elect to participate or not participate in any request we make to increase the maximum
borrowing commitment. In addition, any increase in the borrowing commitment pursuant to this accordion feature is subject to certain terms and conditions, including the
absence of an event of default. The increased borrowing commitment may be used for general corporate purposes.

At September 30, 2006, interest was payable on borrowings under the existing credit facility at the base rate or London Interbank Offered Rate plus a specified margin or
competitive bid option as selected by us from time to time. The annual facility fee and interest rate are subject to adjustment based on our debt ratings. As of September 30,
2006, $482.0 million was available for borrowings and there were outstanding borrowings of $18.0 million under this facility.

While the underlying final maturity date of this facility is July 2011, it is structured to provide borrowings under short-term loans. Accordingly, the borrowings and
repayments under this facility are presented on a net basis in net (repayments) borrowings under long-term revolving credit facilities under financing activities on our
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows since the borrowings under these short-term loans have a contractual maturity of thirty days.

Trade Receivables-Backed Revolving Credit Facility.   We are party to a trade receivables-backed, revolving credit facility under which a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Equifax may borrow up to $125.0 million, subject to borrowing base availability and other terms and conditions, for general corporate purposes. The amended credit facility
was scheduled to expire on September 5, 2006, with the option to extend the term for an additional period of up to two years if specified conditions are satisfied. During the
third quarter of 2006, we extended this facility through November 30, 2006 and continue to have the ability to extend the term beyond that date as discussed above.
Outstanding debt under the facility is consolidated on our Balance Sheet for financial reporting purposes. Based on the calculation of the borrowing base applicable at
September 30, 2006, $8.7 million was available for borrowing and $90.0 million was outstanding under this facility, which is included in short-term debt and current
maturities on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Canadian Credit Facility.   We are a party to a credit agreement with a Canadian financial institution that provides for a C$25.0 million (denominated in Canadian
dollars), 364-day revolving credit agreement which was scheduled to expire on September 30, 2006. During the third quarter of 2006, however, we renewed this facility
through September 30, 2007. During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, there was no activity under this facility. At September 30, 2006, there were no outstanding
borrowings under this facility.

5.   COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Headquarters Lease.   Other than facility leasing arrangements, we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing activities. We have entered into a synthetic lease on our
Atlanta corporate headquarters building in order to provide us with favorable financing terms with regard to this facility. This $29.0 million lease was entered into in 1998 and
expires in 2010. Total lease payments for the remaining term total $6.4 million. Under this synthetic lease arrangement, we have also guaranteed the residual value of the
leased property to the lessor. In the event that the property were to be sold by the lessor at the end of the lease term, we would be responsible for any shortfall of the sales
proceeds, up to a maximum amount of $23.2 million, which equals 80% of the value of the property at the beginning of the lease term. The liability for this shortfall, which
was $1.4 million and $4.0 million at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively, is recorded in other long-term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Data Processing and Outsourcing Services Agreements.   We have separate agreements with International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM”), R.L. Polk and Co.,



Acxiom Corporation and others with which we outsource portions of our computer data processing operations and related functions,
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and certain administrative functions. The agreements expire between 2006 and 2013. The estimated aggregate minimal contractual obligation remaining under these
agreements is approximately $350 million as of December 31, 2005, with no future year expected to exceed approximately $70 million. Annual payment obligations in regards
to these agreements vary due to factors such as the volume of data processed, changes in our servicing needs as a result of new product offerings, acquisitions or divestitures,
the introduction of significant new technologies, foreign currency or the general rate of inflation. Our data processing outsourcing agreement with IBM was renegotiated in
2003 for a ten-year term. Under this agreement (which covers our operations in North America, the U.K., Ireland, Spain, Brazil and Chile), we have outsourced our mainframe
and midrange operations, help desk service and desktop support functions and the operation of our voice and data networks. The scope of such services varies by location.
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we paid $120.8 million, $110.5 million and $100.3 million, respectively, for these services. The
estimated future minimum contractual obligation at December 31, 2005 under this agreement is $312.0 million, with no year expected to exceed $48.5 million. In certain
circumstances (e.g., a change in control, or for our convenience), we may terminate these data processing and outsourcing agreements, and in doing so, certain of these
agreements require us to pay a significant penalty. Additionally, we may terminate these agreements without penalty in the event that IBM is in material breach of the terms of
the agreement.

Agreement with Computer Sciences Corporation.   We have an agreement with Computer Sciences Corporation and certain of its affiliates, collectively CSC, under
which CSC-owned credit reporting agencies utilize our computerized credit database services. CSC retains ownership of its credit files and the revenues generated by its
credit reporting activity. We receive a processing fee for maintaining the database and for each report supplied. The agreement expires July 31, 2008. The agreement provides
us with an option to purchase CSC’s credit reporting business if CSC does not elect to renew the agreement or if there is a change in control of CSC while the agreement is in
effect. Under the agreement, CSC also has an option, exercisable at any time, to sell its credit reporting business to us. The option expires in 2013. The option exercise price
will be determined by agreement or by a third-party appraisal process and would be due in cash within 180 days after the exercise of the option. We estimate that if the option
would have been exercised at December 31, 2005, the price range would approximate $650 million to $700 million. This estimate is based solely on our internal analysis of
the value of the business, current market conditions and other factors, all of which are subject to constant change. Therefore, the actual option exercise price could be
materially higher or lower than the estimated amount.

Guarantees.   We will from time to time issue standby letters of credit, performance bonds or other guarantees in the normal course of business. The aggregate notional
amount of all performance bonds and standby letters of credit is not material at September 30, 2006. Guarantees are issued from time to time to support the needs of operating
units. We also guarantee the operating lease payments of a lease between third parties. The operating lease, which expires December 31, 2011, has a remaining balance of
$7.0 million based on the undiscounted value of remaining lease payments, including real estate taxes, at September 30, 2006. We believe that the likelihood of demand for
payment by us is minimal and expect no material losses to occur related to this guarantee. Accordingly, we do not have a liability on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at
September 30, 2006 or December 31, 2005 related to this guarantee.

General Indemnifications.   We are the lessee under many real estate leases. It is common in these commercial lease transactions for us, as the lessee, to agree to
indemnify the lessor and other related third parties for tort, environmental and other liabilities that arise out of or relate to our use or occupancy of the leased premises. This
type of indemnity would typically make us responsible to indemnified parties for liabilities arising out of the conduct of, among others, contractors, licensees and invitees at or
in connection with the use or occupancy of the leased premises. This indemnity often extends to related liabilities arising from the negligence of the indemnified parties, but
usually excludes any liabilities caused by either their sole or gross negligence and their willful misconduct.
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Certain of our credit agreements include provisions which require us to make payments to preserve an expected economic return to the lenders if that economic return is
diminished due to certain changes in law or regulations. In certain of these credit agreements, we also bear the risk of certain changes in tax laws that would subject payments
to non-U.S. lenders to withholding taxes.

In conjunction with certain transactions, such as sales or purchases of operating assets or services in the ordinary course of business, or the disposition of certain assets or
businesses, we sometimes provide routine indemnifications, the terms of which range in duration and sometimes are not limited.

We cannot reasonably estimate our potential future payments under the indemnities and related provisions described above because we cannot predict when and under
what circumstances these provisions may be triggered. We have no accrual related to indemnifications on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2006 and
December 31, 2005.

Contingencies.   We are involved in legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We periodically assess our exposure related to
these matters based on the information which is available. In accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” we have recorded accruals in our Consolidated
Financial Statements for those matters in which it is probable that we have incurred a loss and the amount of the loss, or range of loss, can be reasonably estimated. During the
second quarter of 2006, we recorded a $14.0 million loss contingency ($8.7 million, net of tax) related to certain legal matters. Of this $14.0 million, pretax, loss, $11.5
million was recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses and $2.5 million was recognized in cost of services on our Consolidated Statements of Income. During
the third quarter of 2006, there were favorable court rulings that reduced our exposure related to these litigation matters resulting in a reversal of a portion of the loss
contingency. We reversed $9.0 million, pretax, ($5.6 million, net of tax) of the loss contingency during the third quarter of 2006, of which $7.5 million was reversed to selling,
general and administrative expenses and $1.5 million was reversed to cost of services on our Consolidated Statements of Income. The $14.0 million, pretax, loss during the
second quarter of 2006 and the $9.0 million, pretax, subsequent reversal of a portion of this loss in the third quarter of 2006 are included within our Personal Solutions
segment financial results. The loss contingency accrual related to these litigation matters totaled $5.0 million as of September 30, 2006 and is included in other current
liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

During the third quarter of 2006, we also recorded a $4.0 million, pretax, loss contingency ($2.5 million, net of tax) associated with certain litigation matters within our
North America Information Services segment. Of this $4.0 million, pretax, loss, $3.5 million was recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses and $0.5 million
was recognized in cost of services on our Consolidated Statements of Income.

For other legal proceedings, claims and litigation, we have recorded loss contingencies that are immaterial, or we cannot reasonably estimate the potential loss because of
uncertainties about the outcome of the matter and the amount of the loss or range of loss. We also accrue for unpaid legal fees for services performed to date. Although the
final outcome of these other matters cannot be predicted with certainty, any possible adverse outcome arising from these matters is not expected to have a material impact on
our Consolidated Financial Statements, either individually or in the aggregate. However, our evaluation of the likely impact of these matters may change in the future.

In June 2006, we consummated a $15.2 million cash settlement with certain former shareholder sellers of Naviant, Inc. In 2004, we served a demand for arbitration
alleging, among other things, that the sellers had breached various representations and warranties concerning information furnished to us in connection with our acquisition of
Naviant, Inc. in 2002. As a result of this settlement, we recognized a $14.1 million non-taxable gain in other income, net on our Consolidated Statement of Income for the
nine months ended September 30, 2006. Additionally, the $15.2 million cash settlement was recorded in cash provided by operating activities on our Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.
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Tax Matters.   In 2003, the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) issued Notices of Reassessment asserting that Acrofax, Inc., a wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary of
Equifax, is liable for additional tax for the 1995 through 2000 tax years, related to certain intercompany capital contributions and loans. The additional tax sought by the CRA
for these periods ranges, based on alternative theories, from $7.7 million ($8.5 million Canadian dollars) to $17.1 million ($19.0 million Canadian dollars), plus interest and
penalties. Acrofax has filed Notices of Objection in response to the Notices of Reassessment. On September 2, 2003, we made a statutorily-required deposit of $6.1 million
($6.8 million Canadian dollars) against the CRA’s primary assessment theory, which is recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 2006. We intend to
vigorously contest these reassessments and do not believe we have violated any statutory provision or rule. If the final outcome of this matter was unfavorable to us, an
additional claim may be filed by the local province; the likelihood and potential amount of such claim is unknown at this time. We cannot predict when this tax matter will be
resolved.

6.      INCOME TAXES 

Effective Tax Rate.   The income tax provisions for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were based on the estimated effective tax rates
applicable for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, after considering items specifically related to the interim periods.

Our effective income tax rate was 29.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2006, down from 39.0% for the same period in 2005, due primarily to the reversal of
$9.5 million in income tax reserves related to uncertain tax positions for which the applicable statute of limitations expired in the third quarter of 2006.

Our effective income tax rate was 32.9% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 down from 37.7% for the same period in 2005. The reduction was due primarily
to the reversal of $9.5 million in income tax reserves related to uncertain tax positions for which the applicable statute of limitations expired in the third quarter of 2006 and
the non-taxable gain on the litigation settlement related to Naviant, Inc., during the second quarter of 2006 (as discussed in Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements).

The provision for income taxes is reconciled with the federal statutory rate, as follows:

 Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
 September 30,  September 30,
    2006       2005       2006       2005   
 (Dollars in millions)

Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Provision computed at federal statutory rate $39.3 $35.9 $ 110.3 $ 103.2
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit 1.6 2.2 3.0 5.0
Foreign 1.1 0.6 2.8 1.0
Valuation allowance (0.3 ) 0.3 (0.3 ) 0.3
Tax reserves* (8.9 ) (0.2 ) (8.3 ) 0.1
Impact of litigation settlement — — (5.4 ) —
Other 0.5 1.2 1.7 1.5
Provision for income taxes $33.3 $40.0 $ 103.8 $ 111.1
Effective income tax rate 29.7% 39.0% 32.9% 37.7%

*                     Includes the reversal of $9.5 million in income tax reserves related to uncertain tax positions for which the statutue of limitations expired during the third quarter of 2006.
The reversal impacts the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006.

20

7.      BENEFIT PLANS 

We have defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution plans. Substantially all U.S., Canadian and U.K. employees participate in one or more of these plans. We
also maintain certain health care and life insurance benefit plans for eligible retired employees. The measurement date for our defined benefit pension plans and other
postretirement benefit plans is December 31 of each year.

The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit cost for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005:

 Three Months Ended September 30,  

 Pension Benefits  Other Benefits  

 2006  2005  2006  2005  

 (In millions)  

Service cost $ 2.7 $ 2.0 $ 0.1 $ 0.1
Interest cost 8.0 7.9 0.4 0.4
Expected return on plan assets (10.3) (10.1) (0.3 ) (0.3 )
Amortization of prior service cost 0.3 1.2 0.2 0.2
Recognized actuarial loss 2.6 2.1 — —
Special termination benefits 0.5 — — —
Total net periodic benefit cost $ 3.8 $ 3.1 $ 0.4 $ 0.4

 

The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit cost for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005:

 Nine Months Ended September 30,  

 Pension Benefits  Other Benefits  

 2006  2005  2006  2005  

 (In millions)  

Service cost $ 7.5 $ 5.9 $ 0.3 $ 0.3
Interest cost 24.0 23.7 1.2 1.2
Expected return on plan assets (30.8) (30.3) (0.9 ) (0.9 )
Amortization of prior service cost 0.6 3.4 0.4 0.6
Recognized actuarial loss 7.6 6.3 0.1 —
Special termination benefits 0.5 — — —
Total net periodic benefit cost

$ 9.4 $ 9.0 $ 1.1 $ 1.2
 

At December 31, 2005, the U.S. Retirement Income Plan (“USRIP”) and the Equifax Inc. Pension Plan (“EIPP”) met or exceeded ERISA’s minimum funding
requirements. In January 2006, however, we made a discretionary contribution of $20.0 million to the EIPP. During the third quarter of 2006, we made an additional
discretionary contribution of $2.0 million to fund our other postretirement benefit plans.



8.      SEGMENT INFORMATION 

We manage our business and report our financial results through the following three reportable segments:

·       North America

·       Europe

·       Latin America
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The North America reportable segment consists of three operating segments, which we have aggregated in determining our reportable segments:

·       Information Services

·       Marketing Services

·       Personal Solutions

The Europe and Latin America reportable segments include similar product lines.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in our summary of significant accounting policies (see Note 1 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2005 Form 10-K). We evaluate the performance of these reportable segments based on their operating revenues, operating income
and operating margins, excluding any unusual or infrequent items, if any. Inter-segment sales and transfers are not material for all periods presented. The measurement criteria
for segment profit or loss and segment assets are substantially the same for each reportable segment. All transactions between segments are accounted for at cost, and no
timing differences occur between segments.

A summary of segment products and services is as follows:

North America.   Information Services, which includes consumer and commercial services (such as credit information and credit scoring, credit modeling services,
locate services, fraud detection and prevention services, mortgage loan origination information services, identity verification services and other consulting services);
Marketing Services, which includes credit card marketing services and consumer demographic and lifestyle information services; and Personal Solutions, which includes
credit monitoring and identity theft protection products sold directly to individuals.

Europe.   Information Services, which includes consumer and commercial services (such as credit and financial information, credit scoring and credit modeling
services), Credit Marketing Services and Personal Solutions.

Latin America.   Information Services, which includes consumer and commercial services (such as credit and financial information, credit scoring and credit modeling
services), Credit Marketing Services and Personal Solutions.
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Operating revenue and operating income by segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:
 Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended  

 September 30,  September 30,  

Operating revenue      2006       2005    2006  2005  

 (In millions)  

North America
Information Services $ 212.9 $ 211.2 $ 631.9 $ 609.5
Marketing Services 68.7 65.6 203.6 187.2
Personal Solutions 32.5 28.8 94.3 87.9

Total North America 314.1 305.6 929.8 884.6
Europe 39.8 35.1 112.3 106.8
Latin America 40.7 34.6 114.2 90.7

Total operating revenue $ 394.6 $ 375.3 $ 1,156.3 $ 1,082.1
 

Operating income    2006 2005 2006 2005  

  (In millions)  

North America
Information Services $ 84.0 $ 91.2 $ 261.5 $ 263.6
Marketing Services 24.5 22.7 69.4 60.9
Personal Solutions 15.6 2.5 5.2 9.8

Total North America 124.1 116.4 336.1 334.3
Europe 8.6 8.7 26.9 24.4
Latin America 12.5 10.0 32.9 24.4
General Corporate Expense (24.6) (27.8) (69.7) (67.1)

Total operating income $ 120.6 $ 107.3 $ 326.2 $ 316.0
 

Total assets at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 are as follows:

 September 30,  December 31,  

Total assets  2006  2005  

 (In millions)  

North America $ 1,221.8 $ 1,207.0
Europe 179.8 162.8
Latin America 252.8 239.4
General Corporate 239.7 222.3

Total assets $ 1,894.1 $ 1,831.5
 

9.      SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

On October 6, 2006, we acquired Austin Consolidated Holdings, Inc., known as Austin-Tetra, for $34.4 million in cash. Austin-Tetra is a provider of business-to-
business data management and enhancement services to the commercial market. They provide companies and government agencies with information to help them better



understand existing customers, target new customers, and effectively manage their vendors. This acquisition is part of our long-term growth strategy, complementing our
commercial information business. We financed this acquisition through borrowings under our long-term revolving credit facility.
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ITEM 2.                 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL  CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

As used herein, the terms “Equifax,” “the Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Equifax Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries as a combined
entity, except where it is clear that the terms mean only Equifax Inc.

The following discussion of our financial condition, results of operations should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005 (“2005 Form 10-K”) and our unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes in Part I, Item 1—”Financial Statements,” above.

All references to earnings per share data in this MD&A are to diluted earnings per share unless otherwise noted.

OVERVIEW 

Our business plan is focused on providing a comprehensive information database, analytical resources to transform information into value-add insight for our customers
and technology platforms that deliver highly customized decisioning tools that enable our customers to make decisions about their customers in “real time” at the point of
interaction. Our products and services include consumer credit information, information database management, marketing information, commercial credit information,
decisioning and analytical tools and identity verification services which enable businesses to make informed decisions about extending credit or service, managing portfolio
risk and developing strategies for marketing to consumers and businesses. We also enable consumers to manage and protect their financial affairs through a portfolio of
products that we sell directly and indirectly via the Internet and other marketing channels of distribution.

Information.   We collect, organize and manage numerous types of credit, financial, public record, demographic and marketing information regarding individuals and
businesses. This information originates from a variety of sources including financial or credit granting institutions, which provide loan and accounts receivable information;
governmental entities, which provide public records of bankruptcies, liens and judgments; and consumers who participate in surveys and submit warranty registration cards
from which we gather demographic and marketing information. Our proprietary databases contain information on more than 400 million consumers and businesses
worldwide. The original data is compiled and processed utilizing our proprietary software and systems and distributed to customers in a variety of user-friendly and value-add
formats.

Analytics and Insights.   We have developed analytical tools for customers to use in their consumer and commercial oriented decisioning activities. These decisioning
activities include numerous types of consumer interactions including customer acquisition, relationship management (e.g., up-selling and cross-selling) and risk management.

Enabling Technologies.   Our enabling technologies include products such as ePort, APPLY, Decision Power, ID Authentication, Accel CM, Accel DM and
InterConnect. These platforms are generally distributed using the application service provider model to allow for ease of integration into customers’ in-house technology
systems and to leverage our extensive technological systems and communication networks.

Segments.   We are organized and report our business results in three reportable segments: North America, Europe and Latin America. The North America segment
consists of three operating segments: Information Services, Marketing Services and Personal Solutions. The Europe and Latin America reportable segments are made up of
varying mixes of three product lines: Information Services, Marketing Services and Personal Solutions. Information Services revenue is principally transaction-related and is
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derived from our sales of the following products, a significant majority of which are delivered electronically: credit reporting and scoring, mortgage reporting, identity
verification, fraud detection and modeling services, and certain of our decisioning products that facilitate and automate a variety of credit-oriented decisions. Marketing
Services revenue is derived from sales of products that help customers acquire new customers, cross-sell to existing customers and manage portfolio risk. Personal Solutions
revenue is both transaction and subscription based, and is derived from sales of credit monitoring and identity theft protection products, which we deliver to consumers
through the mail and electronically via the Internet. For additional information regarding our reportable and operating segments, including detailed financial results, see Note
8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q as well as further discussion within MD&A.

We operate in 13 countries: North America (the U.S., Canada and Costa Rica), Europe (the United Kingdom, Ireland, Spain and Portugal) and Latin America (Brazil,
Argentina, Chile, El Salvador, Peru and Uruguay). We serve customers across a wide range of industries, including the financial services, retail, telecommunications, utilities,
automotive, brokerage, healthcare and insurance industries, as well as state and federal governments. Our revenue stream is highly diversified with our largest customer only
providing slightly more than 2% of total operating revenue. Our revenues are sensitive to a variety of factors, such as demand for, and price of, our services, technological
competitiveness, our reputation for providing timely and reliable service, competition within our industry, federal, state and foreign regulatory requirements governing privacy
and use of data and general economic conditions.

Growth Strategy.   During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, we analyzed our business to develop our growth strategy through 2010. Based on this analysis of
our business, our growth strategy includes the following:

·       leveraging our core competencies in consumer and commercial credit and marketing information through new product innovation, organic and inorganic growth of our
commercial information business, entering new vertical markets and creating new industry data portals, and providing real estate settlement services through a joint
venture;

·       increasing our customers’ use of our proprietary analytical, predictive and enabling technologies to help them make quicker, better informed business decisions;

·       diversifying beyond our current business through disciplined acquisitions in complementary credit and non-credit data businesses and technology solutions, including
potential new customers in sectors such as healthcare and collections; and

·       expanding into new geographic markets, with a long-term focus on potential new markets in certain foreign countries.

Some of the specific initiatives required to execute this strategy may result in an increase in capital expenditures or cash investment in future periods. See the Liquidity
and Financial Condition section within MD&A for information regarding sources of cash, as well as additional uses.
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Key Performance Indicators.   Management focuses on a variety of key indicators to monitor operating and financial performance. These performance indicators include
measurements of operating revenue, operating revenue growth, operating income, operating margin, net income, diluted earnings per share, cash provided by operating
activities and capital expenditures. The key performance indicators for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, were as follows:



  Key Performance Indicators
  

Three Months Ended
September 30,  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

      2006         2005     2006  2005
  (Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Operating revenue $ 394.6 $ 375.3 $ 1,156.3 $ 1,082.1
Operating revenue growth 5% 17% 7% 14%
Operating income $ 120.6 $ 107.3 $ 326.2 $ 316.0
Operating margin 30.6% 28.6% 28.2% 29.2%
Net income $ 78.9 $ 62.5 $ 211.4 $ 183.7
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.61 $ 0.47 $ 1.62 $ 1.39
Cash provided by operating activities $ 99.4 $ 105.4 $ 255.4 $ 237.7
Capital expenditures $ 7.6 $ 11.2 $ 34.1 $ 33.3

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS—THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006 AND 2005 

Consolidated Financial Results 

Net income for the three months ended September 30, 2006, was $78.9 million, compared to $62.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005. Earnings per
share increased to $0.61 for the three months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to $0.47 for the same period a year ago.

Operating Revenue

Consolidated operating revenue increased $19.3 million, or 5%, to $394.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to $375.3 million during
the same period in 2005. This increase is primarily due to growth in Personal Solutions, Europe and Latin America and favorable foreign currency impact of $5.3 million,
partially offset by a decline in Mortgage Solutions. The revenue growth of 5% for the third quarter of 2006 is in comparison to a strong third quarter in 2005, when revenue
grew 17% over the same period in 2004.

Operating Expenses and Operating Margin

Consolidated operating expenses increased $6.0 million, or 2%, to $274.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to $268.0 million in the
same period in 2005. Cost of services in the third quarter of 2006 increased $4.9 million, or 3%, to $157.9 million when compared to the third quarter of 2005, primarily due
to operating revenue growth and increased salary expenses due to increased headcount, partially offset by a $1.0 million net reversal of loss contingencies related to certain
pending legal matters during the third quarter of 2006.

Selling, general and administrative expenses in the third quarter of 2006 increased $1.2 million, or 1%, to $95.7 million when compared to the same period a year ago,
mainly due to higher salary expenses from increased headcount; an increase in tax and legal expenses; $1.9 million in additional benefit costs associated with the former Chief
Financial Officer’s (“CFO”) decision in the third quarter of 2006 to retire early; and $0.8 million due to incremental negative impact of adopting Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123R”) on January 1, 2006. These increases were partially offset by a $4.0 million net
reversal of loss contingencies related to certain legal matters and the higher salary and incentive costs in the third quarter of 2005 related to our Chief Executive
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Officer (“CEO”) transition during that period. For additional information about the impact of SFAS No. 123R, see further discussion within MD&A and Note 2 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Consolidated operating income increased $13.3 million, or 12%, to $120.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to $107.3 million in the
same period in 2005. Consolidated operating margin for the three months ended September 30, 2006, was 30.6% as compared to 28.6% for the same period in 2005. The
increases in our operating income and operating margins for the three months ended September 30, 2006, are due to the fluctuations in operating revenue and expenses
discussed above, which includes the impact of the loss contingencies. For additional information about the activity related to the loss contingencies, including the reversal, see
Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Other Income, net

Consolidated other income, net, decreased $4.3 million to $0.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to $4.8 million in the same period in
2005. This decrease is primarily due to the $3.3 million gain recognized during the third quarter of 2005 related to an agreement with RMA Holdings, LLC, which was
amended to, among other things, reduce the scope of services we were obligated to provide.

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 29.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2006, down from 39.0% for the same period in 2005, due primarily to the reversal of
$9.5 million in income tax reserves related to uncertain tax positions for which the applicable statute of limitations expired in the third quarter of 2006. For additional
information about our effective tax rate, see Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Segment Financial Results 

Our consolidated segment results for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

 Three Months Ended September 30,  

Operating Revenue 2006 % of Revenue 2005 % of Revenue $ Change  % Change  

 (Dollars in millions)  

North America
Information Services $ 212.9 54% $ 211.2 56% $ 1.7 1%
Marketing Services 68.7 18% 65.6 18% 3.1 5%
Personal Solutions 32.5 8% 28.8 8% 3.7 13%

Total North America 314.1 80% 305.6 82% 8.5 3%
Europe 39.8 10% 35.1 9% 4.7 13%
Latin America 40.7 10% 34.6 9% 6.1 18%

Total operating revenue $ 394.6 100% $ 375.3 100% $19.3 5%
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 Three Months Ended September 30,

Operating Income  2006 Profit Margin 2005 Profit Margin $ Change % Change
 (Dollars in millions)

North America
Information Services $ 84.0 39% $ 91.2 43% $ (7.2) (8%)
Marketing Services 24.5 36% 22.7 35% 1.8 8%
Personal Solutions 15.6 48% 2.5 9% 13.1 523%

Total North America 124.1 40% 116.4 38% 7.7 7%
Europe 8.6 22% 8.7 25% (0.1) 0%
Latin America 12.5 31% 10.0 29% 2.5 25%
General Corporate Expense (24.6) nm (27.8) nm 3.2 11%

Total operating income $ 120.6 31% $ 107.3 29% $13.3 12%

nm—not     meaningful

Our North America operating revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was as follows:

 Three Months Ended September 30,
North America Operating Revenue  2006 % of Revenue 2005 % of Revenue $ Change % Change

 (Dollars in millions)
U.S. Consumer and Commercial

Services $ 165.3 53% $ 160.2 53% $ 5.1 3%
Mortgage Solutions 17.3 5% 22.8 7% (5.5) (24%)
Canadian Operations 30.3 10% 28.2 9% 2.1 7%

Total North America Information Services 212.9 68% 211.2 69% 1.7 1%
Credit Marketing Services 41.6 13% 39.9 14% 1.7 4%
Direct Marketing Services 27.1 9% 25.7 8% 1.4 5%

Total Marketing Services 68.7 22% 65.6 22% 3.1 5%
Personal Solutions 32.5 10% 28.8 9% 3.7 13%

Total North America operating revenue $ 314.1 100% $ 305.6 100% $ 8.5 3%
 

North America 

Information Services

For the three months ended September 30, 2006, Information Services revenue was $212.9 million, an increase of $1.7 million, or 1%, when compared to the same period
in 2005. Fluctuations in the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted Information Services revenue by $2.1 million. The revenue growth for the third quarter
of 2006, is in comparison to a strong third quarter of 2005, when revenue grew 19% over the same period in 2004. We continue to see some softening in the U.S. economy
which is impacting a number of our customers and could impact future revenue growth.

U.S. Consumer and Commercial Services revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $165.3 million, an increase of $5.1 million, or 3%, when
compared to the same period in 2005. This increase is primarily due to higher sales related to our financial services customers’ volume growth and increased revenue from our
commercial information services products, which offset some decline in telecommunication accounts due to decreases in volume and pricing. In our U.S. Consumer
Information business, on-line volume was approximately 170 million transactions, up 3% in the third quarter of 2006 as compared to the same period in 2005.
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Mortgage Solutions revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $17.3 million, a decrease of $5.5 million, or 24%, as compared to the same period a
year ago. This decrease is primarily due to less favorable mortgage market conditions, including higher interest rates that resulted in lower refinancing and mortgage
origination activity, as well as volume declines from a large customer that changed its retail mortgage business model.

Canadian revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $30.3 million, an increase of $2.1 million, or 7%, when compared to the same period in 2005.
This increase is due to favorable currency impact. Local currency fluctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted our Canadian revenue by $2.1 million, or 7%.
Accordingly, in local currency, revenue in Canada for the third quarter of 2006 was relatively flat when compared to the same period in 2005.

Information Services operating income was $84.0 million, which was down 8% when compared to the same period a year ago. Information Services operating margin
was 39% for the three months ended September 30, 2006, versus 43% for the same period in 2005. The decline in Information Services operating income and operating margin
was primarily driven by changes in the business mix, increased taxes and legal expenses, as well as the $4.0 million, pretax, loss contingency related to certain pending legal
matters recorded during the third quarter of 2006. The loss contingency decreased Information Services operating income by 4%.

Marketing Services

Marketing Services revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $68.7 million, an increase of $3.1 million, or 5%, when compared to the same period
in 2005. Credit Marketing Services revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $41.6 million, an increase of $1.7 million, or 4%, when compared to the
same period in 2005. The increase in Credit Marketing Services revenue is primarily due to higher volume mainly from our account management product offerings, as well as
continued demand for core prescreen products and data sales. Since the second quarter of 2006, we are beginning to see a shift from account acquisition activity to account
management activity. Direct Marketing Services revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $27.1 million, an increase of $1.4 million, or 5%, as
compared to the same period in 2005. This increase is primarily due to the acquisition of BeNow Inc. on August 29, 2005.

Total Marketing Services operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2006, was $24.5 million, an increase of $1.8 million, or 8%, resulting mainly from
revenue growth and lower production expenses as more projects migrate to our Accel platform.

Personal Solutions

Personal Solutions revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $32.5 million, an increase of $3.7 million, or 13%, compared to the same period in
2005. This increase is primarily due to higher revenue related to subscription-based products, driven by our 3-in-1 Monitoring product, as well as a favorable impact due to
third party data breach activity. Increases in subscription-based product volume was partially offset by declines in transaction-based product volume. Operating income for the
three months ended September 30, 2006, increased $13.1 million, to $15.6 million compared to $2.5 million for the same period in 2005. This increase is primarily due to the
$9.0 favorable impact associated with the reversal of a loss contingency during the third quarter of 2006 due to favorable court rulings during the quarter, as well as a decrease
in advertising and promotional costs as we eliminated less effective advertising channels and focused on online advertising. Of the $9.0 million reversal of loss contingencies,
$7.5 million was recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses and $1.5 million was recorded in cost of services on our Consolidated Statement of Income during
the three months ended September 30, 2006.
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Europe 

Europe revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006, was $39.8 million, an increase of $4.7 million, or 13%, over the same period in 2005, primarily due to
higher consumer activity associated with new business and increased volumes from existing customers, as well as increased volumes related to our commercial services
business. Local currency fluctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted our European revenue by $1.9 million, or 5%, as revenue was up 8% in local currency.
Operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $8.6 million, relatively flat when compared to the same period a year ago. Europe’s operating
margin was 22% for the three months ended September 30, 2006, versus 25% for the same period in 2005. The decline in operating margin was primarily driven by an
increased investment in the business and lower general and administrative expenses in 2005, as compared to 2006.

Latin America 

Latin America revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $40.7 million, an increase of $6.1 million, or 18%, over the same period in 2005 primarily
due to broad-based volume increases in core information products, an increase in pricing for high value products, new product introductions and favorable foreign currency
impact. The program to price for value is approaching a more mature stage, which may impact the rate of revenue growth, although inherent market growth and the potential
for share gain remains attractive.

During the three months ended September 30, 2006, five of the six countries in Latin America experienced double digit revenue growth in U.S. dollars and in local
currency. Local currency fluctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted our Latin America revenue by $1.3 million, or 4%. Revenue grew 14% in local currency.

Operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $12.5 million, an increase of $2.5 million, or 25%, as compared to same period in 2005. This
increase was primarily the result of revenue growth. Latin America operating margin was 31% for the three months ended September 30, 2006, versus 29% for the same
period in 2005. The increase in operating margin is primarily driven by higher pricing and volume growth.

General Corporate Expense 

Our general corporate expenses are costs that are incurred at the corporate level and are not directly associated with activities of a particular reportable segment. These
expenses include shared services and administrative and legal expenses. General corporate expense was $24.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006, a
decrease of $3.2 million, or 11%, compared to $27.8 million for the same period in 2005. This decrease was primarily due to higher salary and incentive costs related to our
CEO transition in the prior year as our current CEO began employment with the Company in September 2005. This decline was partially offset by the $1.9 million negative
impact of the former CFO’s decision in the third quarter of 2006 to retire early and the $0.8 million incremental negative impact from our adoption of SFAS No. 123R on
January 1, 2006. For additional information about the impact of SFAS No. 123R, see further discussion within MD&A and Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Form 10-Q.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS—NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006 AND 2005 

Consolidated Financial Results 

Net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, was $211.4 million, compared to $183.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005. Earnings per
share increased to $1.62 for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 as compared to $1.39 for the same period a year ago.

Operating Revenue

Consolidated operating revenue increased $74.2 million, or 7%, to $1,156.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to $1,082.1 million
during the same period in 2005. This increase is due to growth in Information Services, Marketing Services and Latin America, and favorable foreign currency impact of
$13.3 million, partially offset by a decline in Mortgage Solutions.

Operating Expenses and Operating Margin

Consolidated operating expenses increased $64.0 million, or 8%, to $830.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to $766.1 million in the
same period in 2005. Cost of services in the first nine months of 2006 increased $23.2 million, or 5%, to $466.5 million when compared to the same period in 2005, primarily
due to operating revenue growth, increased salary expenses due to increase headcount, as well as $1.5 million in loss contingencies, net of reversal, related to certain pending
legal matters.

Selling, general and administrative expenses in the first nine months of 2006 increased $39.3 million, or 15%, to $301.6 million when compared to the same period a year
ago, mainly due to $7.5 million in loss contingencies, net of reversal, related to certain pending legal matters; the $6.6 million incremental negative impact of adopting SFAS
No. 123R on January 1, 2006; $3.2 million in additional benefit costs associated with our former CFO’s and Chief Administrative Officer’s (“CAO”) decisions during the
nine months ended September 30, 2006 to retire; higher salary expenses due to increased headcount; a year-to-date increase in advertising and promotional costs mainly
related to our Personal Solutions business; and increased professional fees. These increases were partially offset by higher salary and incentive costs in the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 related to our CEO transition. For additional information about the impact of SFAS No. 123R, see further discussion within MD&A and Note 2 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Consolidated operating income increased $10.2 million, or 3%, to $326.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to $316.0 million in the
same period in 2005. Our operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, increased due to the fluctuations in operating revenue and expenses discussed
above, which includes the impact of the net accrual of expenses for loss contingencies.

Consolidated operating margin for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, was 28.2% as compared to 29.2% for the same period in 2005. The decline in operating
margin was primarily driven by the loss contingencies, net of reversal, and the negative incremental impact of adopting SFAS No. 123R. For additional information about the
activity related to the loss contingencies, including the reversal, see Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Other Income, net

Consolidated other income, net, increased $6.1 million to $16.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to $9.9 million in the same period in
2005. This increase is primarily due to a settlement of claims against certain former selling shareholders of Naviant, Inc. in September 2006. In 2004, we served a demand for
arbitration alleging, among other things, that the sellers had breached
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various representations and warranties concerning information furnished to us in connection with our acquisition of Naviant, Inc. in 2002. As a result of this settlement, we
recognized a $14.1 million non-taxable gain in other income, net, on our Consolidated Statement of Income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. This increase was
partially offset by a $3.3 million gain during the third quarter of 2005 related to an agreement with RMA Holdings, LLC, which was amended to, among other things, reduce
the scope of services we were obligated to provide.

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 32.9% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 down from 37.7% for the same period in 2005. The reduction was due primarily
to the reversal of $9.5 million in income tax reserves related to uncertain tax positions for which the applicable statute of limitations expired in the third quarter of 2006 and
the non-taxable gain on the litigation settlement associated with Naviant, Inc. during the second quarter of 2006 (as discussed in Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Form 10-Q). For additional information about our effective tax rate, see Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Segment Financial Results 

Our consolidated segment results for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

 Nine Months Ended September 30,  

Operating Revenue 2006 % of Revenue 2005 % of Revenue $ Change % Change  

 (Dollars in millions)  

North America
Information Services $ 631.9 55% $ 609.5 57% $22.4 4%
Marketing Services 203.6 17% 187.2 17% 16.4 9%
Personal Solutions 94.3 8% 87.9 8% 6.4 7%

Total North America 929.8 80% 884.6 82% 45.2 5%
Europe 112.3 10% 106.8 10% 5.5 5%
Latin America 114.2 10% 90.7 8% 23.5 26%

Total operating revenue $ 1,156.3 100% $ 1,082.1 100% $74.2 7%
 

Nine Months Ended September 30,
Operating Income 2006 Profit Margin 2005 Profit Margin $ Change % Change

(Dollars in millions)
North America

Information Services $ 261.5 41% $ 263.6 43% $ (2.1) (1)%
Marketing Services 69.4 34% 60.9 33% 8.5 14%
Personal Solutions 5.2 6% 9.8 11% (4.6) (47)%

Total North America 336.1 36% 334.3 38% 1.8 1%
Europe 26.9 24% 24.4 23% 2.5 11%
Latin America 32.9 29% 24.4 27% 8.5 35%
General Corporate Expense (69.7) nm (67.1) nm (2.6) (4)%

Total operating income $ 326.2 28% $ 316.0 29% $10.2 3%

nm—not meaningful
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Our North America operating revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was as follows:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
North America Operating Revenue  2006 % of Revenue 2005 % of Revenue $ Change % Change

(Dollars in millions)
U.S. Consumer and

Commercial Services $ 486.8 52% $ 460.8 52% $26.0 6%
Mortgage Solutions 56.7 6% 66.0 8% (9.3) (14)%
Canadian Operations 88.4 10% 82.7 9% 5.7 7%

Total North America Information
Services 631.9 68% 609.5 69% 22.4 4%

Credit Marketing Services 122.0 13% 112.9 13% 9.1 8%
Direct Marketing Services 81.6 9% 74.3 8% 7.3 10%

Total Marketing Services 203.6 22% 187.2 21% 16.4 9%
Personal Solutions 94.3 10% 87.9 10% 6.4 7%

Total North America operating
revenue $ 929.8 100% $ 884.6 100% $45.2 5%

 

North America 
Information Services

For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, Information Services revenue was $631.9 million, an increase of $22.4 million, or 4%, when compared to the same
period in 2005. Fluctuations in the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted our Information Services revenue by $6.7 million. The revenue growth for the
nine months ended September 30, 2006, is in comparison to a strong nine months ended September 30, 2005, when revenue grew 16% over the same period in 2004. We
continue to see some softening in the U.S. economy which is impacting a number of our customers and could impact future revenue growth.

U.S. Consumer and Commercial Services revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $486.8 million, an increase of $26.0 million, or 6%, when
compared to the same period in 2005. This increase is primarily due to higher sales to our financial services customers and increased revenue from our commercial
information services products, which offset some decline in telecommunication accounts. In our U.S. Consumer Information business, on-line volume was approximately 485
million transactions, up 5% year-over-year.

Mortgage Solutions revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $56.7 million, a decrease of $9.3 million, or 14%, as compared to the same period a
year ago. This decrease is primarily due to volume declines from a large customer that changed its retail mortgage business model, as well as less favorable mortgage market
conditions, including higher interest rates that resulted in lower refinancing and mortgage origination activity.

Canadian revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $88.4 million, an increase of $5.7 million, or 7%, when compared to the same period in 2005.
This increase is due to favorable currency impact. Local currency fluctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted our Canadian revenue by $6.7 million, or 8%.
Accordingly, in local currency, revenue in Canada for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 declined 1%, when compared to the same period in 2005, primarily due to



lower consumer online volume, partially offset by higher consumer offline volume. Some customers are shifting their volume from online to offline as they focus on more
customer retention and cross-selling than new customer acquisition.
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Information Services operating income was $261.5 million, a decrease of $2.1 million, or 1%, from the same period a year ago. Information Services operating margin
was 41% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, versus 43% for the same period in 2005. The decline in Information Services operating income and operating margin
was primarily driven by changes in business mix, increased tax and legal expenses, as well as the $4.0 million, pretax, loss contingency related to certain pending legal matters
within this segment, which was recorded during the third quarter of 2006.

Marketing Services
Marketing Services revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $203.6 million, an increase of $16.4 million, or 9%, when compared to the same

period in 2005. Credit Marketing Services revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $122.0 million, an increase of $9.1 million, or 8%, when compared
to the same period in 2005. The increase in Credit Marketing Services revenue is primarily due to higher volume mainly from national and regional customers for certain of
our products that target new customers and our account management product offerings, as well as continued demand for core prescreen products and data sales. Since the
second quarter of 2006, we are beginning to see a shift from account acquisition activity to account management activity. Direct Marketing Services revenue for the nine
months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $81.6 million, an increase of $7.3 million, or 10%, as compared to the same period in 2005. This increase is primarily due to the
acquisition of BeNow Inc. on August 29, 2005.

Total Marketing Services operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, was $69.4 million, an increase of $8.5 million, or 14%, resulting mainly from
revenue growth and lower production expenses as more projects migrate to our Accel platform.

Personal Solutions
Personal Solutions revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $94.3 million, an increase of $6.4 million, or 7%, compared to the same period in

2005. This increase is primarily due to higher revenue related to subscription-based products, primarily driven by our 3-in-1 Monitoring product, as well as a favorable impact
due to third party data breach activity. Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, decreased $4.6 million, to $5.2 million, compared to $9.8 million for
the same period in 2005. This decrease is primarily due to increased operating expenses associated with certain pending legal matters discussed below, as well as a year-to-
date increase in advertising and promotional costs. During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, we recorded loss contingencies of $5.0 million, net of reversals, related
to certain legal matters. Of this $5.0 million loss, $4.0 million was recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses and $1.0 million was recorded in cost of services
on our Consolidated Statement of Income during the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

Europe 
Europe revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, was $112.3 million, an increase of $5.5 million, or 5%, as compared to the same period in 2005. Revenue

increases were primarily due to higher consumer activity associated with new business and increased volumes from existing customers, as well as increased volumes related to
our commercial services business. Local currency fluctuation against the U.S. dollar unfavorably impacted our European revenue by $1.4 million, or 1%, as revenue was up
6% in local currency. Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, was $26.9 million, an increase of $2.5 million, or 11%, when compared to the same
period a year ago. The improvement in operating income was driven by continued focus on controlling expenses, including certain vendor price reductions received during the
six months ended June 30, 2006, partially offset by higher production costs from increased sales volumes related to our consumer and commercial businesses and increased
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investment in the business. Europe’s operating margin was 24% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, versus 23% for the same period in 2005.

Latin America 
Latin America revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $114.2 million, an increase of $23.5 million, or 26%, as compared to the same period in

2005 primarily due to broad-based volume increases in core information products, an increase in pricing for high value products, new product introductions and favorable
foreign currency impact. The program to price for value is approaching a more mature stage, which may impact the rate of revenue growth, although inherent market growth
and the potential for share gain remains attractive.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, all six countries in Latin America experienced double digit revenue growth in U.S. dollars and five of the six
countries had double digit growth in local currency. Local currency fluctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted our Latin America revenue by $8.0 million, or 9%.
Revenue grew 17% in local currency.

Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, totaled $32.9 million, an increase of $8.5 million, or 35%, as compared to same period in 2005. This
increase was primarily the result of revenue growth, as well as favorable currency impact. Latin America operating margin was 29% for the nine months ended September 30,
2006, versus 27% for the same period in 2005. The increase in operating margin is primarily driven by higher pricing and volume growth.

General Corporate Expense 
Our general corporate expenses are costs that are incurred at the corporate level and are not directly associated with activities of a particular reportable segment. These

expenses include shared services and administrative and legal expenses. General corporate expense was $69.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, an
increase of $2.6 million, or 4%, compared to $67.1 million for the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily driven by the $6.6 million incremental negative impact
from our adoption of SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006 and the $3.2 million negative impact of our former CFO’s and CAO’s decisions during 2006 to retire. These
increases were partially offset by higher salary and incentive costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2005 related to our CEO transition. For additional information
about the impact of SFAS No. 123R, see further discussion within MD&A and Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION 
As of September 30, 2006, we had $55.7 million in cash and cash equivalents compared to $37.5 million at December 31, 2005. Our principal sources of liquidity are

cash provided by operating activities and our revolving credit facilities. Our ability to generate cash from operating activities is one of our fundamental financial strengths. We
believe that anticipated cash provided by operating activities, together with current cash and cash equivalents and access to committed and uncommitted credit facilities and
the capital market, if required, will be sufficient to meet our projected cash requirements for the next twelve months, and the foreseeable future thereafter, although any
projections of future liquidity needs and cash flows are subject to substantial uncertainty. We have $250.0 million principal amount of our 4.95% senior unsecured notes due
November 1, 2007. Upon maturity, we may either (1) repay this obligation through a combination of borrowings under our credit facilities and cash and cash equivalents
available at that time, or (2) refinance these notes, assuming such financing is available to us on acceptable terms.

In the normal course of business, we will consider the acquisition of, or investment in, complementary businesses or joint ventures, products, services and technologies,
capital expenditures, payment of dividends, repurchase of outstanding shares of common stock and the retirement of debt. We may elect to use available cash and cash
equivalents to fund such activities in the future. In the event additional liquidity



35

needs arise, we may raise funds from a combination of sources, including the potential issuance of debt or equity securities. If adequate funds were not available to us, or were
not available on acceptable terms, our ability to meet unanticipated working capital requirements or respond to business opportunities and competitive pressures could be
limited.

Fund Transfer Limitations.   The ability of certain of our subsidiaries and associated companies to transfer funds to us is limited, in some cases, by certain restrictions
imposed by foreign governments, which do not, individually or in the aggregate, materially limit our ability to serve our indebtedness, meet our current obligations or pay
dividends.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, we generated $255.4 million of cash provided by operating activities compared to $237.7 million for the nine months

ended September 30, 2005, an increase of $17.7 million. The increase in cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to $15.2 million received in the second
quarter of 2006 as a result of the settlement with certain former shareholder sellers of Naviant, Inc., $14.1 million of which was recognized as a non-taxable gain in net
income. For additional information about this settlement, see Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Capital Expenditures 
Capital expenditures, which consist of additions to property and equipment as well as other assets, totaled $34.1 million and $33.3 million for the nine months ended

September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Our capital expenditures are used for developing, enhancing and deploying new and existing technology platforms, replacing or
adding equipment, updating systems for regulatory compliance, the licensing of software applications and investing in disaster recovery systems.

Acquisitions 
We did not complete any acquisitions during the nine months ended September 30, 2006. In March 2005, we acquired APPRO to broaden and further strengthen our

enabling technologies capabilities in our North America Information Services business. Additionally, in August 2005, we acquired BeNow to enhance our Marketing Services
business and add to our enabling technology capabilities. During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, in order to continue to grow our credit data franchise, we also
acquired the credit files, contractual rights to territories (generally states or integration areas) and customer relationships and related businesses of two independent credit
reporting agencies in the U.S. and one in Canada that houses consumer information on our system. We acquired all of these businesses for $121.8 million, net of cash
acquired. For additional information about our 2005 acquisitions, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2005 Form 10-K.

On October 6, 2006, we acquired Austin Consolidated Holdings, Inc., known as Austin-Tetra, for $34.4 million in cash. Austin-Tetra is a provider of business-to-
business data management and enhancement services to the commercial market. They provide companies and government agencies with information to help them better
understand existing customers, target new customers, and effectively manage their vendors. This acquisition is part of our long-term growth strategy, complementing our
commercial information business. We financed this acquisition through borrowings under our long-term revolving credit facility.

Borrowings and Credit Facility Availability 
Short-Term Borrowings.   Net short-term (repayments) borrowings during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, totaled ($0.6) million and $88.6

million, respectively, which primarily represents borrowings under our trade receivables-backed, revolving credit facility for the APPRO acquisition. Under this facility, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Equifax may borrow up to $125.0 million,
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subject to borrowing base availability and other terms and conditions, for general corporate purposes. The amended credit facility was scheduled to expire on September 5,
2006, with the option to extend the term for an additional period of up to two years if specified conditions are satisfied. During the third quarter of 2006, we extended this
facility through November 30, 2006 and continue to have the ability to extend the term beyond that date as discussed above. Outstanding debt under the facility is
consolidated on our Balance Sheet for financial reporting purposes. Based on the calculation of the borrowing base applicable at September 30, 2006, $8.7 million was
available for borrowing and $90.0 million was outstanding under this facility, which is included in short-term debt and current maturities on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Long-Term Revolving Credit Facilities.   Net (repayments) borrowings under long-term revolving credit facilities during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and
2005 were ($47.0) million of net repayments and $120.0 million of net borrowings, respectively. This activity represents net borrowings under our $500.0 million senior
unsecured revolving credit agreement (“Existing Credit Agreement”). On July 24, 2006, we amended and restated the Existing Credit Agreement. Under the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”), among other provisions the term was extended from August 20, 2009 to July 24, 2011; the applicable margin
for borrowings and the annual facility fee were lowered; the maximum leverage ratio (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) was increased from 3.0 to 1 to 3.50 to 1;
and a minimum interest coverage ratio was deleted. The Amended Credit Agreement may be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

The Amended Credit Agreement also includes an “accordion” feature that will allow us to request an increase of up to $500.0 million in the maximum borrowing
commitment, which cannot exceed $1.0 billion. Each member of the lending group may elect to participate or not participate in any request we make to increase the maximum
borrowing commitment. In addition, any increase in the borrowing commitment pursuant to this accordion feature is subject to certain terms and conditions, including the
absence of an event of default. The increased borrowing commitment may be used for general corporate purposes.

At September 30, 2006, interest was payable on borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement at the base rate or London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a
specified margin or competitive bid option as selected by us from time to time. The annual facility fee and interest rate are subject to adjustment based on our debt ratings. As
of September 30, 2006, $482.0 million was available for borrowings and there were outstanding borrowings of $18.0 million under this facility, which is included in long-term
debt on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Canadian Credit Facility.   We are a party to a credit agreement with a Canadian financial institution that provides for a C$25.0 million (denominated in Canadian
dollars), 364-day revolving credit agreement which was scheduled to expire on September 30, 2006. During the third quarter of 2006, however, we renewed this facility
through September 30, 2007. During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, there was no activity under this facility. At September 30, 2006, there were no outstanding
borrowings under this facility.

Payments on Long-Term Debt.   There were no payments on long-term debt during the nine months ended September 30, 2006. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2005, we redeemed $250.0 million principal amount of 6.3% senior unsecured notes by utilizing borrowings under certain revolving credit facilities.

Other.   At September 30, 2006, 78% of our debt was fixed rate debt and 22% was variable rate debt. Our variable rate debt consists of the foregoing revolving credit
facilities and generally bears interest based on a specified margin plus a base rate, LIBOR or commercial paper rate. The interest rates reset periodically, depending on the
terms of the respective financing arrangements. At September 30, 2006, interest rates on our variable rate debt ranged from 5.6% to 5.7%. We were in compliance with all of
our financial and non-financial debt covenants at September 30, 2006.
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For additional information about our debt, including the terms of our financing arrangements, basis for variable interest rates and debt covenants, see Note 4 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2005 Form 10-K and Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Equity Transactions 

Sources and uses of cash related to equity during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

Share Repurchase Program.   Under the stock repurchase program authorized by our Board of Directors, we purchased 4.6 million and 2.8 million common shares on
the open market during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, for $162.0 million and $95.0 million, respectively, at an average price per
common share of $35.02 and $33.46, respectively. At September 30, 2006, the amount available for future share repurchases under this program was $183.4 million. Between
October 1, 2006 and October 31, 2006, we purchased 0.6 million shares of our common stock for $23.6 million under the stock repurchase program authorized by our Board
of Directors.

Dividend Payments.   During the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, we paid cash dividends of $15.3 million and $14.8 million, respectively, at $0.12 per
share and $0.11 per share, respectively.

Exercise of Stock Options.   During the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, we received cash of $19.8 million and $47.7 million, respectively, from the
exercise of stock options.

Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments and Other Contingencies 

A potential significant use of cash would be the payment to Computer Sciences Corporation (“CSC”) if they were to exercise their option to sell their credit reporting
business to us at any time prior to 2013. The option exercise price will be determined by agreement or by an appraisal process and would be due in cash within 180 days after
the exercise of the option. We estimate that if the option had been exercised at December 31, 2005, the price range would approximate $650 million to $700 million. This
estimate is based solely on our internal analysis of the value of the business, current market conditions and other factors, all of which are subject to constant change.
Therefore, the actual option exercise price could be materially higher or lower than our estimate. Our agreement with CSC, which expires on July 31, 2008, also provides us
with an option to purchase CSC’s credit reporting business if CSC does not elect to renew the agreement or if there is a change in control of CSC while the agreement is in
effect. If CSC were to exercise its option, or if we were able to and decided to exercise our option, then we would have to obtain additional sources of funding. We believe
that this funding would be available from sources such as additional bank lines of credit and the capital markets for debt and/or equity financing. However, the availability
and terms of any such capital financing would be subject to a number of factors, including credit market conditions, the state of the equity markets, general economic
conditions and our financial performance and condition.

Our contractual obligations, commercial commitments and other contingencies have not materially changed from those reported in our 2005 Form 10-K. For additional
information about certain obligations and contingencies, see Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

Other than facility leasing arrangements, we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing activities. In 1998, we entered into a synthetic lease on our Atlanta corporate
headquarters building in order to obtain favorable financing terms with regard to this facility. This $29.0 million lease expires in 2010. Lease
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payments for the remaining term totaled $6.4 million at September 30, 2006. Under this synthetic lease arrangement, we have guaranteed the residual value of the leased
property to the lessor. In the event that the property were to be sold by the lessor at the end of the lease term, we would be responsible for any shortfall of the sales proceeds,
up to a maximum amount of $23.2 million, which equals 80% of the value of the property at the beginning of the lease term. The liability for this shortfall, which was $1.4
million and $4.0 million at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively, is recorded in other long-term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Related Party Transactions 

On July 24, 2006, we amended and restated our existing five-year, $500.0 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility with SunTrust Bank, as Joint Lead and
Administrative Agent, Banc of America Securities, LLC, as Joint Lead and Syndication Agent, and a number of other financial institutions. SunTrust Bank and Bank of
America, N.A., of which Banc of America Securities, LLC is a subsidiary, are both considered related parties in accordance with SFAS No. 57, “Related Party Disclosures,”
since members of our Board of Directors have affiliations with these companies. For additional information about this transaction, see Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

There have not been any other material changes in transactions with related parties during the nine months ended September 30, 2006. For additional information about
our related parties and associated transactions, see Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2005 Form 10-K.

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans 

Pension benefits are provided through U.S. and Canadian defined benefit pension plans and two supplemental executive defined benefit pension plans. Substantially all
employees participate in one or more of these plans. The measurement date for our defined benefit pension plans is December 31 of each year. Since January 1, 2005, we
have had two non-contributory qualified retirement plans covering all inactive retired and vested participants as of that date (the U.S. Retirement Income Plan, or “USRIP”)
and all active employee participants as of that date (the Equifax Inc. Pension Plan, or “EIPP”). We also maintain a defined benefit plan for most salaried and hourly employees
in Canada (the Canadian Retirement Income Plan, or “CRIP”). Benefits of both plans are primarily a function of salary and years of service. At December 31, 2005, the
USRIP and the EIPP met or exceeded ERISA’s minimum funding requirements. We do not expect to have to make any minimum funding contributions under ERISA for
2006 with respect to the USRIP or the EIPP based on applicable law in effect for 2006. In January 2006, however, we made a discretionary contribution of $20.0 million to the
EIPP. During the third quarter of 2006, we made an additional discretionary contribution of $2.0 million to fund our other postretirement benefit plans. While we do not
believe any minimum funding contributions will be required in 2007, we may make a discretionary contribution depending on certain circumstances, including market
conditions and liquidity needs.

In August 2006, the President of the United States of America signed the Pension Protection Act of 2006 into law. Included in this legislation are changes to the method
of valuing pension plan assets and liabilities for funding purposes, as well as the minimum funding levels required by 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact this new
pension legislation may have on our future funding requirements and our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The discount rate assumption used to calculate annual expense was 5.80% for the USRIP and 6.26% for the EIPP for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. In
2006, the discount rate used to calculate the annual SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (“SFAS No. 87”), expense is 5.70% for the USRIP and 5.89% for
the EIPP. The decrease in discount rates is due to the general decline in
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long-term interest rates during 2005 and the consequent effect on the yields of the portfolio of long-term corporate bonds, which are used to determine the discount rate.

The expected rate of return on pension plan assets should approximate the actual long-term investment gain on those assets. The expected rate of return on plan assets
used to calculate annual expense was 8.00% for the USRIP and 8.25% for the EIPP for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. In 2006, the expected rate of return on
plan assets used to calculate the annual SFAS No. 87 expense will be 8.00% for the USRIP and 8.25% for the EIPP, the same as 2005.

For our non-U.S. tax-qualified retirement plans, we fund at least the amounts sufficient to meet minimum funding requirements but no more than allowed as a tax
deduction pursuant to applicable tax regulations. For the non-qualified supplementary retirement plans, we fund the benefits as they are paid to retired participants, but accrue
the associated expense and liabilities in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

Share-Based Payment.   On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R, which replaced SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(“SFAS No. 123”), and superseded Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB No. 25”). SFAS No. 123R requires that
the cost relating to share-based payment transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services from either employees or non-employees be
recognized in the financial statements as the goods are received or services are rendered. That cost is measured based on the fair value of the equity or liability instruments
issued. We are no longer permitted to follow the intrinsic value accounting method of APB No. 25, which resulted in no expense being recorded for stock option grants for
which the exercise price was equal to the fair value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we recognized compensation expense
for nonvested stock over the stated vesting period in accordance with APB No. 25.

SFAS No. 123R applies to all of our outstanding unvested share-based payment awards as of January 1, 2006 and all prospective awards. All of our stock-based awards,
which are stock options and nonvested stock, are classified as equity instruments. In accordance with SFAS No. 123R, we elected to use the modified prospective transition
method as opposed to the modified retrospective transition method. Under the modified prospective transition method, financial statements prior to adoption remain
unchanged. The following discusses several other elections we made as a result of adopting SFAS No. 123R:

·       For our pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 123, we used the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we compute the fair value
of options granted on or after January 1, 2006 using the binomial model. Additionally, based on the guidance in Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 107, “Share-Based Payment”, we changed our expected volatility assumption used in the binomial model. We will revisit all assumptions at
each grant date. The fair value of stock options granted prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, calculated using the Black-Scholes model, remains unchanged.

·       Forfeitures under SFAS No. 123 were recognized when they occurred. SFAS No. 123R, however, requires forfeitures to be estimated at the grant date. Accordingly,
compensation cost is recognized based on the number of awards expected to vest. There may be adjustments in future periods if actual forfeitures differ from our
estimates. For nonvested shares granted prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we recorded a cumulative catch-up adjustment in January 2006 related to estimated
forfeitures. This positive adjustment was not material to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Our forfeiture rate is based upon historical experience as well as
anticipated employee turnover considering certain qualitative factors.
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·       Generally, our stock options are subject to graded vesting, while our nonvested shares are subject to cliff vesting. SFAS No. 123R permits entities to elect between the
accelerated recognition method or straight-line recognition method for recognizing compensation cost related to awards subject to graded vesting based on a service
condition. Consistent with our prior practice, we continue to apply the accelerated recognition method related to awards subject to graded vesting, which results in more
compensation cost early in the vesting period.

Our nonvested stock has accelerated vesting features upon retirement, while our stock-options continue to vest over the same vesting schedule even though no additional
service is required by the employee after retirement. Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we began recognizing compensation cost related to new stock-based awards from
the grant date through the date the employee is eligible to receive the award without further service, such as when the employee becomes retirement eligible, which may be
shorter than the stated vesting period. For stock-based awards granted prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we recognized compensation cost over the stated vesting
period and recognized the impact, if any, upon retirement; this recognition policy will continue for any such awards that were unvested at the time of adoption.

We do not expect to change our policies related to stock-based awards, such as the quantity or type of instruments issued, as a result of adopting SFAS No. 123R, nor do
we plan on changing the terms of our stock-based awards. At September 30, 2006, our total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock and stock options was
$12.5 million with a weighted-average recognition period of 2.2 years and $3.8 million with a weighted-average recognition period of 1.1 years, respectively.

SFAS No. 123R requires that benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash
flow as required under prior accounting standards. This requirement reduced operating cash flows and increased financing cash flows by $3.5 million during the nine months
ended September 30, 2006.

For additional information about the financial impact of SFAS No. 123R and differences in valuation methodologies and assumptions under SFAS No. 123R as
compared to those used under SFAS No. 123, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.   In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (“SFAS 158”), which is effective for us as of December 31,
2006. SFAS 158 requires us to recognize (1) the overfunded or underfunded status of our defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans as an asset or liability
in our Consolidated Balance Sheet and (2) changes in the funded status in the year in which the changes occur through other comprehensive income, a component of
shareholders’ equity. For a pension plan, the benefit obligation is the projected benefit obligation; for any other postretirement plan, the benefit obligation is the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation. This statement also requires us to measure the funded status of our plans as of the date of our year-end Consolidated Balance Sheet,
December 31, which is consistent with our current measurement date. SFAS 158 also provides additional disclosure requirements and guidance related to balance sheet
classification. We do not expect this guidance to impact our Consolidated Statements of Income, nor do we expect it to impact our debt covenant compliance upon adoption. If
this guidance had been effective as of December 31, 2005, the impact on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at such date would have been a $95.2 million decrease in total
assets (including the impact to the long-term deferred tax asset), $26.1 million increase to total liabilities and a $121.3 million decrease to shareholders’ equity. The impact on
our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2006 is uncertain until we measure the funded status of our pension and other postretirement plans as of that date, but
could vary significantly from the impact as of December 31, 2005,

41

depending on, among other things, changes in assumptions, such as discount rates and expected return on plan assets, as well as the fair value of our plan assets.

Others.   For additional information about other new accounting pronouncements and the potential impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements, see Note 1 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,



revenues and expenses. We believe the most complex and sensitive judgments, because of their significance to the Consolidated Financial Statements, result primarily from
the need to make estimates and assumptions about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. The “Application of Critical Accounting Policies” section on page 44,
and Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in our 2005 Form 10-K describe the significant accounting estimates and policies used in preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Actual results in these areas could differ materially from our estimates. There have been no significant changes in our critical accounting
policies during the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

We have included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and from time to time our management may make, statements which may constitute “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts
but instead represent only our belief regarding future events, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and outside of our control. It is possible that our actual
results may differ, possibly materially, from the anticipated results indicated in these forward-looking statements. Those statements appear at various places in this Form 10-
Q, including those referenced in the next paragraph. Words such as “believes”, “anticipates”, “expects”, “intends”, “continue”, “remain”, “will”, “should”, “may” and other
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. We caution you not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which are current only as of the date of this filing. Equifax undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to
reflect events that occur or circumstances that exist after the date on which they were made.

The important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in our specific forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-Q include, but
are not limited to, the following:

·       Regarding our expectations with respect to the impact of a softening U.S. economy on our future revenue growth, discussed under “North America—Information
Services” in MD&A, and pricing in Latin America, discussed under “Latin America” in MD&A, local economic conditions and pricing and other competitive pressures
which could result in lessened demand for our products and services, a loss of customers or a rate of increase or decrease in prices for our services different than past
experience;

·       Regarding our future liquidity needs discussed under “Liquidity and Financial Condition,” our ability to generate cash from operating activities and any declines in our
credit ratings or financial condition which could restrict our access to the capital markets or materially increase our financing costs;

·       With respect to the accounting for stock-based payments discussed in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and under “Recent Accounting
Pronouncements” in MD&A,

42

changes in the assumptions underlying our share-based awards and related compensation and employment policies;

·       With respect to our pension funding obligations and expected rate of return on plan assets discussed in Notes 1 and 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
and under “Pension Plans “ and “Pension and Other Postretirement Plans” in MD&A, the impact of changes in accounting standards and pension funding laws and
regulations, measurement of pension and other postretirement plan assets and pension liabilities, actuarial assumptions and future investment returns on pension assets
and pension liabilities; and

·       With respect to Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies”, and “Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments
and Other Contingencies” in MD&A, changes in the market value of our assets or the actual cost of our commitments or contingencies, including, without limitation, the
negotiated or appraised price payable under the CSC option, if exercised, and the outcome of our pending litigation referenced therein and in Part II, Item 1, “Legal
Proceedings”.

You should also refer to the risk factors discussed in Part II, Item 1A of this Form 10-Q under “Risk Factors”, and in our 2005 Form 10-K under “Forward-Looking
Statements” on page 2 and “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A, and in our other filings with the SEC. New factors may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for the
Company to predict new factors, nor can the Company assess the potential effect of any new factors on it.

ITEM 3.                 QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

For information regarding our exposure to certain market risk, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” in Part II, Item 7A of our 2005
Form 10-K. There were no material changes to our market risk exposures during the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

ITEM 4.                 CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as
of September 30, 2006. Based upon our evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of September 30, 2006, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the applicable rules and forms and that it is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2006 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION 

ITEM 1.                 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Equifax, certain of its subsidiaries, and other persons have been named as parties in various legal actions and administrative proceedings arising in connection with the
operation of Equifax’s businesses. In most cases, plaintiffs seek unspecified damages and other relief. These actions include the following:

Naviant Arbitration and Litigation.   As previously reported, we have been involved in arbitration proceedings brought against the shareholder sellers of Naviant, Inc.,
which we acquired in 2002, claiming they breached various representations and warranties concerning information furnished to us in connection with the acquisition
transaction. We also filed a lawsuit on August 13, 2004, in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida, in a case captioned Equifax Inc. and Naviant Inc. v.
Austin Ventures VII, L.P, et al., to preserve our legal claims against these shareholder sellers. On June 20, 2005, the District Court granted our request to stay the litigation
pending the outcome of the arbitration. Since our original demand for arbitration was filed on December 30, 2003, we have released our claims against one selling
shareholder, Seisint, Inc., as part of a settlement; settled our claims against certain other former selling shareholders on June 14, 2006, in exchange for a cash payment to us of
$15.2 million; and continued to pursue our arbitration claims against the remaining selling shareholders. Discovery in the arbitration proceedings is ongoing and a hearing on
the merits of the case is scheduled for February 5, 2007.



CROA Litigation.   On November 19, 2004, an action was commenced captioned Robbie Hillis v. Equifax Consumer Services, Inc. and Fair Isaac, Inc., in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. Plaintiff asserts that defendants have jointly sold Equifax’s Score Power® credit score product in violation of certain
procedural requirements under the federal Credit Repair Organizations Act (“CROA”). Plaintiff contends that Equifax Consumer Services, Inc., and Fair Isaac are “credit
repair organizations” under CROA and that the transaction by which he purchased Score Power® was in violation of CROA and fraudulent. Plaintiff seeks certification of a
class on behalf of all individuals who purchased such services from defendants within the five-year period prior to the filing of the complaint. Plaintiff seeks unspecified
damages, attorneys’ fees and costs. On May 23, 2005, the District Court denied defendants’ partial motions to dismiss the case and the defendants have answered, denying all
liability or wrongdoing. Following the conclusion of discovery, plaintiff filed motions for class certification and partial summary judgment which were denied by the District
Court on August 18, 2006.

On April 19, 2006, in an action captioned Steven G. Millett and Melody J. Millett v. Equifax Information Services, LLC and Equifax Consumer Services, Inc., which was
originally filed on June 16, 2004, and then transferred from the U.S. District Court for Kansas to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, plaintiffs filed a
Fifth Amended Class Action Complaint. In this Complaint, plaintiffs assert, among other allegations, that Equifax Consumer Services, Inc., sold Equifax’s CreditWatch™
product in violation of CROA, asserting claims similar to those made by plaintiff in the Hillis case described in the preceding paragraph. Plaintiffs seek certification of a class
on behalf of all individuals who purchased the CreditWatch product from Equifax from September 9, 2001, to the present, and unspecified damages, attorney’s fees and costs.
Discovery has commenced.

NCRA/Standfacts Litigation.   On March 25, 2004, the National Credit Reporting Association, Inc. (“NCRA”), a trade association of mortgage credit information
resellers, and, separately, 23 of NCRA’s members, commenced suits against Equifax, Experian and TransUnion alleging various violations of antitrust and unfair practices
laws. After a variety of rulings on procedural and substantive issues, including grants on two occasions of all or part of defendants’ motions to dismiss, the remaining claims
of all plaintiffs have been consolidated under a Third Amended Complaint, filed June 29, 2005, in an action captioned Standfacts Credit Services, et al. v. Experian
Information Solutions, Inc., Equifax Inc., and TransUnion, LLC, pending in the U.S District Court of the Central District of California. Plaintiffs seek to represent a class of all
resellers that have purchased information from defendants since March 2000, and
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allege that the defendants have conspired to monopolize, have discriminated among resellers in pricing and have treated resellers unfairly. The amended complaint seeks
injunctive relief and unspecified amounts of damages. On August 12, 2005, the defendants moved to dismiss the antitrust claims and for summary judgment on the unfair
practices claims. The District Court granted defendants’ motions to dismiss all claims except for one remaining Sherman Act, Section 1 conspiracy claim and 19 of the
23 original plaintiffs have been dismissed from the case by agreement. Discovery is ongoing and a trial date is scheduled for October 2, 2007. On September 1, 2006,
plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification.

Nunnally Litigation.   On October 13, 2004, an action captioned Nunnally, et al. v. Equifax Information Services LLC was commenced in the U.S. District Court of the
Northern District of Alabama. The complaint alleges that the Company violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act by failing to provide a full disclosure along with its
reinvestigation results sent to consumers that disputed the accuracy of their consumer reports. Plaintiffs seek to represent a class of all consumers to which the Company failed
to send a complete disclosure after completion of reinvestigation. Plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages, attorneys’ fees and costs. On February 4, 2005, the District
Court denied our motion to dismiss the complaint, but certified the issue for immediate appeal and stayed the case. On June 8, 2006, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the District
Court decision and the case was dismissed by the District Court on July 25, 2006.

VantageScore Litigation.   On March 14, 2006, Equifax and two other national credit reporting companies announced the development of VantageScore(SM), a credit
scoring system. VantageScore is being independently marketed and sold separately by the three national credit reporting companies through licensing agreements with
VantageScore Solutions LLC, which is jointly owned by them. On October 11, 2006, Fair Isaac Corporation filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Minnesota alleging that the national credit reporting companies and VantageScore Solutions LLC violated antitrust laws, engaged in unfair competitive practices and
infringed plaintiff’s trademark by using a credit score product with a score range that overlaps the FICO® score range. Equifax believes the lawsuit is without merit and will
vigorously defend itself and VantageScore Solutions LLC against these claims.

Other.   Equifax has been named as a defendant in various other legal actions, including administrative claims, class actions and other litigation arising in connection
with our business. Some of the legal actions include claims for substantial compensatory or punitive damages or claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. The Company
believes it has strong defenses to, and where appropriate, will vigorously contest, many of these matters. Given the number of these matters, some are likely to result in
adverse judgments, penalties, injunctions, fines or other relief. Equifax may explore potential settlements before a case is taken through trial because of the uncertainty and
risks inherent in the litigation process.

For information regarding contingent tax claims raised by the Canada Revenue Agency, and our accounting for legal contingencies, see Part I, Item 1, Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies”, in this Form 10-Q.

ITEM 1A.        RISK FACTORS 

The Company’s principal risk factors include, but are not limited to:

·       changes in worldwide and U.S. economic conditions and movements in interest rates that materially impact consumer spending and use of consumer debt;

·       changes in demand for Equifax’s products and services;

·       our ability to successfully develop and market new products and services;

·       pricing and other competitive pressures which could result in a loss of customers or a rate of increase or decrease in prices for our services different than past experience;
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·       changes in laws and regulations governing our business and the application of existing laws, including federal or state responses to identity theft concerns and governing
the use of consumer or business credit or marketing information, which could increase our operating costs or reduce the market for our services;

·       disruptions in our business critical systems and operations which could interfere with our ability to deliver services to our customers;

·       risks relating to illegal third party efforts to access data and our operating systems;

·       risks associated with the integration of acquired technologies, businesses and other investments;

·       third party claims alleging infringement of intellectual property or other proprietary rights, or alleging unfair competition or violation of privacy rights; and

·       the outcome of our pending litigation.

In addition to the factors discussed elsewhere in this Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in our 2005
Form 10-K, which could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results. The risks described in our 2005 Form 10-K are not the only risks facing the
Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition or operating results.



ITEM 2.                 UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS 

The following table contains information with respect to purchases made by or on behalf of Equifax or any “affiliated purchaser” (as defined in Rule 10b-18(a) (3) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), of our common stock during the three months ended September 30, 2006:

  Maximum Number
  (or Approximate
 Total Number Dollar Value)
 Total of Shares Purchased of Shares that May
 Number Average as Part of Yet Be Purchased
 of Shares Price Paid

Publicly-
Announced Under the Plans or

Period Purchased(1) Per Share(2) Plans or Programs Programs(3)
June 30, 2006 $ 248,377,073
July 1 - July 31, 2006 758,873 $ 32.61 751,800 $ 223,857,263
August 1 - August 31, 2006 925,368 $ 31.93 912,500 $ 194,719,065
September 1 - September 30,

2006 322,410 $ 35.21 322,100 $ 183,378,182
Total 2,006,651 $ 32.72 1,986,400 $ 183,378,182

(1)   The total number of shares purchased includes: (1) shares purchased pursuant to our publicly announced share repurchase program (“Program”); and (2) shares
surrendered, or deemed surrendered, in satisfaction of the exercise price and/or to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the exercise of employee stock
options, totaling 7,073 shares in July 2006, 12,868 shares in August 2006 and 310 shares in September 2006.

(2)   Average price paid per share for shares purchased as part of the Program (includes brokerage commissions).

(3)   The Program was last amended by our Board of Directors in February 2006, to authorize the repurchase of $250.0 million of our common stock (in addition to the then-
remaining previous
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authorization of $68.7 million) from time to time, directly or through brokers or agents, and has no stated expiration date.

Dividend and Share Repurchase Restrictions 

Our $500.0 million senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, as amended, with SunTrust Bank, Banc of America Securities, LLC and other lenders restricts our
ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock or repurchase capital stock if the total amount of such payments in any fiscal year would exceed 20% of our consolidated
total assets measured as of the end of the preceding fiscal year.

ITEM 6.                 EXHIBITS 

The following is a complete list of Exhibits included as part of this Report. A list of those documents filed with this Report is set forth on the Index to Exhibits appearing
elsewhere in this Report and is incorporated by reference:

Exhibit
No.   Description
4.1 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 24, 2006 among Equifax Inc., Equifax PLC,

the Lenders named therein and SunTrust Bank as Administrative Agent.
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
32.2 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized.

EQUIFAX INC.
(Registrant)

Date: November 1, 2006 By: /s/ RICHARD F. SMITH
Richard F. Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 1, 2006 /s/ LEE ADREAN
Lee Adrean
Corporate Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: November 1, 2006 /s/ NUALA M. KING
Nuala M. King



Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS 

The following documents are being filed with this Report.

Exhibit
No.  Description
4.1 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 24, 2006 among Equifax Inc., Equifax PLC, the Lenders named therein and SunTrust Bank as

Administrative Agent.
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
32.2 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
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Exhibit 4.1
 

EXECUTION VERSION

AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

among

EQUIFAX INC.
as a Borrower and as a Guarantor

EQUIFAX PLC
as a Designated Borrower

CERTAIN OTHER SUBSIDIARIES OF EQUIFAX INC.
FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY HERETO

as Designated Borrowers

THE LENDERS FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY HERETO

and

SUNTRUST BANK
as Administrative Agent

Dated as of July 24, 2006

 
BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC

Joint Lead Arranger

SUNTRUST ROBINSON HUMPHREY, 
a division of SUNTRUST CAPITAL MARKETS, INC.

Joint Lead Arranger

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
Syndication Agent

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
Co-Documentation Agent

BANK OF NEW YORK
Co-Documentation Agent

and

ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND
Co-Documentation Agent
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AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of July 24, 2006, among EQUIFAX INC., a Georgia corporation (the “Company”), EQUIFAX
PLC, a public company limited by shares organized under the laws of England and Wales (“Equifax Plc”), certain other Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries of the Company from
time to time party hereto (together with Equifax Plc, each a “Designated Borrower,” and together with the Company and Equifax Plc, the “Borrowers,” and each, a
“Borrower”), the Lenders from time to time party hereto and SUNTRUST BANK, as Administrative Agent (all capitalized terms used herein and defined in Section 1.1 are
used herein as therein defined).

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2004 (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the
Closing Date, the “Existing Credit Agreement”), among the Borrowers, certain lenders party thereto (the “Existing Lenders”) and SunTrust Bank, as administrative agent
thereunder, the Existing Lenders committed to make extensions of credit to the Borrowers on the terms and conditions set forth therein, including making revolving loans (the
“Existing Loans”) to the Borrowers; and

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have requested that the Existing Credit Agreement be amended and restated in its entirety to become effective and binding on the
Borrowers pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and the Lenders (including certain of the Existing Lenders) have agreed (subject to the terms of this Agreement) to amend
and restate the Existing Credit Agreement in its entirety to read as set forth in this Agreement, and it has been agreed by the parties to the Existing Credit Agreement that
(a) the commitments which the Existing Lenders have agreed to extend to the Borrowers under the Existing Credit Agreement shall be extended or advanced upon the
amended and restated terms and conditions contained in this Agreement, and (b) the Existing Loans and other Obligations (as defined in and) outstanding under the Existing
Credit Agreement shall be governed by and deemed to be outstanding under the amended and restated terms and conditions contained in this Agreement, with the intent that
the terms of this Agreement shall supersede the terms of the Existing Credit Agreement (which shall hereafter have no further effect upon the parties thereto, other than for
accrued fees and expenses, and indemnification provisions accrued and owing, under the terms of the Existing Credit Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date or arising (in
the case of indemnification) under the terms of the Existing Credit Agreement);

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, such parties hereby
agree to amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement, and the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS, ETC.

SECTION 1.1  Definitions.

The following terms when used in this Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them below:

“Additional Commitment Lender” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.12(d).

“Administrative Agent” means SunTrust Bank in its capacity as Administrative Agent hereunder, and any successor thereto appointed pursuant to Section 12.7.

“Administrative Agent’s Fee Letter” means that certain letter agreement, dated as of June 28, 2006, among the Administrative Agent, SunTrust Robinson Humphrey,
a division of SunTrust Capital Markets, Inc. and the Company, as amended, modified, supplemented or replaced from time to time.

“Administrative Agent’s Office” means the office of the Administrative Agent specified in or determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 13.1(c).

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person which directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries (a) controls, or is controlled by, or is
under common control with, such first Person or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) owns or holds ten percent (10%) or more of the Capital Stock in such first Person or any of its
Subsidiaries.  The term “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of any power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person,
whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Agent Parties” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 13.1(c).

“Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment” means the aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment of all Lenders, as such amount may be increased or reduced or



modified at any time or from time to time pursuant to the terms hereof.  The Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment on the Closing Date shall be Five Hundred Million
Dollars ($500,000,000).

“Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage” means, as to any Lender at any time, the ratio of (a) such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment to (b) the
Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment of all of the Lenders.

“Agreed Alternative Currency” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.9(e).

“Agreement” means this Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, as the same may be further amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time.

“Agreement Currency” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 13.20.

“Applicable Currency” means, as to any particular Revolving Credit Loan, Competitive Bid Loan, Letter of Credit or payment, Dollars or the Offshore Currency in
which such Loan, Letter of Credit or payment is denominated or is payable.

“Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6.1(y).
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“Applicable Law” means all applicable provisions of constitutions, laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, treaties, regulations, permits, licenses, approvals, interpretations
and orders of Governmental Authorities and all orders and decrees of all courts and arbitrators.

“Applicable Percentage” means, for purposes of calculating (a) the interest rate applicable to Offshore Rate Loans for purposes of Section 4.1(a); (b) the L/C Fee for
purposes of Section 3.3(a); or (c) the Facility Fee for purposes of Section 4.3(b), the rate set forth below opposite the Applicable Rating then in effect:

Pricing
Level  Applicable Rating

Offshore Rate
Loans and L/C Fee  Facility Fee

I > A/A2 0.200%
 

0.050%
II >A-/A3 0.240%

 

0.060%
III >BBB+/Baa1 0.320%

 

0.080%
IV >BBB/Baa2 0.400%

 

0.100%
V <BBB-/Baa3 0.500%

 

0.125%
 

For purposes of the foregoing, (i) if the Applicable Ratings established by Moody’s and S&P are different but correspond to consecutive Pricing Levels, then the Pricing
Level with the lower number (i.e., corresponding to the better rating) shall apply (e.g., if Moody’s and S&P’s Applicable Ratings correspond to Pricing Levels I and II,
respectively, then Pricing Level I will apply), (ii) if the Applicable Ratings established by Moody’s and S&P are different and correspond to non-consecutive Pricing Levels,
then the Pricing Level with a number equal to the lower Pricing Level number (i.e., corresponding to the better rating) plus one shall apply (e.g., if Moody’s and S&P’s
Applicable Ratings correspond to Pricing Levels I and IV, respectively, then Pricing Level II will apply), (iii) if only one Applicable Rating is available as a result of either
S&P or Moody’s failure to continue to rate any issuer’s senior, unsecured, long-term, non-credit enhanced debt for borrowed money, then the Pricing Level shall be based on
such Applicable Rating that remains available (e.g., if Moody’s Applicable Rating corresponds to Pricing Level I and S&P is no longer in the business of rating any issuer’s
senior, unsecured, long-term, non-credit enhanced debt for borrowed money, then Pricing Level I will apply), (iv) if S&P or Moody’s withdraws its Applicable Rating and the
remaining Applicable Rating is below BBB+/Baa1, as applicable, then such remaining Applicable Rating shall apply for sixty (60) days from the date of such withdraw by
either S&P or Moody’s of its Applicable Rating and thereafter Pricing Level V shall apply until the earlier of (A) such time as S&P and/or Moody’s provides
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another Applicable Rating or (B) the Required Lenders have agreed to an alternative pricing grid or other method for determining Pricing Levels pursuant to an effective
amendment to this Agreement, (v) if S&P or Moody’s withdraws its Applicable Rating and the remaining Applicable Rating is BBB+/Baa1 or above, as applicable, then the
Pricing Level shall correspond to the remaining Applicable Rating, and (vi) if both S&P and Moody’s withdraw their Applicable Ratings, then Pricing Level V shall apply
until the earlier of (A) such time as S&P and/or Moody’s provides another Applicable Rating or (B) the Required Lenders have agreed to an alternative pricing grid or other
method for determining Pricing Levels pursuant to an effective amendment to this Agreement.

The Applicable Percentage shall be determined and adjusted as of the date on which any change in an Applicable Rating is announced by the relevant rating agency
(each such adjustment date, a “Rate Determination Date”).

Each Applicable Percentage shall be effective from a Rate Determination Date until the next such Rate Determination Date.  The Administrative Agent shall
determine the appropriate Applicable Percentages in the pricing matrix promptly upon notice of a ratings change by the Company as required pursuant to Section 7.6 and shall
promptly notify the Company and the Lenders of any change thereof.  Such determinations by the Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. 
Adjustments in the Applicable Percentages shall be effective as to existing Extensions of Credit as well as any new Extension of Credit made thereafter.  The Applicable
Percentage from the Closing Date shall be based on Pricing Level II, subject to adjustment as provided herein.

“Applicable Rating” means as to each of Moody’s and S&P, its rating of the Company’s senior, unsecured, long-term, non-credit enhanced debt for borrowed
money.

“Applicant Borrower” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.10(a).

“Approved Fund” means any Fund that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that
administers or manages a Lender.

“Arrangers” means Banc of America Securities LLC and SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, a division of SunTrust Capital Markets, Inc., in their capacities as Joint
Lead Arrangers for the Credit Facility.

“Asset Disposition” means the disposition of any or all of the assets (including without limitation the disposition of accounts and notes receivable, the sale of the
Capital Stock of a Subsidiary to a Person other than the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company and any Equity Issuance of Capital Stock of a Subsidiary to a Person other
than the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries whether by sale, lease, transfer or otherwise.  The term “Asset Disposition”



shall not include (i) the sale of inventory or Cash Equivalents in the ordinary course of business, (ii) the sale or disposition of fixed assets no longer used or useful in the
conduct of such Person’s business, (iii) any Equity Issuance of Capital Stock of the Company, (iv) transfers of assets to the Company or from a Subsidiary of the Company to
a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Company, (v) transfers of assets required in connection with any Permitted Securitization Transaction or (vi) transfers of assets which
individually account for less than $1,000,000 of the Consolidated Operating Profit for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year.

“Assignment and Acceptance” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 13.9(b)(iii).
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“Bankruptcy Event” means any of the events set forth in Section 11.1(i) or (j) or any of those events which with the passage of time, the giving of notice or any other
condition would constitute such an event, in respect of any of the Borrowers or any of their Subsidiaries.

“Base Rate” means, at any time, the higher of (a) the Prime Rate and (b) the sum of (i) the Federal Funds Rate plus (ii) 1/2 of 1%; each change in the Base Rate shall
take effect simultaneously with the corresponding change or changes in the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Rate.

“Base Rate Loan” means any Loan denominated in Dollars and bearing interest at a rate based upon the Base Rate as provided in Section 4.1(a).

“Benefited Lender” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 4.6.

“Borrower Joinder Agreement” means a Borrower Joinder Agreement executed by an Applicant Borrower, the Company and the Administrative Agent in
substantially the form of Exhibit E, as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Borrower Materials” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 7.1(c).

“Borrowers” and “Borrower” shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the preamble.

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which banks are not authorized or required to close in Atlanta, Georgia or New York, New
York and, if the applicable Business Day relates to the advance or continuation of, conversion into, or payment on an Offshore Rate Loan or a Competitive Bid Loan (i) in a
currency other than euros, on which banks are dealing in Dollar or any Offshore Currency (other than euros) deposits, as applicable, in the applicable interbank eurocurrency
market in London, England, and in the country of issue of the currency of such Offshore Rate Loan or a Competitive Bid Loan, and (ii) in euros, on which TARGET is open
for the settlement of payments in euros.

“Capital Lease” means, with respect to any Person, any lease of any property that should, in accordance with GAAP, be classified and accounted for as a capital
lease on a Consolidated balance sheet of such Person and its Consolidated Subsidiaries.

“Capital Stock” means (i) in the case of a corporation, capital stock, (ii) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations,
rights or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock, (iii) in the case of a partnership, partnership interests (whether general or limited), (iv) in the case of a
limited liability company, membership interests and (v) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or
distributions of assets of, the issuing Person.

“Cash Equivalent” means (a) securities issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States of America or any agency or instrumentality thereof
(provided that the full faith and credit of the United States of America is pledged in support thereof) having maturities of not more than twelve months from the date of
acquisition, (b) U.S. dollar denominated time and demand deposits and certificates of deposit of (i) any Lender, (ii) any domestic commercial bank
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having capital and surplus in excess of $500,000,000 or (iii) any bank whose short-term commercial paper rating from S&P is at least A-1 or the equivalent thereof or from
Moody’s is at least P-1 or the equivalent thereof (any such bank being an “Approved Bank”), in each case with maturities of not more than 270 days from the date of
acquisition, (c) commercial paper and variable or fixed rate notes issued by any Approved Bank (or by the parent company thereof) or any variable rate notes issued by, or
guaranteed by, any domestic corporation rated A-1 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by S&P or P-1 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by Moody’s and maturing within six
months of the date of acquisition, (d) repurchase agreements with a bank or trust company (including any of the Lenders) or securities dealer having capital and surplus in
excess of $500,000,000 for direct obligations issued by or fully guaranteed by the United States of America in which the Borrower shall have a perfected first priority security
interest (subject to no other Liens) and having, on the date of purchase thereof, a fair market value of at least 100% of the amount of the repurchase obligations and
(e) Investments, classified in accordance with GAAP as current assets, in money market investment programs registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as
amended, which are administered by financial institutions having capital of at least $500,000,000 and the portfolios of which are limited to Investments of the character
described in the foregoing subdivisions (a) through (d).

“Change in Control” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 11.1(h).

“Closing Date” means the date of this Agreement or such later Business Day upon which each condition described in Section 5.1 shall be satisfied or waived in all
respects.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and the rules and regulations thereunder, each as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time.

“Company” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in the preamble.

“Compensation Period” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 4.7(b)(ii).

“Competitive Bid” means an offer by a Lender to make a Competitive Bid Loan in accordance with Section 2.5.

“Competitive Bid Loans” means any Loan made pursuant to Section 2.5 and all such Loans collectively as the context requires.

“Competitive Bid Rate” means the rate of interest per annum expressed in multiples of l/100  of one percent offered with respect to any Competitive Bid Loan
offered by the Lender making such Competitive Bid.
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“Competitive Bid Request” means a request by the Company, on behalf of a Borrower, for Competitive Bids in accordance with Section 2.5.

“Confidential Information” means all confidential information received from the Borrowers or any of their respective Subsidiaries relating to the Borrowers or any
such Subsidiaries or their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to the Administrative Agent or any Lender on a non-confidential basis prior
to disclosure by any such Borrower or any such Subsidiary.
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“Consolidated” means, when used with reference to financial statements or financial statement items of a Person and its Subsidiaries, such statements or items on a
consolidated basis in accordance with applicable principles of consolidation under GAAP.

“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any period, as applied to the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries without duplication, the sum of the amounts for such
period of: (a) Consolidated Net Income, plus (b) an amount which, in the determination of Consolidated Net Income has been deducted for (i) Consolidated Interest Expense,
(ii) all federal and state income tax expense, (iii) depreciation and amortization expense, and (iv) all other non-cash charges, all of the foregoing as determined and computed
on a Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; provided that for purposes of calculating Consolidated EBITDA of the Company for any period of four consecutive fiscal
quarters (each, a “Reference Period”) pursuant to any determination of the Leverage Ratio, (x) the Consolidated EBITDA of (or attributable to) (A) any other Person, (B) all
or substantially all of the business or assets of any other Person or (C) operating division or business unit of any other Person, acquired by, or merged into or consolidated
with, the Company or one of its Consolidated Subsidiaries during such Reference Period, in each case under this clause (x), shall be included on a pro forma basis for such
Reference Period as if such acquisition, merger or consolidation in connection therewith occurred on the first day of such Reference Period and (y) the Consolidated EBITDA
of (or attributable to) (A) any Consolidated Subsidiary whose Capital Stock is sold or otherwise transferred to any Person other than to the Company or to a Consolidated
Subsidiary of the Company during such Reference Period such that as a result of such sale or transfer such Consolidated Subsidiary ceases to be a Subsidiary of the Company,
(B) assets (whether all or substantially all) of the Company or any Consolidated Subsidiary sold, leased or otherwise transferred to any Person other than to the Company or to
a Subsidiary of the Company during such Reference Period or (C) an operating division or business unit of the Company or any Consolidated Subsidiary sold, leased or
otherwise transferred to any Person other than to the Company or to a Consolidated Subsidiary of the Company during such Reference Period, in each case under this
clause (y), shall be excluded on a pro forma basis for such Reference Period as if the consummation of such sale, lease or other transfer occurred on the first day of such
Reference Period so long as the Consolidated EBITDA of (or attributable to) such Capital Stock, asset, operating division or business unit sold or otherwise transferred,
exceeds 5% of Consolidated Operating Profit for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year.

“Consolidated Funded Debt” means, as of any date, without duplication, all Debt of the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries of the type referred to in clauses
(a), (b), (f), (g), (h), (i), (j) (but in the case of clause (j), only to the extent of any drawn amount of such letters of credit) and (l) and (m) of the definition of “Debt” set forth in
this Section 1.1, all of the foregoing as determined and computed on a Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.  Any Debt described in clauses (l) and (m) of the
definition of Debt shall be included in the calculation of Consolidated Funded Debt even if the applicable Subsidiary (including any Permitted Securitization Subsidiary) is
not consolidated under GAAP.

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, for any period, as applied to the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, for any period determined on a consolidated
basis in accordance with GAAP, the sum of (i) total interest expense, including without limitation the interest component of any payments in respect of capital leases
capitalized or expensed during such
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period (whether or not actually paid during such period) plus (ii) the net amount payable (or minus the net amount receivable) under Hedging Agreements during such period
(whether or not actually paid or received during such period), in each case as determined and computed on a Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, for any period, the net income, after taxes, of the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such period as determined and
computed on a Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Net Tangible Assets” means, as of any date, Consolidated Total Assets, less the sum of the value, as set forth or reflected in the most recent
Consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, prepared in accordance with GAAP of:

(i)            All assets which would be treated as intangible assets for balance sheet presentation purposes under GAAP, excluding “Purchased Data Files,” but
including, without limitation, goodwill (as determined by the Company in a manner consistent with its past accounting practices and in accordance with GAAP),
trademarks, tradenames, copyrights, patents and technologies, and unamortized debt discount and expense;

(ii)           To the extent not included in (i) of this definition, any amount at which shares of Capital Stock of the Company appear as an asset on the balance
sheet of its Consolidated Subsidiaries; and

(iii)          To the extent not included in (i) of this definition, deferred expenses.

“Consolidated Operating Profit” means, for any period, the Operating Profit of the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, all of the foregoing as determined
and computed on a Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Subsidiary” means, at any date, any Subsidiary or other entity the accounts of which, in accordance with GAAP, are Consolidated with those of the
Company in its Consolidated financial statements as of such date.

“Consolidated Total Assets” means, as of any date, the assets and properties of the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, as determined and computed on a
Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“Credit Facility” means the collective reference to Revolving Credit Facility and the L/C Facility or any one of them, as the context requires.

“CSC” means Computer Sciences Corporation, a Nevada corporation.

“CSC Agreement” means the Agreement for Computerized Credit Reporting Services and Options to Purchase and Sell Assets, dated as of the 1st day of August,
1988, among EIS, the Company, CSC and certain other parties, as the same may be amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
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“CSC Put” means the right of certain subsidiaries of CSC under the CSC Agreement to require EIS to purchase their credit reporting businesses within 180 days
after notice.

“Debt” of any Person means at any date, without duplication: (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by
bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property purchased by
such Person (other than customary reservations or retentions of title under agreements with suppliers entered into in the ordinary course of business), (d) all obligations of such
Person (i) issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of Property or services purchased by such Person (other than trade debt incurred in the ordinary course of business
on terms customary in the trade) which would appear as liabilities on a balance sheet of such Person or (ii) arising out of the CSC Put after the receipt by the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries of notice from CSC or any of its Subsidiaries regarding the intent to exercise the CSC Put, (e) all obligations of such Person under take or pay or similar
arrangements or under commodities agreements, (f) all Debt of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Debt has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be
secured by) any Lien on, or payable out of the proceeds of production from, property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the obligations secured thereby have
been assumed, provided that for purposes hereof the amount of such Debt shall be limited to the greater of (i) the amount of such Debt as to which there is recourse to such
Person and (ii) the fair market value of the property which is subject to the Lien, (g) all Support Obligations of such Person with respect to a Debt of another Person, (h) the
principal portion of all obligations of such Person under Capital Leases, (i) all net obligations of such Person in respect of Hedging Agreements, (j) the maximum amount of
all standby letters of credit issued or bankers’ acceptances facilities created for the account of such Person and, without duplication, all drafts drawn thereunder (to the extent
unreimbursed or not cash collateralized), (k) all preferred stock issued by such Person and required by the terms thereof to be redeemed, or for which mandatory sinking fund
payments are due, by a fixed date, (l) the outstanding attributed principal amount under any asset securitization program of such Person (including without limitation any
notes or accounts receivable financing program) and (m) the principal balance outstanding under any synthetic lease, tax retention operating lease, off-balance sheet loan or
similar off-balance sheet financing product to which such Person is a party, where such transaction is considered borrowed money indebtedness for tax purposes but is
classified as an operating lease in accordance with GAAP.  The Debt of any Person shall include the Debt of any partnership or joint venture in which such Person is a general
partner or a joint venturer, but only to the extent to which there is recourse to the assets (other than the ownership interest in such partnership or joint venture) of such Person
for payment of such Debt.

“Default” means any of the events specified in Section 11.1 which, with the passage of time, the giving of notice or any other condition, would constitute an Event of
Default.

“Defaulting Lender” shall mean any Lender with respect to which a Lender Default is in effect.

“Designated Borrower” means any Applicant Borrower that becomes a Borrower under this Agreement in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.10.

“Designating Lender” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.9(i).
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“Determination Date” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.9(a).

“Dollars” or “$” means, unless otherwise qualified, dollars in lawful currency of the United States.

“Dollar Equivalent” means, at any time, (a) as to any amount denominated in Dollars, the amount thereof at such time, and (b) as to any amount denominated in an
Offshore Currency, the equivalent amount in Dollars as determined by the Administrative Agent at such time on the basis of the Spot Rate for the purchase of Dollars with
such Offshore Currency on the most recent Determination Date provided for in Section 2.9(a).

“EIS” means Equifax Information Services, LLC, formerly known as Equifax Credit Information Services, Inc.

“Eligible Assignee” means (a) a Lender; (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or any fund that invests in bank loans and is managed by an investment advisor to a Lender; and
(c) any other Person approved by the Administrative Agent and, unless a Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing at the time any assignment is effected in
accordance with Section 13.9, the Company (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed by the Company and such approval to be deemed given by the
Company if no objection is received by the assigning Lender and the Administrative Agent from the Company within five (5) Business Days after notice of such proposed
assignment has been provided by the assigning Lender to the Company); provided, however, that neither a Borrower nor an Affiliate of a Borrower shall qualify as an Eligible
Assignee.

“Employee Benefit Plan” means any employee benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA which (a) is maintained for employees of a Borrower or
any ERISA Affiliate or (b) has at any time within the preceding six years been maintained for the employees of a Borrower or any current or former ERISA Affiliate.

“EMU Legislation” means legislative measures of the European Council (including without limitation European Council regulations) for the introduction of,
changeover to, or operation of, the euro.

“Environmental Laws” means any and all federal, state, local and foreign laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, licenses, approvals, binding
interpretations and orders of courts or Governmental Authorities, relating to the protection of human health or the environment, including, but not limited to, requirements
pertaining to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transportation, handling, reporting, licensing, permitting, investigation or remediation
of Hazardous Materials.

“Environmental Permits” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6.1(h).

“Equity Issuance” means any issuance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any Person other than the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of (a) shares of its
Capital Stock, (b) any shares of its Capital Stock pursuant to the exercise of options or warrants or (c) any shares of its Capital Stock pursuant to the conversion of any debt
securities to equity.
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“Equifax Plc” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in the preamble.



“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, and the rules and regulations thereunder, each as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any Person who together with a Borrower is treated as a single employer within the meaning of Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code
or Section 4001(b) of ERISA.

“euro” means the single currency of Participating Member States of the European Community.

“Eurodollar Reserve Percentage” means, for any day, the percentage (expressed as a decimal and rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of 1%)
which is in effect for such day as prescribed by the Federal Reserve Board (or any successor) for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including without limitation
any basic, supplemental or emergency reserves) in respect of eurocurrency liabilities or any similar category of liabilities for a member bank of the Federal Reserve System in
New York City and to which the Administrative Agent or any Lender is then subject.

“European Community” means those European countries that are signatories to the Treaty on European Union.

“Event of Default” means any of the events specified in Section 11.1, provided that any requirement for passage of time, giving of notice, or any other condition, has
been satisfied.

“Existing Credit Agreement” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in the recitals.

“Existing Lenders” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in the recitals.

“Existing Maturity Date” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.12(a).

“Existing Swingline Loans” means each of the swingline loans set forth in Schedule 1.1(a).

“Extension Effective Date” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.12(a).

“Extension Notice” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.12(a).

“Extensions of Credit” means, as to any Lender at any time, an amount equal to the sum of (a) the aggregate principal amount of all Revolving Credit Loans made by
such Lender then outstanding, (b) such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of the L/C Obligations then outstanding, (c) the aggregate principal amount of all
Competitive Bid Loans made by such Lender then outstanding and (d) such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of all Swingline Loans then outstanding. 
“Extension of Credit” means, as to any Lender (a) any component of such Lender’s Extensions of Credit or (b) the making of, or participation in, a
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Loan by such Lender or the issuance or extension of, or participation in, a Letter of Credit by such Lender, as the context may require.

“Facility Fee” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 4.3(a).

“FDIC” means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or any successor thereto.

“Federal Funds Rate” shall mean, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100  of 1%) equal to the weighted average of the
rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with member banks of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York on the next succeeding Business Day or if such rate is not so published for any Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rounded
upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100th of 1% of the quotations for such day on such transactions received by the Administrative Agent from three Federal funds brokers of
recognized standing selected by the Administrative Agent.

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Company and its Subsidiaries ending on or about December 31.

“Foreign Currency Sublimit” shall mean $200,000,000, as such amount may be reduced from time to time pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

“Foreign Lender” means any Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Company is located.  For purposes of this
definition, the United States of America, each state thereof and the District of Columbia shall be deemed to constitute a single jurisdiction.

“Foreign Obligor” means a Borrower that is a Foreign Subsidiary.

“Foreign Pension Plan” shall mean any plan, fund (including, without limitation, any superannuation fund) or other similar program established or maintained
outside the United States of America by a Borrower or any one or more of its Subsidiaries primarily for the benefit of employees of such Borrower or such Subsidiaries
residing outside the United States of America, which plan, fund or other similar program provides, or results in, retirement income, a deferral of income in contemplation of
retirement or payments to be made upon termination of employment, and which plan is not subject to ERISA or the Code.

“Foreign Subsidiary” means each Subsidiary of the Company that is not incorporated under the laws of the United States or any State or territory thereof.

“Fund” means any Person (other than a natural Person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans and
similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles, as recognized by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, consistently applied and maintained on a consistent basis throughout the period indicated.
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“Governmental Approvals” means all authorizations, consents, approvals, licenses and exemptions of, registrations and filings with, and reports to, all Governmental
Authorities.
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“Governmental Authority” means any nation, province, state or political subdivision thereof, and any government or any Person exercising executive, legislative,
regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government, and any corporation or other entity owned or controlled, through stock or capital ownership or
otherwise, by any of the foregoing.

“Guaranteed Obligations” means, without duplication, all of the Obligations of the Designated Borrowers to the Lenders and the Administrative Agent, whenever
arising, under this Agreement, the Borrower Joinder Agreements, any L/C Applications, the Notes and any other Loan Documents (including, but not limited to, obligations
with respect to principal, interest and fees and obligations of any Designated Borrower under Section 13.2 hereof).

“Hazardous Materials” means any substances or materials (a) which are or become regulated or defined as hazardous wastes, hazardous substances, pollutants,
contaminants, chemical substances or mixtures or toxic substances under any Environmental Law, (b) which are toxic, explosive, corrosive, flammable, infectious,
radioactive, carcinogenic, mutagenic or otherwise harmful to human health or the environment and are or become regulated by any Governmental Authority, (c) the presence
of which require investigation or remediation under any Environmental Law, (d) the discharge or emission or release of which requires a permit or license under any
Applicable Law or other Governmental Approval, or (e) which contain, without limitation, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, urea formaldehyde foam insulation,
petroleum hydrocarbons, petroleum derived substances or waste, crude oil, nuclear fuel, natural gas or synthetic gas.

“Hedging Agreement” means any agreement with respect to an interest rate swap, collar, cap, floor or forward rate agreement, foreign currency agreement or other
agreement regarding the hedging of interest rate risk exposure executed in connection with hedging the interest rate exposure of any Person, and any confirming letter
executed pursuant to such hedging agreement, all as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“ICC” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.1.

“Increase Effective Date” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.13(d).

“Information” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 5.1(g)(2).

“Interest Period” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 4.1(b).

“Investment” in any Person means (a) the acquisition (whether for cash, property, services, assumption of Debt, securities or otherwise) of shares of Capital Stock,
bonds, notes, debentures, partnership, joint ventures or other ownership interests or securities issued by such Person, (b) any deposit with, or advance, loan or other extension
of credit to, such Person (other than those made in connection with the purchase of equipment or other assets in the ordinary course of business) or (c) any other capital
contribution to or investment in such Person including, without limitation, any Support Obligation (including any support for a letter of credit issued on behalf of such person)
incurred for the benefit of such Person.
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“ISP” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 3.1.

“Issuing Lender” means with respect to any Letter of Credit, SunTrust Bank in its capacity as issuer of such Letter of Credit and any successor Issuing Lender
appointed pursuant to Section 13.9(h) upon the resignation of SunTrust Bank.

“Judgment Currency” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 13.20.

“L/C Application” means an application, in the form specified by any Issuing Lender from time to time, requesting such Issuing Lender to issue a Letter of Credit.

“L/C Commitment” means Fifty Million Dollars ($50,000,000).

“L/C Facility” means the letter of credit facility established pursuant to Article III hereof.

“L/C Fee” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 3.3(a).

“L/C Obligations” means at any time, an amount equal to the sum of (a) the Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate undrawn and unexpired amount of the then
outstanding Letters of Credit and (b) the Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate amount of drawings under Letters of Credit which have not then been reimbursed pursuant to
Section 3.5.

“L/C Participants” means the collective reference to all the Lenders having a Revolving Credit Commitment other than the applicable Issuing Lender.

“Lender” means each Person executing this Agreement as a Lender as set forth on the signature pages hereto and each Person that hereafter becomes a party to this
Agreement as a Lender pursuant to Section 13.9(b), other than any party hereto that ceases to be a party hereto pursuant to any Assignment and Acceptance.

“Lender Default” means (a) the refusal (which has not been retracted) or the failure of a Lender to make available its portion of any Mandatory Borrowing or (b) a
Lender having notified in writing the Company and/or the Administrative Agent that such Lender does not intend to comply with its obligations under Section 2.6(b), in the
case of either clause (a) or (b) as a result of any takeover or control of such Lender by any Governmental Authority.

“Lending Office” means, with respect to any Lender, the office of such Lender maintaining such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of the
Revolving Credit Loans.

“Letter of Credit” means any standby or commercial letter of credit issued hereunder.

“Leverage Ratio” means, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Funded Debt on such day to (b) Consolidated EBITDA for the period of
four (4) consecutive fiscal quarters ending as of such day.

“LIBOR” means for any Offshore Rate Loan for any Interest Period, the rate per annum quoted at or about 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) two business days
before the
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commencement of such Interest Period on that page of the Reuters, Telerate or Bloombergs reporting service (as then being used by the Administrative Agent to obtain such
interest rate quotes) that displays British Bankers’ Association interest settlement rates for deposits in the applicable currency of such eurocurrency borrowing, or if such page
or such service shall cease to be available, such other page or other service (as the case may be) for the purpose of displaying British Bankers’ Association interest settlement
rates as reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent upon advising the Company as to the use of any such service.  If for any reason any such interest settlement rate
for such Interest Period is not available to the Administrative Agent through any such interest rate reporting service, then “LIBOR” with respect to such borrowing will be the
rate at which the Administrative Agent is offered deposits for such applicable currency in the Dollar Equivalent of $1,000,000 for a period approximately equal to such
Interest Period in the London interbank market at 10:00 a.m. two Business Days before the commencement of such Interest Period.

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset.  For the purposes of
this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed to own subject to a Lien any asset which it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional
sale agreement, Capital Lease (excluding, however, any synthetic leases) or other title retention agreement relating to such asset.

“Loan Documents” means, collectively, this Agreement, the Notes, the Administrative Agent’s Fee Letter, the L/C Applications, any Borrower Joinder Agreement
and each other document, instrument and agreement executed and delivered by any Borrower, its Subsidiaries in connection with this Agreement or otherwise contemplated
hereby, all as may be amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Loans” means the collective reference to the Revolving Credit Loans, the Competitive Bid Loans and the Swingline Loans; “Loan” means any one of such Loans.

“Mandatory Borrowing” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.6(b).

“Mandatory Cost” means the percentage rate per annum calculated by the Administrative Agent in accordance with Schedule 4.1(f).

“Material Adverse Effect” means any of (a) a material adverse effect on the business, assets, liabilities (actual or contingent), operations, condition (financial or
otherwise) or prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) a material adverse effect on the ability of any Borrower to perform its obligations under the
Loan Documents, in each case to which it is a party, or (c) a material adverse effect on the rights or remedies of the Lenders or the Administrative Agent hereunder or under
any other Loan Document.

“Material Subsidiary” shall mean at any time any direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Company having: (a) assets in an amount equal to at least 5% of the total assets
of the Company and its Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis as of the last day of the most recent fiscal quarter of the Company at such time; or (b) revenues or net
income in an amount equal to at least 5% of the total revenues or net income of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated
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basis for the 12-month period ending on the last day of the most recent fiscal quarter of the Company at such time.

“Maturity Date” means the later of (a) July 24, 2011 and (b) if maturity is extended pursuant to Section 2.12, such extended maturity date as determined pursuant to
such Section; provided, however, that, in each case, if such date is not a Business Day, the Maturity Date shall be the next preceding Business Day.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or any successor or assignee in the business of rating securities.

“Multiemployer Plan” means a “multiemployer plan” as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA to which a Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate is making, has made,
is accruing or has accrued an obligation to make, contributions within the preceding six years.

“Non-Extending Lender” shall have the meaning given thereto in Section 2.12(b).

“Notes” means the collective reference to the Revolving Credit Notes; “Note” means any one of such Notes.

“Notice Date” shall have the meaning given thereto in Section 2.12(b).

“Notice of Account Designation” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.2(b).

“Notice of Conversion/Continuation” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 4.2.

“Notice of Prepayment” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.3(c).

“Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.2(a).

“Notice of Swingline Borrowing” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.6(d).

“Obligations” means, in each case, whether now in existence or hereafter arising: (a) the principal of and interest on (including interest accruing after the filing of any
bankruptcy or similar petition) the Loans, and (b) all other fees and commissions (including reasonable and actual attorney’s fees), charges, indebtedness, loans, liabilities,
financial accommodations, obligations, covenants and duties owing by the Borrowers to the Lenders or the Administrative Agent, of every kind, nature and description, direct
or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, contractual or tortious, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether or not evidenced by any note, in each case under or in
respect of this Agreement, any Note, or any of the other Loan Documents.

“Officer’s Compliance Certificate” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 7.2.
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“Offshore Currency” means euro, Australian Dollars, Canadian Dollars, Singapore Dollars, Swedish Kroner, Danish Kroner, Norwegian Kroner, Japanese Yen, New
Zealand Dollars, Sterling, Swiss Franc and any Agreed Alternative Currency determined in accordance with Section 2.9(e).

“Offshore Currency Loan” means any Offshore Rate Loan or Competitive Bid Loan denominated in an Offshore Currency.
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“Offshore Rate” means, for any Interest Period, with respect to an Offshore Rate Loan, the rate of interest per annum (rounded upward to the next 1/100 of 1%)
determined by the Administrative Agent as follows:

Offshore Rate = LIBOR
1.00 - Eurodollar Reserve Percentage

 
The Offshore Rate shall be adjusted automatically as to all Offshore Rate Loans then outstanding as of the effective date of any change in the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage.

“Offshore Rate Loan” means a Revolving Credit Loan or a Swingline Loan bearing interest at a rate based upon the Offshore Rate as provided in Section 4.1(a) and,
if a Revolving Credit Loan, may be an Offshore Currency Loan or a Revolving Credit Loan denominated in Dollars.

“Operating Lease” shall mean, as to any Person, as determined in accordance with GAAP, any lease of property (whether real, personal or mixed) by such Person as
lessee which is not a Capital Lease.

“Operating Profit” means, as applied to any Person for any period, the operating revenue of such Person for such period, less (i) its costs of services for such period
and (ii) its selling, general and administrative costs for such period but excluding therefrom all extraordinary gains or losses, all as determined and computed in accordance
with GAAP.

“Other Taxes” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 4.11(b).

“Participant” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 13.9(d).

“Participating Member State” means each country so described in any EMU Legislation.

“Patriot Act” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6.1(x).

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA or any successor agency.

“Pension Plan” means any Employee Benefit Plan, other than a Multiemployer Plan, which is subject to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the
Code and is maintained for the employees of a Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates.
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“Permitted Securitization Subsidiary” shall mean any Subsidiary of the Company that (i) is directly or indirectly wholly-owned by the Company, (ii) is formed and
operated solely for purposes of a Permitted Securitization Transaction provided that such Permitted Securitization Subsidiary may invest up to $3,500,000 in publicly traded
stock of one or more Persons, and (iii) has organizational documents which limit the permitted activities of such Permitted Securitization Subsidiary to the acquisition of
accounts receivable and related rights from the Company or one or more of its Consolidated Subsidiaries or another Permitted Securitization Subsidiary, the securitization or
other financing of such accounts receivable and related rights and activities necessary or incidental to the foregoing.

“Permitted Securitization Transaction” shall mean the transfer by the Company or one or more of its Consolidated Subsidiaries of receivables and rights related
thereto to one or more Permitted Securitization Subsidiaries and the related financing of such receivables and rights related thereto; provided that the aggregate total amount
of all Debt outstanding to third parties under all Permitted Securitization Transactions shall not exceed $250,000,000 in the aggregate outstanding at any time.

“Person” means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, trust, business trust, joint venture, joint stock company, pool,
syndicate, sole proprietorship, unincorporated organization, Governmental Authority or any other form of entity or group thereof.

“Platform” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 7.1(c).

“Pricing Level” means the level on the table of Applicable Percentages corresponding to the Applicable Rating of the Company then in effect.

“Prime Rate” shall mean the rate which SunTrust announces from time to time as its prime lending rate, as in effect from time to time (any changes in such rate to be
effective as of the date of any change in such rate).  The SunTrust prime lending rate is a reference rate and does not necessarily represent the lowest or best rate actually
charged to any customer.  SunTrust may make commercial loans or other loans at rates of interest at, above, or below the SunTrust prime lending rate.

“Property” means any interest in any kind of property or asset, whether real, personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible.

“Public Lender” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 7.1(c).

“Real Property” of any Person shall mean all the right, title and interest of such Person in and to land, improvements and fixtures, including leaseholds.

“Register” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 13.9(c).

“Reimbursement Obligation” means the obligation of a Borrower to reimburse each Issuing Lender pursuant to Section 3.5 for amounts drawn under Letters of
Credit issued at the request of the Company, on behalf of such Borrower.
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“Related Parties” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the respective directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person
and such Person’s Affiliates.

“Reportable Event” shall mean an event described in Section 4043(c) of ERISA with respect to a Pension Plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA other than those
events as to which the 30-day notice period is waived under subsection .22, ..23, .27 or .28 of PBGC Regulation Section 4043.

“Required Lenders” means, at any date, any combination of Lenders whose Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage in the aggregate exceeds more than fifty
percent (50%) of the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment or, if the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment has been terminated, any combination of Lenders who
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collectively hold more than fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Extensions of Credit (excluding the aggregate unpaid principal amount of
Competitive Bid Loans); provided that, for purposes of declaring the Loans to be due and payable pursuant to Article XI, and for all purposes after the Loans become due and
payable pursuant to Article XI, the outstanding Competitive Bid Loans of the Lenders shall be included in the Lenders’ respective Revolving Credit Commitment or
Extensions of Credit, as applicable, in determining the Required Lenders.

“Responsible Officer” means any of the following: the chairman, president, chief executive officer, chief financial officer or treasurer of the Company or any other
officer of the Company reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent; provided that the term “Responsible Officer” shall be deemed to refer to only the treasurer or chief
financial officer of the Company in connection with any matters involving the determination of financial covenant compliance or the certification of financial statements.

“Restricted Investments” means Investments in joint ventures and other Persons which are not Consolidated Subsidiaries.  Restricted Investments shall not include
Investments made in the acquisition of a Person which becomes a Consolidated Subsidiary upon the closing of such acquisition.

“Restricted Payment” means (i) any dividend or other payment or distribution, direct or indirect, on account of any shares of any class of Capital Stock of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, now or hereafter outstanding (including without limitation any payment in connection with any dissolution, merger, consolidation or
disposition involving any of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries), or to the holders, in their capacity as such, of any shares of any class of Capital Stock of the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries, now or hereafter outstanding (other than dividends or distributions payable in Capital Stock of the applicable Person and dividends or distributions
payable (directly or indirectly through Subsidiaries) to the Company or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Company), (ii) any redemption, retirement, sinking fund or
similar payment, purchase or other acquisition for value, direct or indirect, of any shares of any class of Capital Stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, now or
hereafter outstanding (other than such transactions payable (directly or indirectly through Subsidiaries) to the Company or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Company)
and (iii) any payment made to retire, or to obtain the surrender of, any outstanding warrants, options or other rights to acquire shares of any class of Capital Stock
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of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than such payments payable (directly or indirectly through Subsidiaries) to the Company or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary
of the Company).

“Revolving Credit Commitment” means as to any Lender, the obligation of such Lender to make Revolving Credit Loans for the accounts of the Borrowers in an
aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount at any time outstanding not to exceed the amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 1.1(a) hereto as such
amount may be reduced or modified at any time or from time to time pursuant to the terms hereof.

“Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage” means, as to any Lender at any time, the ratio of (a) the amount of the Revolving Credit Commitment of such Lender to
(b) the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment.

“Revolving Credit Facility” means the revolving credit facility established pursuant to Section 2.1 hereof.

“Revolving Credit Loans” means the collective reference to the revolving loans made to a Borrower pursuant to Section 2.2 under the Revolving Credit Facility;
“Revolving Credit Loan” means any of such Revolving Credit Loans.

“Revolving Credit Notes” means the collective reference to the Revolving Credit Notes made by the applicable Borrower payable to the order of each Lender with a
Revolving Credit Commitment substantially in the form of Exhibit A-1 hereto or Exhibit A-2 hereto, as appropriate, and any amendments and modifications thereto, any
substitutes therefor, and any replacements, restatements, renewals or extensions thereof, in whole or in part; “Revolving Credit Note” means any of such Revolving Credit
Notes.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. or any successor or assignee in the business of rating securities.

“Sale and Leaseback Transaction” means any direct or indirect arrangement with any Person or to which any such Person is a party, providing for the leasing to any
Borrower or Subsidiary thereof of any Property, whether owned by such Borrower or Subsidiary as of the Closing Date or later acquired, which has been or is to be sold or
transferred by such Borrower or Subsidiary to such Person or to any other Person from whom funds have been, or are to be, advanced by such Person on the security of such
Property.

“SEC Reports” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6.1(w).

“Spot Rate” for a currency means the rate quoted by the Administrative Agent as the spot rate for the purchase by the Administrative Agent of such currency with
another currency through its foreign exchange trading office at approximately 8:00 a.m. (Atlanta time) on the date two Business Days prior to the date as of which the foreign
exchange computation is made.

“SPV” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 13.9(i)(i).

“Standard Securitization Undertakings” shall mean any obligations and undertakings of the Company and any Consolidated Subsidiary consisting of representations,
warranties,
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covenants, and indemnities standard in securitization transactions and related servicing of receivables.

“Sterling” means Pound Sterling, the currency of the United Kingdom.

“Subordinated Debt” means the collective reference to Debt of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof subordinated in right and time of payment to the Obligations
and otherwise permitted hereunder.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person (the “parent”) at any date, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity the
accounts of which would be Consolidated with those of the parent in the parent’s Consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance
with GAAP as of such date, as well as any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity (a) of which securities or other ownership
interests representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the equity or more than fifty percent (50%) of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than fifty
percent (50%) of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held, or (b) that is, as of such date, otherwise controlled, by the parent or one or
more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of the parent.  As used herein, for purposes of any covenant, a Subsidiary of the Company or a



Borrower refers to all direct and indirect Subsidiaries of such Person.  Unless otherwise qualified, references to “Subsidiary” or “Subsidiaries” herein shall refer to those of
the Company.

“SunTrust” means SunTrust Bank and its successors and assigns.

“Support Obligation” means, with respect to any Person and its Subsidiaries, without duplication, any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of any such Person
pursuant to which such Person has directly or indirectly guaranteed any Debt of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct
or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of any such Person (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Debt (whether arising by
virtue of partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement condition or
otherwise) or (b) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such Debt of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect
thereof (in whole or in part); provided that the term Support Obligation shall not include (i) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business or (ii) a
contractual commitment by one Person to invest in another Person for so long as such investment is expected to constitute a Permitted Investment.

“Swingline Lender” means SunTrust in its capacity as issuer of any Swingline Loan.

“Swingline Loans” means the collective reference to the revolving loans made by the Swingline Lender pursuant to Section 2.6; “Swingline Loan” means any of
such Swingline Loans.

“Swingline Maximum” means Fifty Million Dollars ($50,000,000).
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“Swingline Rate” shall mean, for any Interest Period, the rate as offered by the Administrative Agent and accepted by the Company.  The Company is under no
obligation to accept this rate and the Administrative Agent is under no obligation to provide it.

“TARGET” means the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross settlement Express Transfer system.

“TARGET Business Day” means a day when TARGET is open for business.

“Taxes” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 4.11(a).

“Termination Date” means the earliest of the dates referred to in Section 2.8.

“Termination Event” means any of the following:  (a) the occurrence of a Reportable Event, or (b) the withdrawal of a Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from a
Pension Plan during a plan year in which it was a “substantial employer” as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA, or (c) the termination of a Pension Plan, the filing of a
notice of intent to terminate a Pension Plan or the treatment of a Pension Plan amendment as a termination under Section 4041 of ERISA, or (d) the institution of proceedings
to terminate, or to seek the appointment of a trustee with respect to, any Pension Plan by the PBGC, or (e) any other event or condition which would constitute grounds under
Section 4042(a) of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer any Pension Plan, or (f) the partial or complete withdrawal of a Borrower or any
ERISA Affiliate from a Multiemployer Plan, or (g) the imposition of a Lien pursuant to Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, or (h) any event or condition which
results in the reorganization or insolvency of a Multiemployer Plan under Sections 4241 or 4245 of ERISA, (i) any event or condition which results in the termination of a
Multiemployer Plan under Section 4041A of ERISA or the institution by PBGC of proceedings to terminate a Multiemployer Plan under Section 4042 of ERISA or (j) the
withdrawal or partial withdrawal of any Borrower or ERISA Affiliate from a Multiemployer Plan.

“Treaty on European Union” means the Treaty of Rome of March 25, 1957, as amended by the Single European Act 1986 and the Maastricht Treaty (which was
signed at Maastricht on February 1, 1992 and came into force on November 1, 1993), as amended from time to time.

“UCC” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State in which the corporate headquarters of the relevant Issuing
Lender is located or such other jurisdiction as is acceptable to the relevant Issuing Lender, as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time
to time.

“Unfunded Current Liability” of any Pension Plan means the amount, if any, by which the actuarial present value of the accumulated plan benefits under the Pension
Plan as of the close of its most recent year, determined in accordance with actuarial assumptions at such time consistent with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No
87, exceeds the sum of (a) the market value of the assets allocable thereto and (b) $100,000.

“United States” means the United States of America.
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“Wholly-Owned” means, with respect to a Subsidiary, that all of the shares of capital stock or other ownership interests of such Subsidiary (except directors’
qualifying shares, or, in the case of any Subsidiary which is not organized or created under the laws of the United States of America or any political subdivision thereof, such
nominal ownership interests which are required to be held by third parties under the laws of the foreign jurisdiction under which such Subsidiary was incorporated or
organized) are, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by any Borrower and/or one or more of its Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries.

SECTION 1.2  General.

Unless otherwise specified, a reference in this Agreement to a particular section, subsection, Schedule or Exhibit is a reference to that section, subsection, Schedule
or Exhibit of this Agreement.  Wherever from the context it appears appropriate, each term stated in either the singular or plural shall include the singular and plural, and
pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall include the masculine, feminine and neuter.  Any reference herein to “Atlanta time,” “San Francisco time”
or “London time” shall refer to the applicable time of day in Atlanta, Georgia, San Francisco, California or London, England, as applicable.  All references to a specific time
shall be construed to refer to the time in the city and state of the Administrative Agent’s principal office, unless otherwise indicated.

SECTION 1.3  Other Definitions and Provisions.

(a)           Use of Capitalized Terms.  Unless otherwise defined therein, all capitalized terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings provided
herein when used in this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents or any certificate, report or other document made or delivered pursuant to this Agreement.



(b)           Miscellaneous.  The words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a
whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.  The words “include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without
limitation”.  The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”.  In the computation of periods of time from a specified date to a later
specified date, the word “from” means “from and including” and the word “to” means “to but excluding”. Unless the context requires otherwise (i) any definition of or
reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as it was originally executed
or as it may from time to time be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth
herein), (ii) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and permitted assigns, and (iii) all references to Articles, Sections,
Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement.

SECTION 1.4  Currency Equivalents Generally.

For all purposes of this Agreement (but not for purposes of the preparation of any financial statements delivered pursuant hereto or determining in compliance with
any covenant herein), the equivalent in any Offshore Currency or other currency of an amount in Dollars, and
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the equivalent in Dollars of an amount in any Offshore Currency or other currency, shall be determined at the Spot Rate.

SECTION 1.5  Special Provisions Relating to Currency.

(a)           Currency Translations; Rounding.  Any translation from one currency or currency unit to another shall be at the rate specified herein or, if not so specified,
then at the official rate of exchange legally recognized by the central bank of the country issuing such currency for the conversion of that currency or currency unit into the
other.  Any such translation shall be rounded up or down by the Administrative Agent acting in accordance with any Applicable Law on rounding or, if there is no such law,
acting reasonably in accordance with its market practice.

(b)           Changes in Currency.  If a change in any currency of a country occurs, the Borrowers agree to negotiate promptly and in good faith an amendment to this
Agreement that effectuates those modifications the Administrative Agent (acting reasonably and in consultation with the Company) specifies to be necessary to reflect the
change in currency and to put the parties hereto in the same position, as far as possible, that they would have been in if no change in currency had occurred; provided that any
such amendments will not adversely affect the Lenders.  If, in relation to the currency of any member state of the European Community, the basis of accrual of interest
expressed in this Agreement in respect of that currency shall be inconsistent with any convention or practice in the London interbank market for the basis of accrual of interest
in respect of the euro, such expressed basis shall be replaced by such convention or practice with effect from the date on which such member state adopts the euro as its lawful
currency; provided that if any Loan in the currency of such member state is outstanding immediately prior to such date, such replacement shall take effect, with respect to such
Loan, at the end of the then current Interest Period.

ARTICLE II
CREDIT FACILITIES

SECTION 2.1  Amount and Terms of Credit.

(a)           Description of Facilities.  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement: (i) the Lenders hereby grant to the Borrowers a
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) pursuant to which each Lender severally agrees to make Revolving Credit Loans to the respective Borrowers in
accordance with Section 2.2, and the Swingline Lender agrees to make Swingline Loans to the Company in Dollars in accordance with Section 2.6 and (ii) the parties hereto
agree that each Lender may, in its sole discretion, make bids to make Competitive Bid Loans to the respective Borrowers in Dollars and Offshore Currencies, in accordance
with Section 2.5; provided that (A) the aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount of all outstanding Revolving Credit Loans (after giving effect to any amount requested)
made under the Revolving Credit Facility plus the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Swingline Loans made under the Revolving Credit Facility (after giving effect
to the amount of any Swingline Loans requested under the Revolving Credit Facility and exclusive of Swingline Loans made under the Revolving Credit Facility which are
repaid with the proceeds of, and simultaneously with the incurrence of, Revolving Credit Loans under the Revolving Credit Facility) shall not exceed the Aggregate Revolving
Credit Commitment less the sum of
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(x) all outstanding L/C Obligations plus (y) the aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount of all outstanding Competitive Bid Loans; (B) the principal Dollar Equivalent
amount of outstanding Revolving Credit Loans by any Lender plus Lender’s pro rata share of its participation interests in all outstanding L/C Obligations and Swingline
Loans shall not at any time exceed such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment; and (C) the aggregate Dollar Equivalent amount of outstanding Revolving Credit Loans and
Competitive Bid Loans funded in an Offshore Currency shall at no time exceed the Foreign Currency Sublimit then in effect.  Each Revolving Credit Loan made by a Lender
shall be in a principal Dollar Equivalent amount equal to such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of the aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount of
Revolving Credit Loans requested under such facility on such occasion.

(b)           Application of Facilities.  The Credit Facility established hereby shall be used by the Borrowers and their respective Subsidiaries to:

(i)            refinance existing Debt of the Company and its Subsidiaries (if any);

(ii)           finance non-hostile acquisitions by the Company and its Subsidiaries that are permitted hereunder; and

(iii)          finance the working capital, capital expenditures and other lawful corporate purposes of the Company and its Subsidiaries;

and, accordingly, each of the Borrowers shall apply all amounts raised by such Borrower hereunder in or towards satisfaction of such purposes, and neither the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders nor any of them shall be obliged to concern themselves with such application.

SECTION 2.2  Procedure for Advances of Revolving Credit Loans.

(a)           Requests for Revolving Credit Loans.  The Company, on behalf of a Borrower, shall give the Administrative Agent irrevocable prior written notice in the
form attached hereto as Exhibit B-1 (a “Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing”) not later than 11:00 a.m. (Atlanta time) (i) on the same Business Day of the date of
borrowing for each Base Rate Loan, (ii) at least two (2) Business Days before each Offshore Rate Loan denominated in Dollars, and (iii) at least three (3) Business Days before
each Offshore Currency Loan, of its intention to borrow, specifying (A) the date of such borrowing, which shall be a Business Day, (B) the amount of such borrowing, which
shall be in an amount equal to the unused amount of the Revolving Credit Commitment, as applicable, or if less, (x) with respect to Base Rate Loans, in a principal amount of



$500,000 or a whole multiple of $100,000 in excess thereof, (y) with respect to Offshore Rate Loans denominated in Dollars, in an aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000
or a whole multiple of $500,000 in excess thereof and (z) with respect to Offshore Rate Loans denominated in an Offshore Currency, in an aggregate principal amount of a
whole multiple of 500,000 units of such Offshore Currency in excess of an amount of such Offshore Currency having a Dollar Equivalent of $1,000,000, (C) whether such
Revolving Credit Loan is to be an Offshore Rate Loan or Base Rate Loan, (D) in the case of an Offshore Rate Loan, the duration of the Interest Period applicable thereto and
in the case of Offshore Rate Loans, the Applicable Currency and (E) the name of the applicable Borrower.  Notices received after 11:00 a.m. (Atlanta time) shall be deemed
received on the next Business Day.  The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify
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the Lenders of each Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing.  The Dollar Equivalent amount of an Offshore Currency Loan will be determined by the Administrative Agent for
such Offshore Currency Loan on the Determination Date therefor in accordance with Section 2.9(a).

(b)           Disbursement of Revolving Credit Loans.  Each Lender will make available to the Administrative Agent, for the accounts of the respective Borrowers, at
the Administrative Agent’s Office in funds immediately available to the Administrative Agent, such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of the Revolving
Credit Loans to be made on such borrowing date (i) in the case of a Revolving Credit Loan denominated in Dollars, no later than 2:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on the proposed
borrowing date and (ii) in the case of a Revolving Credit Loan that is an Offshore Currency Loan, by such time as the Administrative Agent may determine to be necessary for
such funds to be credited on such date in accordance with normal banking practices in the place of payment.  Each Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes the Administrative
Agent, and the Administrative Agent hereby agrees, to disburse the proceeds of each borrowing requested by the Company, on behalf of such Borrower, pursuant to this
Section 2.2 in immediately available funds by no later than 3:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on the proposed borrowing date by crediting or wiring such proceeds to the deposit
account of such Borrower identified in the most recent notice of account designation, substantially in the form of Exhibit C hereto (a “Notice of Account Designation”),
delivered by the Company, on behalf of such Borrower, to the Administrative Agent or as may be otherwise agreed upon by such Borrower and the Administrative Agent
from time to time.  Subject to Section 4.7 hereof, the Administrative Agent shall not be obligated to disburse the portion of the proceeds of any Revolving Credit Loan
requested pursuant to this Section 2.2 for which any Lender is responsible to the extent that such Lender has not made available to the Administrative Agent its Revolving
Credit Commitment Percentage of such Revolving Credit Loan.

SECTION 2.3  Repayment of Loans.

(a)           Repayment on Termination Date.  Each Borrower agrees to repay the outstanding principal amount of all Loans made to it under, and its Reimbursement
Obligation under, the Revolving Credit Facility in full on the Termination Date, with all accrued but unpaid interest thereon.

(b)           Mandatory Repayment of Loans.

(i)            If at any time the sum of the outstanding principal Dollar Equivalent amount of all Loans and all outstanding L/C Obligations exceeds the Revolving
Credit Commitment of all Lenders, in each case other than solely as a result of a change in applicable rates of exchange between Dollars and Offshore Currencies, the
Borrowers agree to repay immediately upon notice from the Administrative Agent, by payment to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders, Revolving
Credit Loans, Swingline Loans or Competitive Bid Loans made to it, L/C Obligations incurred by it and/or furnish cash collateral reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent, in an amount equal to such excess.  Such cash collateral shall be applied in accordance with Section 11.2(b).
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(ii)           If on any Determination Date, the Administrative Agent shall have determined that the aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount of all Loans
and L/C Obligations then outstanding exceeds the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment by more than $5,000,000 due to a change in applicable rates of exchange
between Dollars and Offshore Currencies, then the Administrative Agent shall give notice to the Company that a prepayment is required under this Section 2.3(b)(ii)
and each of the Borrowers agrees thereupon to make prepayments of Loans made to it within two (2) Business Days after the Company’s receipt of such notice such
that, after giving effect to such prepayments, the aggregate Dollar Equivalent amount of all Loans and L/C Obligations then outstanding does not exceed the Aggregate
Revolving Credit Commitment.

(iii)          If on any Determination Date, the Administrative Agent shall have determined that the aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount of all Offshore
Currency Loans then outstanding exceeds the Foreign Currency Sublimit by more than $5,000,000 due to a change in applicable rates of exchange between Dollars
and Offshore Currencies, then the Administrative Agent shall give notice to the Company that a prepayment is required under this Section 2.3(b)(iii) and each of the
Borrowers agrees thereupon to make prepayments of Loans made to it within two (2) Business Days after the Company’s receipt of such notice such that, after giving
effect to such prepayments, the aggregate Dollar Equivalent amount of all Offshore Currency Loans then outstanding does not exceed the Foreign Currency Sublimit.

(iv)          Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 2.3(b)(ii) or (iii), the mandatory repayment described in such Section of any Offshore Rate
Loans may be delayed until the last day of the Interest Period applicable to such Offshore Rate Loans; provided that if the Borrowers so delay repayment of Offshore
Rate Loans, the Borrowers shall deposit or cause to be deposited, on the day repayment would have otherwise been required, in a cash collateral account opened by the
Administrative Agent, an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of such delayed mandatory repayment of Offshore Rate Loans and any accrued but unpaid
interest thereon.  Any repayment of Offshore Rate Loans hereunder other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto shall be accompanied by any
amount required to be paid pursuant to Section 4.9 hereof.

(c)           Optional Repayments.  Each Borrower may at any time and from time to time repay the Revolving Credit Loans or Swingline Loans made to it, in whole or
in part, upon at least two (2) Business Days irrevocable notice by the Company to the Administrative Agent with respect to Offshore Rate Loans and prior irrevocable notice
on the same Business Day as the date of prepayment with respect to Base Rate Loans, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D (a “Notice of Prepayment”) specifying the date
and amount of repayment; whether the repayment is of Revolving Credit Loans or Swingline Loans and whether the repayment is of Offshore Rate Loans, Base Rate Loans, or
a combination thereof, and, if of a combination, the amount allocable to each.  Upon receipt of such notice, the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Lender.  If
any such notice is given, the amount specified in such notice shall be due and payable on the date set forth in such notice.  Partial repayments shall be in an aggregate amount
of $500,000 or a whole multiple of $100,000 in excess thereof with respect to Swingline Loans or
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Base Rate Loans and $1,000,000 or a whole multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof with respect to Offshore Rate Loans.



(d)           Limitation on Repayment of Offshore Rate Loans.  The Borrowers may not repay any Offshore Rate Loan on any day other than on the last day of the
Interest Period applicable thereto unless such repayment is accompanied by any amount required to be paid pursuant to Section 4.9 hereof.

(e)           Limitation on Repayment of Competitive Bid Loans.  The Borrowers may not repay any Competitive Bid Loan on any day other than on the last day of the
Interest Period applicable thereto except, and on such terms, as agreed to by the Borrower to which the Competitive Bid Loan was made and the Lender which made such
Competitive Bid Loan.

SECTION 2.4  Revolving Credit Notes; Evidence of Debt.

(a)           The Revolving Credit Loans and other credit extensions made by each Lender shall be evidenced by one or more accounts or records maintained by such
Lender and by the Administrative Agent in the ordinary course of business.  The accounts or records maintained by the Administrative Agent and each Lender shall, in the
absence of manifest error, be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the Obligations therein recorded; provided, however, that the failure of the Administrative
Agent or any Lender to maintain such accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of each Borrower to repay the Obligations in accordance with
their terms.  In the event of any conflict between the accounts and records maintained by any Lender and the accounts and records of the Administrative Agent in respect of
such matters, the accounts and records of the Administrative Agent shall control in the absence of manifest error.  Upon the request of any Lender made through the
Administrative Agent, each Borrower shall execute and deliver to such Lender (through the Administrative Agent) a Revolving Credit Note, which shall evidence such
Lender’s Revolving Credit Loans in addition to such accounts or records.  Each Lender may attach schedules to its Note and endorse thereon the date, the amount and
maturity of its Revolving Credit Loans and payments with respect thereto.

(b)           In addition to the accounts and records referred to in subsection (a), each Lender and the Administrative Agent shall maintain in accordance with its usual
practice accounts or records evidencing the purchases and sales by such Lender of participations in Letters of Credit and Swingline Loans.  In the event of any conflict
between the accounts and records maintained by the Administrative Agent and the accounts and records of any Lender in respect of such matters, the accounts and records of
the Administrative Agent shall control in the absence of manifest error.

SECTION 2.5  Competitive Bid Loans and Procedure.

(a)           Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, from time to time until the Termination Date, the Company, on behalf of each Borrower, may request
Competitive Bids under the Revolving Credit Facility, and may (but shall not have any obligation to) accept Competitive Bids and borrow Competitive Bid Loans, which shall
be denominated in Dollars or Offshore Currencies; provided that the sum of the aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount
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of outstanding Revolving Credit Loans and Swingline Loans plus the aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount of outstanding Competitive Bid Loans made thereunder at
any time shall not exceed the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment less the sum of all outstanding L/C Obligations.  To request Competitive Bids, the Company, on
behalf of a Borrower, shall notify the Administrative Agent of such request by telephone, not later than 11:00 a.m. (Atlanta time) four (4) Business Days before the date of the
proposed borrowing.  Each such telephonic Competitive Bid Request shall be confirmed promptly by hand delivery or telecopy to the Administrative Agent of a written
Competitive Bid Request in a form approved by the Administrative Agent and signed by the Company.  Each such telephonic and written Competitive Bid Request shall
specify the following information:

(i)            the identity of the Borrower;

(ii)           the aggregate amount of the requested borrowing, which shall be a minimum of $5,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) and an integral
multiple of $1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) in excess thereof;

(iii)          whether such borrowing is to be made in Dollars or an Offshore Currency, and if an Offshore Currency, specifying such currency;

(iv)          the date of such borrowing, which shall be a Business Day;

(v)           the Interest Period to be applicable to such borrowing, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term “Interest Period”; and

(vi)          the location and number of the Borrower’s account to which funds are to be disbursed.

The Company (on behalf of such Borrower) may request offers to make Competitive Bid Loans having up to 2 different stated maturity dates in a single Competitive Bid
Request; provided that the request for each separate stated maturity date shall be deemed to be a separate Competitive Bid Request for a separate Competitive Bid Loans. 
Promptly following receipt of a Competitive Bid Request in accordance with this Section, the Administrative Agent shall notify the Lenders of the details thereof by telecopy,
inviting the Lenders to submit Competitive Bids.

(b)           Each Lender may (but shall not have any obligation to) make one or more Competitive Bids to a Borrower in response to a Competitive Bid Request.  Such
Competitive Bids by a Lender may be for an amount greater than (or less than) such Lender’s respective Commitments.  Each Competitive Bid by a Lender must be in a form
approved by the Administrative Agent and must be received by the Administrative Agent by telecopy, not later than 11:00 a.m. (Atlanta time) on the date which is three (3)
Business Days’ prior to the proposed date of such borrowing.  Competitive Bids that do not conform substantially to the form approved by the Administrative Agent may be
rejected by the Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent shall notify the applicable Lender as promptly as practicable.  Each Competitive Bid shall specify (i) the
principal amount (which shall be a minimum of $5,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) and an integral multiple of $1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) in
excess thereof and which may equal the entire principal amount of the borrowing requested by the Borrower) of the Competitive Bid Loan or Loans that the applicable
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Lender is willing to make, (ii) the Competitive Bid Rate or Rates at which such Lender is prepared to make such Loan or Loans (expressed as a percentage rate per annum in
the form of a decimal to no more than four decimal places), (iii) the Interest Period applicable to each such Loan and the last day thereof, and (iv) the identity of the quoting
Lender.  Unless otherwise agreed by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower, no Competitive Bid Request shall contain qualifying, conditional or similar language or
propose terms other than or in addition to those set forth in the applicable Competitive Bid Request (other than setting forth the maximum principal amounts of the
Competitive Bid Loan which the quoting Lender is willing to make for the applicable Interest Period) and, in particular, no Competitive Bid Request may be conditioned upon
acceptance by the Borrower of all (or some specified minimum) of the principal amount of the Competitive Bid Loan for which such Competitive Bid Request is being made.

(c)           The Administrative Agent shall promptly (but in any event by no later than 3:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on the date which is three (3) Business Days’ prior to
the proposed borrowing date) notify the Company, on behalf of the Borrower requesting Competitive Bids, by telecopy of the Competitive Bid Rate and the principal amount



specified in each Competitive Bid and the identity of the Lender that shall have made such Competitive Bid.

(d)           Subject only to the provisions of this paragraph, the Company, on behalf of the Borrower requesting Competitive Bids, may accept or reject any
Competitive Bid.  The Company, on behalf of such Borrower, shall notify the Administrative Agent by telephone, confirmed by telecopy in a form approved by the
Administrative Agent, whether and to what extent it has decided to accept or reject each Competitive Bid, not later than 10:30 a.m. (Atlanta time) on the date which is two (2)
Business Days prior to the date of the proposed borrowing; provided that (i) the failure of the Company to give such notice shall be deemed to be a rejection of each
Competitive Bid, (ii) such Borrower shall not accept a Competitive Bid made at a particular Competitive Bid Rate if such Borrower rejects a Competitive Bid made at a lower
Competitive Bid Rate, (iii) the aggregate amount of the Competitive Bids accepted by such Borrower shall not exceed the aggregate amount of the requested borrowing
specified in the related Competitive Bid Request, (iv) to the extent necessary to comply with clause (iii) above, such Borrower may accept Competitive Bids at the same
Competitive Bid Rate in part, which acceptance, in the case of multiple Competitive Bids at such Competitive Bid Rate, shall be made pro rata in accordance with the amount
of each such Competitive Bid, and (v) except pursuant to clause (iv) above, no Competitive Bid shall be accepted for a Competitive Bid Loan unless such Competitive Bid
Loan is in a minimum principal amount of $5,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) and an integral multiple of $1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) in excess
thereof; provided further that if a Competitive Bid Loan must be in an amount less than $5,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) because of the provisions of clause (iv)
above, such Competitive Bid Loan may be for a minimum of $1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) or any integral multiple thereof, and in calculating the pro rata
allocation of acceptances of portions of multiple Competitive Bids at a particular Competitive Bid Rate pursuant to clause (iv) above the amounts shall be rounded to integral
multiples of $1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof) in a manner determined by the Borrower.  A notice given by a Borrower pursuant to this paragraph shall be
irrevocable.

(e)           The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each bidding Lender by telecopy whether or not its Competitive Bid has been accepted (and, if so, the
amount and Competitive
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Bid Rate so accepted), and each successful bidder will thereupon become bound, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, to make the Competitive Bid Loan in respect of
which its Competitive Bid has been accepted.

(f)            Not later than (i) in the case of a Competitive Bid Loan denominated in Dollars, no later than 2:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on the proposed borrowing date and
(ii) in the case of a Competitive Bid Loan that is an Offshore Currency Loan, by such time as the Administrative Agent may determine to be necessary for such funds to be
credited on such funding date in accordance with normal banking practices in the place of payment, each Lender whose Competitive Bid has been accepted will make
available to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the Borrower to whom the Competitive Bid Loan is to be made, at the office of the Administrative Agent in funds
immediately available to the Administrative Agent, the amount of the Competitive Bid Loan to be made on such borrowing date by such Lender.  Each Borrower hereby
irrevocably authorizes the Administrative Agent to disburse the proceeds of each borrowing requested pursuant to this Section 2.5 in immediately available funds by crediting
or wiring such proceeds to the deposit account of such Borrower identified in its most recent Notice of Account Designation or as may be otherwise agreed upon by such
Borrower and the Administrative Agent from time to time.  Subject to Section 4.7 hereof, the Administrative Agent shall not be obligated to disburse the proceeds of any
Competitive Bid Loan requested pursuant to this Section 2.5 for which any Lender is responsible to the extent that such Lender has not made available to the Administrative
Agent the amount of such Competitive Bid Loan.

(g)           If the Administrative Agent shall elect to submit a Competitive Bid in its capacity as a Lender, it shall submit such Competitive Bid directly to the
Company, on behalf of the Borrower requesting Competitive Bids, at least one quarter of an hour earlier than the time by which the other Lenders are required to submit their
Competitive Bids to the Administrative Agent pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section.

(h)           While any Competitive Bid Loan is outstanding, the Revolving Credit Commitment of each Lender shall be deemed used for all purposes by an amount
equal to its pro rata share (based on its respective Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage) of the principal Dollar Equivalent amount of such Competitive Bid Loan.

(i)            (1)           Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of each Borrower to such
Lender resulting from each Competitive Bid Loan made by such Lender to such Borrower from time to time, including the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid
to such Lender from time to time hereunder.

                (2)           The entries maintained in the accounts maintained pursuant to paragraph (i) shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the
Obligations therein recorded; provided, however, that the failure of the Administrative Agent or any Lender to maintain such accounts or any error therein shall not in
any manner affect the obligation of each Borrower to repay the Obligations in accordance with their terms.
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(3)           The Competitive Bid Loans made by each Lender shall be evidenced by such Lender’s respective Revolving Credit Notes.

(j)            Each Borrower shall repay the outstanding principal amount of each Competitive Bid Loan made to it in full on the last day of the Interest Period applicable
thereto, with all accrued but unpaid interest thereon.  Competitive Bid Loans may not be repaid prior to the last day of the applicable Interest Period except in accordance with
Section 2.3(b) and (e).

(k)           Each Borrower shall pay a fee to the Administrative Agent equal to $1,200 for each Competitive Bid Loan requested by such Borrower.

SECTION 2.6  Swingline Loans and Procedure.

(a)           Swingline Loans.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, from time to time until the Swingline Termination Date, the Swingline Lender, at the
request of the Company and at the sole discretion of the Swingline Lender, may make, under the Revolving Credit Facility, a revolving loan or revolving loans (each a
“Swingline Loan” and, collectively, the “Swingline Loans”) to the Company, which Swingline Loans (i) shall be denominated in Dollars, (ii) may be repaid and reborrowed
in accordance with the provisions hereof, (iii) shall not exceed in aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding, when combined with the sum of the aggregate principal
Dollar Equivalent amount of outstanding Revolving Credit Loans plus the aggregate principal amount of Competitive Bid Loans made thereunder at any time, the Aggregate
Revolving Credit Commitment less the sum of all outstanding L/C Obligations, (iv) shall not exceed in aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding the Swingline
Maximum and (v) shall bear interest at the Swingline Rate.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 2.6(a), (x) the Swingline Lender shall not be
obligated to make any Swingline Loans at a time when a Lender Default exists unless the Swingline Lender has entered into arrangements satisfactory to it and the Company
to eliminate the Swingline Lender’s risk with respect to the Defaulting Lender’s or Lenders’ participation in such Swingline Loans, including by cash collateralizing such
Defaulting Lender’s or Lenders’ Revolving Commitment Percentage of the outstanding Swingline Loans and (y) the Swingline Lender shall not make any Swingline Loan
after it has received written notice from any Borrower or the Required Lenders stating that a Default or an Event of Default exists and is continuing until such time as the
Swingline Lender shall have received written notice (A) of rescission of all such notices from the party or parties originally delivering such notice or (B) of the waiver of such



Default or Event of Default by the Required Lenders.  All Existing Swingline Loans shall be deemed to have been made pursuant hereto, and from and after the Closing Date
shall be subject to and governed by the terms and conditions hereof.

(b)           Mandatory Borrowings.

(i)            On any Business Day, the Swingline Lender may, in its sole discretion, advise the Administrative Agent to give notice to the Lenders that the
Swingline Lender’s outstanding Swingline Loans shall be funded with one or more borrowings of Revolving Credit Loans made to the Company and denominated in
Dollars (provided that such notice shall be deemed to have been automatically given with respect to outstanding Swingline Loans upon the occurrence of a Default or
an Event of Default under
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Section 11.1(i) or (j)), in which case one or more borrowings of Revolving Credit Loans constituting Base Rate Loans (each such Borrowing, a “Mandatory
Borrowing”) shall be made on the immediately succeeding Business Day by all Lenders in accordance with each Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage
and the proceeds thereof shall be applied directly by the Administrative Agent to repay the Swingline Lender for such outstanding Swingline Loans.  Each Lender
hereby irrevocably agrees to make Revolving Credit Loans to the Company upon one Business Day’s notice pursuant to each Mandatory Borrowing in the amount and
in the manner specified in the preceding sentence and on the date specified in writing by the Administrative Agent notwithstanding (A) the amount of the Mandatory
Borrowing may not comply with the minimum borrowing amount otherwise required hereunder, (B) whether any conditions specified in Section 5.2 are then satisfied,
(C) whether a Default or an Event of Default then exists, (D) the date of such Mandatory Borrowing and (E) whether the Revolving Credit Loans comprising the
Mandatory Borrowing would, when combined with the sum of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Revolving Credit Loans, outstanding L/C Obligations
and the aggregate principal amount of Competitive Bid Loans, exceed the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment at such time (so long as outstanding Swingline
Loans do not exceed the Swingline Maximum).  In the event that any Mandatory Borrowing cannot for any reason be made on the date otherwise required above
(including, without limitation, as a result of the occurrence of a Bankruptcy Event with respect to any Borrower), then each Lender hereby agrees that it shall forthwith
purchase (as of the date the Mandatory Borrowing would otherwise have occurred, but adjusted for any payments received from the respective Borrower on or after
such date and prior to such purchase) from the Swingline Lender such participations in the outstanding Swingline Loans as shall be necessary to cause the Lenders to
share in such Swingline Loans ratably based upon their respective Revolving Credit Commitment Percentages, provided that (x) all interest payable on the Swingline
Loans shall be for the account of the Swingline Lender until the date as of which the respective participation is required to be purchased and, to the extent attributable
to the purchased participation, shall be payable to the participant from and after such date and (y) at the time any purchase of participations pursuant to this sentence is
actually made, the purchasing Lender shall be required to pay the Swingline Lender interest on the principal amount of participations purchased for each day from and
including the day upon which the Mandatory Borrowing would otherwise have occurred to but excluding the date of payment for such participation, at the overnight
Federal Funds Rate for the first three days and at the rate otherwise applicable to Base Rate Loans hereunder for each day thereafter.

(ii)           To the extent amounts received from the Lenders pursuant to Section 2.6(b)(i) above are not sufficient to repay in full the outstanding Swingline
Loans requested or required to be repaid, the Company agrees to pay to the Swingline Lender on demand the amount required to repay such Swingline Loans in full. 
In addition, the Company hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to charge any account maintained by the Company with the Swingline Lender (up to the amount
available therein) in order to immediately pay the Swingline Lender the amount of such Swingline Loans to the extent amounts received from the Lenders are not
sufficient to repay in full the outstanding Swingline Loans requested or required to be repaid.  If any portion of any
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such amount paid to the Swingline Lender shall be recovered by or on behalf of the Company from the Swingline Lender in bankruptcy or otherwise, the loss of the
amount so recovered shall be ratably shared among all the Lenders in accordance with their respective Revolving Credit Commitment Percentages.

(c)           Amount of Each Swingline Borrowing.  Each Swingline Loan shall be made in an aggregate principal amount of $500,000 or a whole multiple of $l00,000
in excess thereof.

(d)           Notice of Borrowing.

(i)            The Company shall give the Swingline Lender irrevocable prior written notice (a “Notice of Swingline Borrowing”) substantially in the form
attached as Exhibit B-2 no later than 11:30 a.m. (Atlanta time) on the same Business Day as each Base Rate Loan of its intention to borrow, specifying (A) the date of
such borrowing, which shall be a Business Day, and (B) the amount of such borrowing, which shall be in an amount equal to the unused amount of the Swingline
Maximum or less.  Notices received after 11:30 a.m. (Atlanta time) shall be deemed received on the next Business Day.

(ii)           Mandatory Borrowings shall be made upon the notice specified in Section 2.6(b), with the Company irrevocably agreeing, by its incurrence of any
Swingline Loan, to the making of the Mandatory Borrowings as set forth in Section 2.6(b).

(e)           Disbursement of Funds.  Not later than 2:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on the proposed borrowing date, the Swingline Lender will make available to the
Administrative Agent, for the account of the Company, at the office of the Administrative Agent in funds immediately available to the Administrative Agent, the amount of
the Swingline Loan to be made on such borrowing date.  In the case of Mandatory Borrowings, no later than 2:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on the date specified in Section 2.6(b),
each Lender will make available to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the Company, at the office of the Administrative Agent in funds immediately available to the
Administrative Agent, such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of Mandatory Borrowings to be made on such borrowing date.  The Company hereby
irrevocably authorizes the Administrative Agent to disburse the proceeds of each borrowing requested pursuant to this Section 2.6 in immediately available funds by crediting
or wiring such proceeds to the deposit account of the Company identified in the most recent Notice of Account Designation or as may be otherwise agreed upon by the
Company and the Administrative Agent from time to time or, in the case of Mandatory Borrowings, in the manner specified in Section 2.6(b)(i).  Subject to Section 4.7 hereof,
the Administrative Agent shall not be obligated to disburse the proceeds of any Swingline Loan requested pursuant to this Section 2.6 to the extent that the Swingline Lender
has not made available to the Administrative Agent the amount of such Swingline Loan.

(f)            Notes.  The Swingline Lender’s Swingline Loans shall be evidenced by such Lender’s respective Revolving Credit Notes issued by the Company.
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(g)           Usage Under Revolving Credit Commitments.  While any Swingline Loan is outstanding, the Revolving Credit Commitment of each Lender shall be



deemed used for all purposes by an amount equal to its pro rata share (based on its respective Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage) of the principal amount of such
Swingline Loan.

(h)           Notice to the Administrative Agent.  The Swingline Lender shall promptly give notice to the Administrative Agent of all Swingline Loans made hereunder,
and all repayments of such Swingline Loans.

SECTION 2.7  Commitment Reductions and Increases.

(a)           Voluntary Reduction.  The Borrowers shall have the right at any time and from time to time, upon at least four (4) Business Days’ prior written notice by
the Company to the Administrative Agent, to permanently reduce, without premium or penalty (except as provided below), either (i) the Aggregate Revolving Credit
Commitment at any time or (ii) portions of the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment from time to time, in an aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount not less than
$5,000,000 or any whole multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof.

(b)           Payments Related to a Commitment Reduction.

Each permanent reduction of the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment made pursuant to this Section 2.7 or otherwise shall be accompanied, if necessary, by a
payment of principal sufficient to reduce the aggregate outstanding Revolving Credit Loans and Swingline Loans and L/C Obligations, as applicable, to the amount of the new
Revolving Credit Commitment after such reduction to the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment and, if the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment as so reduced is less
than the aggregate amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit, the Borrowers shall be required to deposit in a cash collateral account opened by the Administrative Agent an
amount equal to the amount by which the aggregate then undrawn and unexpired amount of such Letters of Credit exceeds the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment as so
reduced.  Such cash collateral shall be applied in accordance with Section 11.2(b).  Any permanent reduction of the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment to zero
(including upon termination of the Revolving Credit Facility on the Termination Date) shall be accompanied by payment of all outstanding Revolving Credit Loans and
Swingline Loans (and furnishing of cash collateral satisfactory to the Administrative Agent for all L/C Obligations) and shall result in the termination of the Aggregate
Revolving Credit Commitment.  If the reduction of the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment requires the repayment of any Offshore Rate Loan, such repayment shall be
accompanied by any amount required to be paid pursuant to Section 4.9 hereof.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Aggregate Revolving Credit
Commitment may not be permanently reduced by such an amount so that after such reduction, the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment is less than the aggregate amount
of all unpaid principal of and interest on outstanding Competitive Bid Loans.

SECTION 2.8  Termination of Revolving Credit Facility.  The Revolving Credit Facility shall terminate on the earliest of (a) the Maturity Date, (b) the date of
termination of the
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Revolving Credit Commitment by the Company pursuant to Section 2.7(a), and (c) the date of termination by the Administrative Agent on behalf of the Lenders pursuant to
Section 11.2(a).

SECTION 2.9  Utilization of Revolving Commitments in Offshore Currencies.

(a)           The Administrative Agent will determine the Dollar Equivalent amount with respect to any (i) Revolving Credit Loan or Competitive Bid Loan that is an
Offshore Currency Loan as of the requested borrowing date and as of any requested continuation date, (ii) outstanding Offshore Currency Loan, as of each Interest Payment
Date relating to such Loan and (iii) Letters of Credit denominated in an Offshore Currency, as of the requested issuance date and the first Business Day of each calendar
month, and, during the occurrence and continuation of an Event of Default, such other dates as may be requested by the Required Lenders (but in no event more frequently
than once a week) (each such date under clause (i), (ii) and (iii), a “Determination Date”).

(b)           The Lenders shall be under no obligation to make Revolving Credit Loans in a requested Offshore Currency if the Administrative Agent has received
notice from the Required Lenders by 12:30 p.m. (Atlanta time) two Business Days prior to the date of a requested borrowing of an Offshore Currency Loan that deposits in
the relevant Offshore Currency (in the applicable amounts) are not being offered to such Lenders in the interbank eurocurrency market for such Interest Period in which event
the Administrative Agent will give notice to the Company, on behalf of such Borrower requesting such Offshore Currency Loan, no later than 1:30 p.m. (Atlanta time) on the
second Business Day prior to the requested date of such borrowing that the borrowing in the requested Offshore Currency is not then available, and notice thereof will also be
given promptly by the Administrative Agent to the Lenders.  If the Administrative Agent shall have notified the Company that any requested Offshore Currency Loan is not
then available, the Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing relating to such requested Offshore Currency Loan shall be deemed to be withdrawn, the borrowing requested
therein shall not occur and the Administrative Agent will promptly so notify each Lender.

(c)           In the case of a proposed continuation of an Offshore Currency Loan for an additional Interest Period pursuant to Section 4.2, the Lenders shall be under no
obligation to continue such Offshore Currency Loan if the Administrative Agent has received notice from the Required Lenders by 12:30 p.m. (Atlanta time) two Business
Days prior to the requested date of such continuation that deposits in the relevant Offshore Currency (in the applicable amounts) are not being offered to such Lenders in the
interbank eurocurrency market for such Interest Period in which event the Administrative Agent will give notice to the Company, on behalf of the Borrower requesting such
continuation, no later than 1:30 p.m. (Atlanta time) on the second Business Day prior to the requested date of such continuation that the continuation of such Offshore
Currency Loan is not then available, and notice thereof will also be given promptly by the Administrative Agent to the Lenders.  If the Administrative Agent shall have
notified the Company, on behalf of the Borrower requesting continuation of an Offshore Currency Loan, that the requested continuation is not then available, the Notice of
Continuation with respect thereto shall be deemed to be withdrawn and such Offshore Currency Loan shall be repaid on the last day of the Interest Period with respect thereto.
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(d)           Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, during the existence of a payment Default or an Event of Default, and at the request of the Required
Lenders (or, in the case of a Competitive Bid Loan made in an Offshore Currency, the Lender that has made such Loan), all or any part of outstanding Offshore Currency
Loans shall be redenominated and converted into their Dollar Equivalent of Base Rate Loans in Dollars on the last day of the Interest Period applicable to any such Offshore
Currency Loans.  The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Company and the Lenders of any such redenomination and conversion request.

(e)           The Company shall be entitled to request that Revolving Credit Loans hereunder also be permitted to be made to a Borrower in any other lawful currency
(other than Dollars), in addition to the currencies specified in the definition of “Offshore Currency” in Section 1.1, that in the opinion of the Administrative Agent and all of
the Lenders is at such time freely traded in the offshore interbank foreign exchange markets, freely transferable and freely convertible into Dollars and readily utilized for the
settlement of private international debt transactions (an “Agreed Alternative Currency”).  The Company shall deliver in writing to the Administrative Agent any request for
designation of an Agreed Alternative Currency in accordance with Section 13.1, to be received by the Administrative Agent not later than 11:00 a.m. (Atlanta time) at least 10
Business Days in advance of the date of any borrowing hereunder proposed to be made in such Agreed Alternative Currency.  Upon receipt of any such request the
Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Lenders thereof, and each Lender will use its commercially reasonable efforts to respond to such request within five (5)



Business Days of receipt thereof.  Each Lender may grant or accept such request in its sole discretion.  The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Company of the
acceptance or rejection of any such request.

SECTION 2.10  Designated Borrowers.

(a)           Addition of Designated Borrower.  Equifax Plc constitutes a Designated Borrower as of the Closing Date.  The Company may request designation of any of
its other Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries (an “Applicant Borrower”) as a Designated Borrower hereunder by delivery of such a request to the Administrative Agent together with
an executed copy of a Borrower Joinder Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.  The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Lenders of any
such request together with a copy of the Borrower Joinder Agreement executed by the Applicant Borrower.  The joinder of each Applicant Borrower as a designated Borrower
will be subject to delivery of executed promissory notes, if any, required in connection therewith, and supporting resolutions, articles of incorporation, incumbency
certificates, opinions of counsel and such other items as the Administrative Agent and/or the Required Lenders may reasonably request and which are reasonably satisfactory
to the Administrative Agent.  Any such addition of a Designated Borrower shall be effective five Business Days after receipt by the Administrative Agent of the items
required by the Administrative Agent and/or the Required Lenders in connection therewith.  Such Designated Borrower shall thereupon become a party hereto and a
Designated Borrower hereunder and shall be (i) entitled to all rights and benefits of a Borrower hereunder and under each instrument executed pursuant hereto and (ii) subject
to all obligations of a Borrower hereunder and thereunder.
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(b)           Removal of a Designated Borrower.  The Company may request that any of its Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries that is a Designated Borrower hereunder cease
to be a Designated Borrower by delivering to the Administrative Agent (which shall promptly deliver copies thereof to each Lender) a written notice to such effect.  Such
Designated Borrower shall cease to be a Borrower hereunder and be released of all of its obligations and liabilities as a Borrower hereunder and under the other Loan
Documents on the later to occur of (i) the date the Administrative Agent receives such request and (ii) the date such Borrower has paid all of its Loans and all accrued and
unpaid interest, fees and other Obligations owing by it hereunder or in connection herewith.

SECTION 2.11  Limitation on Liability.

Notwithstanding anything in this Article II or in any other provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document to the contrary, the obligations of the Borrowers
(other than the Company) to repay the Lenders for any Loans made available to the Borrowers hereunder are several and not joint and several obligations of the Borrowers. 
Accordingly, no Borrower (other than the Company) shall be obligated to repay the principal amount of or to pay accrued interest on any Loans made by the Lenders to any
other Borrower.  Nothing in this section, however, is intended to limit or modify the Company’s guarantee under Article X hereof.

SECTION 2.12  Extension of Maturity Date.

(a)           Requests for Extension.  The Company may, by notice (each such notice, an “Extension Notice”) to the Administrative Agent (who shall promptly notify
the Lenders) at any time not later than 35 days prior to the Maturity Date then in effect hereunder (the “Existing Maturity Date”) (or, if such date is not a Business Day, on the
next preceding Business Day), request that each Lender extend such Lender’s Maturity Date for an additional year from the Existing Maturity Date; provided, however, that
the Borrower shall only be permitted to make such a request two times during the life of the Credit Facility.  Each Extension Notice shall specify the date (the “Extension
Effective Date”) on which the Company requests the applicable extension to become effective.

(b)           Lender Elections to Extend.  Each Lender, acting in its sole discretion, shall, by notice to the Administrative Agent given not later than the date (the
“Notice Date”) that is 15 days after receipt by such Lender of the applicable Extension Notice (or, if such date is not a Business Day, on the next preceding Business Day),
advise the Administrative Agent whether or not such Lender agrees to such extension (and each Lender that determines not to so extend its Maturity Date (a “Non-Extending
Lender”) shall notify the Administrative Agent of such fact promptly after such determination (but in any event no later than the Notice Date) and any Lender that does not so
advise the Administrative Agent on or before the Notice Date shall be deemed to be a Non-Extending Lender.  The election of any Lender to agree to such extension shall not
obligate any other Lender to so agree.

(c)           Notification by Administrative Agent.  The Administrative Agent shall notify the Company of each Lender’s determination under this Section no later than
the date 5 days following the applicable Notice Date (or, if such date is not a Business Day, on the next preceding Business Day).
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(d)           Additional Commitment Lenders.  The Company shall have the right, on or before the then applicable Extension Effective Date, to replace each Non-
Extending Lender with, and add as “Lenders” under this Agreement in place thereof, one or more Eligible Assignees (each, an “Additional Commitment Lender”) as provided
in Section 13.9, each of which Additional Commitment Lenders shall have entered into an Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which such Additional Commitment
Lenders shall, effective as of such Extension Effective Date, undertake Revolving Credit Commitments (and, if any of such Additional Commitment Lenders is already a
Lender, its Revolving Credit Commitment shall be in addition to such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment hereunder on such date) in an aggregate amount not to exceed
the aggregate Revolving Credit Commitments of the Non-Extending Lenders being replaced.

(e)           Minimum Extension Requirement.  If (and only if) the total of the Revolving Credit Commitments of the Lenders that have agreed so to extend their
Maturity Date and the additional Revolving Credit Commitments of the Additional Commitment Lenders shall be more than 50% of the Aggregate Revolving Credit
Commitments in effect immediately prior to the then applicable Extension Effective Date, then, effective as of such Extension Effective Date, the Maturity Date of each
Extending Lender and of each Additional Commitment Lender shall be extended to the date falling one year after the Existing Maturity Date and each Additional
Commitment Lender shall, upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 13.9, become a “Lender” for all purposes of this Agreement.

(f)            Conditions to Effectiveness of Extensions.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the extension of the Maturity Date pursuant to this Section shall not be
effective with respect to any Lender unless:

(i)            no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such extension and after giving effect thereto or would result
therefrom;

(ii)           the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date of such extension
and after giving effect thereto, as though made on and as of such date (or, if any such representation or warranty is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific
date, as of such specific date); and

(iii)          on the Maturity Date of each Non-Extending Lender, the Company shall prepay any Loans outstanding on such date (and pay any additional
amounts required pursuant to Section 4.9) to the extent necessary to keep outstanding Loans ratable with any revised Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment



Percentages of the respective Lenders as of such date.

SECTION 2.13  Increase in Commitments.

(a)           Request for Increase.  So long as there exists no Default or Event of Default, upon notice to the Administrative Agent (which shall promptly notify the
Lenders), the Company may from time to time request an increase in the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment to a total aggregate amount not to exceed $1,000,000,000,
less the amount of any permanent reductions in the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitments requested by Borrower pursuant to Section 2.7;
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provided that any such request for an increase shall be in a minimum amount of $100,000,000.  The Company (in consultation with the Administrative Agent) shall specify
the time period within which each Lender is requested to respond (which shall in no event be less than ten Business Days nor more than fifteen Business Days from the date of
delivery of such notice to the Lenders).

(b)           Lender Elections to Increase.  Each Lender shall notify the Administrative Agent within such time period whether or not it agrees to increase its Revolving
Credit Commitment and, if so, whether by an amount equal to, greater than or less than its ratable share of such requested increase (based on such Lender’s then existing
Revolving Credit Commitment).  Any Lender not responding within such time period shall be deemed to have declined to increase its Revolving Credit Commitment.

(c)           Notification by Administrative Agent; Additional Lenders.  The Administrative Agent shall notify the Company and each Lender of the other Lenders’
responses to each request made hereunder.  To achieve the full amount of a requested increase, and subject to the provisions of this Section 2.13 and the approval of the
Administrative Agent, the Issuing Lender and the Swingline Lender (which approvals shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), the Company, after the earlier to occur
of (i) the Administrative Agent’s receipt of responses to the increase request from each Lender or (ii) ten Business Days after the delivery of such increase request, may invite
additional Eligible Assignees to become Lenders pursuant to a joinder agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.  No Lender shall
be obligated to participate in such increase and shall have the right to accept or decline any request made hereunder in its sole discretion.

(d)           Effective Date and Allocations.  If the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitments are increased in accordance with this Section, the Administrative Agent
and the Company shall determine the effective date (the “Increase Effective Date”) and the final allocation of such increase.  The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify
the Company, the Lenders and such additional Eligible Assignees, if any, of the final allocation of such increase and the Increase Effective Date; provided that if, in the event
each Lender has agreed to increase its Revolving Credit Commitment by an amount at least equal to its ratable share of such increase, then the increase to the Revolving
Credit Commitment Percentage of each Lender shall be on a pro rata basis in accordance with such Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment in effect on the Business Day
prior to the Increase Effective Date.

(e)           Conditions to Effectiveness of Increase.  As a condition precedent to such increase, the Company shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a certificate of
each Borrower dated as of the Increase Effective Date signed by a Responsible Officer of such Borrower (i) certifying and attaching the resolutions adopted by such Borrower
approving or consenting to such increase and any other corporate documents deemed reasonably necessary by the Administrative Agent, and (ii) in the case of the Company,
certifying that, before and immediately after giving effect to such increase, (A) no Default or Event of Default exists and (B) evidencing (in reasonable detail prepared in good
faith and in a manner and using such methodology which is consistent with the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 7.1), compliance on a Pro Forma
Basis (as defined below) with the financial covenant contained in Section 9.1 as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter on a trailing four quarter
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basis.  The Company shall also deliver opinions in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent of internal and external counsel to the Company,
addressed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, with respect to the Borrowers, the increase and such other matters as the Administrative Agent shall reasonably
request.  The applicable Borrower shall prepay any Loans outstanding on and prior to giving effect to the Increase Effective Date (and pay any additional amounts required
pursuant to Section 4.9) to the extent necessary to keep the outstanding Loans ratable with any revised Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment Percentages arising from any
nonratable increase in the Revolving Credit Commitments under Section 2.13.

As used in this clause, the term  “Pro Forma Basis” means the following pro forma adjustments made for purposes of determining compliance on a pro forma basis
with the maximum Leverage Ratio as required above pursuant to this clause: (x) the Consolidated EBITDA during the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently
ended of (or attributable to) (A) any other Person acquired (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise) or disposed of by the Company or any of its Consolidated
Subsidiaries, or (B) all or substantially all of the business or assets of any other Person or operating division or business unit of any other Person, acquired (whether by merger,
consolidation or otherwise) or disposed of by the Company or one of its Consolidated Subsidiaries (in each case to the extent such acquisition or disposition is permitted
under this Agreement), shall be included (in the case of any acquisition) or excluded (in the case of any disposition, so long as the Consolidated EBITDA of or attributable to
such Capital Stock, asset, operating division or business unit disposed of, sold or otherwise transferred, exceeds 5% of Consolidated Operating Profit for the immediately
preceding Fiscal Year), as applicable, in determining Consolidated EBITDA of the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, provided further that such acquisition is or
will be funded in whole or in part with the proceeds of any Loans contemplated to be made after giving effect to such requested increase in the Aggregate Revolving Credit
Commitments pursuant to Section 2.13 (such Loans referred to herein as the “Subject Loans”), and (y) the principal amount of Debt in respect of any Subject Loans incurred
or to be incurred by any Borrower, together with the aggregate amount of Debt assumed or otherwise continued in connection with any such acquisition (but only to the extent
such Debt would constitute Consolidated Funded Debt following consummation of such acquisition), shall be included in determining Consolidated Funded Debt of the
Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, in each case as if such transaction had been consummated on the first day of such period, and based on historical actual results
accounted for in accordance with GAAP.

ARTICLE III
LETTER OF CREDIT FACILITY

SECTION 3.1  L/C Commitment.

Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, each Issuing Lender, in reliance on the agreements of the other Lenders set forth in Section 3.4(a), agrees to issue standby
and/or commercial Letters of Credit for the account of the requesting Borrower on any Business Day from the Closing Date through but not including the Termination Date in
such form as may be approved from time to time by such Issuing Lender; provided that no Issuing Lender shall issue any Letter of Credit if, after giving effect to such
issuance, (a) the L/C Obligations would exceed
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the L/C Commitment or (b) the sum of (i) the aggregate principal Dollar Equivalent amount of outstanding Revolving Credit Loans, (ii) the aggregate principal amount of
outstanding Swingline Loans, (iii) the aggregate principal amount of L/C Obligations and (iv) the aggregate principal amount of Competitive Bid Loans, would exceed the
Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment.  Each Letter of Credit shall (A) be denominated in Dollars or an Offshore Currency, (B) be a letter of credit issued to support
obligations of a Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, contingent or otherwise, permitted to be incurred hereunder, (C) not have an original expiry date more than one year from
the date of issuance thereof (provided that subject in any event to clause (D) hereof) any such Letter of Credit (x) may contain customary “evergreen” provisions pursuant to
which the expiry date is automatically extended by a specific time period unless the Issuing Lender gives notice to the beneficiary of such Letter of Credit at least a specified
time period prior to the expiry date then in effect and/or (y) may have an expiration date more than one year from the date of issuance if required under related industrial
revenue bond documents and agreed to by the Issuing Lender) and (D) as originally issued or as extended, not have an expiry date extending beyond the date five (5) days
prior to the Termination Date.  Unless otherwise expressly agreed by the Issuing Lender and the applicable Borrower when a Letter of Credit is issued, (i) the rules of the
“International Standby Practices (ISP98)”, ICC Publication No. 59 in force as of January 1, 1999 (the “ISP”), shall apply to each standby Letter of Credit, and (ii) the rules of
the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, as most recently published by the International Chamber of Commerce (the “ICC”) at the time of issuance
(including the ICC decision published by the Commission on Banking Technique and Practice on April 6, 1998 regarding the European single currency (euro)) shall apply to
each commercial Letter of Credit.  No Issuing Lender shall at any time be obligated to issue any Letter of Credit hereunder if (a) any order, judgment or decree of any
Governmental Authority or arbitrator shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain such Issuing Lender from issuing such Letter of Credit, (b) any Applicable Law applicable
to such Issuing Lender or any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over such Issuing Lender
shall prohibit, or request that such Issuing Lender refrain from, the issuance of letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular, (c) any Applicable Law
applicable to such Issuing Lender shall impose upon such Issuing Lender with respect to such Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or capital requirement (for which such
Issuing Lender would not otherwise be compensated hereunder) which was not in effect on the Closing Date and which such Issuing Lender in good faith deems material to it,
(d) any Applicable Law applicable to such Issuing Lender shall impose upon such Issuing Lender with respect to such Letter of Credit any loss, cost or expense (for which
such Issuing Lender would not otherwise be reimbursed hereunder) which was not applicable on the Closing Date and which such Issuing Lender in good faith deems
material to it, or (e) the issuance of such Letter of Credit would violate one or more policies of the Issuing Lender.  References herein to “issue” and derivations thereof with
respect to Letters of Credit shall also include extensions or modifications of any existing Letters of Credit, unless the context otherwise requires.

SECTION 3.2  Procedure for Issuance of Letters of Credit.

(a)           The Company, on behalf of any Borrower, may from time to time request that any Issuing Lender issue a Letter of Credit (or amend, extend or renew an
outstanding Letter of Credit) by delivering to such Issuing Lender  (with a copy to the Administrative Agent) at the office of the Issuing Lender set forth on Schedule 13.1 or
such other office mutually acceptable
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to such Borrower and such Issuing Lender an L/C Application therefor, completed to the satisfaction of such Issuing Lender and signed by a Responsible Officer. The L/C
Application must be received by the relevant Issuing Lender (and the Administrative Agent) by no later than 11:00 a.m. Atlanta time at least two (2) Business Days (or such
later date and time as the relevant Issuing Lender may agree in a particular instance in its sole discretion) prior to the requested issuance date (or requested amendment,
extension or renewal date).  In the case of a request for an initial issuance of a Letter of Credit, the L/C Application shall specify in form and detail satisfactory to the relevant
Issuing Lender: (A) the proposed issuance date of the requested Letter of Credit (which shall be a Business Day); (B) the amount thereof; (C) the expiry date thereof; (D) the
name and address of the beneficiary thereof; (E) the documents to be presented by such beneficiary in case of any drawing thereunder; (F) the full text of any certificate to be
presented by such beneficiary in case of any drawing thereunder; (G) the Applicable Currency; (H) the name of the Borrower account party and (I) such other matters as the
relevant Issuing Lender may require.  In the case of a request for an amendment of any outstanding Letter of Credit, the L/C Application shall specify in form and detail
satisfactory to the relevant Issuing Lender: (A) the Letter of Credit to be amended; (B) the proposed date of amendment thereof (which shall be a Business Day); (C) the
nature of the proposed amendment; and (D) such other matters as the relevant Issuing Lender may require.

(b)           Promptly after receipt of any L/C Application, the relevant Issuing Lender will confirm with the Administrative Agent (by telephone or in writing) that the
Administrative Agent has received a copy of such L/C Application from the applicable Borrower and, if not, the relevant Issuing Lender will provide the Administrative
Agent with a copy thereof.  Upon receipt by the relevant Issuing Lender of confirmation from the Administrative Agent that the requested issuance or amendment is permitted
in accordance with the terms hereof, then, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the relevant Issuing Lender shall, on the requested date, issue a Letter of Credit for the
account of such Borrower or enter into the applicable amendment, as the case may be, in each case in accordance with the relevant Issuing Lender’s usual and customary
business practices.

(c)           Promptly after its delivery of any Letter of Credit or any amendment to a Letter of Credit to an advising bank with respect thereto or to the beneficiary
thereof, the relevant Issuing Lender will also deliver to the applicable Borrower and the Administrative Agent a true and complete copy of such Letter of Credit or
amendment.

(d)           On the last Business Day of each calendar quarter, each Issuing Lender (or the Administrative Agent if the Administrative Agent agrees to undertake such
action) shall report to each Lender all Letters of Credit issued by it during the previous calendar quarter and the average daily undrawn and unexpired amounts for all Letters
of Credit for each day in such calendar quarter.

SECTION 3.3  Fees and Other Charges.

(a)           Each Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of each Issuing Lender and the L/C Participants, a letter of credit fee (the “L/C
Fee”) with respect to each Letter of Credit requested by the Company on behalf of such Borrower and issued by such Issuing Lender in an amount equal to the Applicable
Percentage for L/C Fee times the average
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daily undrawn amount of such issued Letters of Credit as reported by such Issuing Lender (or the Administrative Agent) pursuant to Section 3.2.  Such fee shall be payable
quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter, commencing on the first of such dates to occur after the Closing, and on the Termination Date.  Subject
to Section 11.3, (x) in the case of any Event of Default under Section 11.1(a), (b), (d)(i), (g), (h), (i), (j), (m), (n) and (o), unless otherwise agreed by the Required Lenders,
upon the occurrence and during the continuance of such Event of Default, the L/C Fee shall accrue at a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate then
applicable for the L/C Fee, and (y) in the case of any other Event of Default, at the option of the Required Lenders exercised by written notice to the Company, upon the
occurrence and during the continuance of such Event of Default, the L/C Fee shall accrue at a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate then applicable
for the L/C Fee.

(b)           The Administrative Agent shall, promptly following its receipt thereof, distribute to each Issuing Lender and the L/C Participants the L/C Fees received by
such Issuing Lender in accordance with their respective Revolving Credit Commitment Percentages.



(c)           In addition to the L/C Fees, each Borrower agrees to pay to the relevant Issuing Lender that has issued a Letter of Credit at the request of the Company, on
behalf of such Borrower, for such Issuing Lender’s own account without sharing by the other Lenders, (i) a fronting fee of 0.125% per annum on the aggregate stated amount
of such Letter of Credit, due and payable quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter, commencing on the first of such dates to occur after the
Closing Date, and on the Termination Date, and (ii) the normal issuance, presentation, amendment and other processing fees, and other standard costs and charges, of the
relevant Issuing Lender relating to such Letter of Credit as from time to time in effect, due and payable on demand therefor by the relevant Issuing Lender.

SECTION 3.4  L/C Participations.

(a)           Each Issuing Lender irrevocably agrees to grant and hereby grants to each L/C Participant, and, to induce such Issuing Lender to issue Letters of Credit
hereunder, each L/C Participant irrevocably agrees to accept and purchase and hereby accepts and purchases from such Issuing Lender, on the terms and conditions hereinafter
stated, for such L/C Participant’s own account and risk, an undivided interest equal to such L/C Participant’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage in such Issuing
Lender’s obligations and rights under each Letter of Credit issued hereunder and the amount of each draft paid by such Issuing Lender thereunder.  Each L/C Participant
unconditionally and irrevocably agrees with each Issuing Lender that, if a draft is paid under any Letter of Credit for which such Issuing Lender is not reimbursed in full by
the Borrowers in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, such L/C Participant shall pay to such Issuing Lender upon demand at such Issuing Lender’s address for
notices specified herein an amount equal to such L/C Participant’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of the amount of such draft, or any part thereof, which is not so
reimbursed.

(b)           Upon becoming aware of any amount required to be paid by any L/C Participant to any Issuing Lender pursuant to Section 3.4(a) in respect of any
unreimbursed portion of any payment made by such Issuing Lender under any Letter of Credit, the Administrative Agent shall notify each L/C Participant of the amount and
due date of such required payment and such L/C Participant shall pay to such Issuing Lender the amount specified on the applicable due date.  If
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any such amount is paid to such Issuing Lender after the date such payment is due, such L/C Participant shall pay to such Issuing Lender on demand, in addition to such
amount, the product of (i) such amount, times (ii) the daily average Federal Funds Rate as determined by the Administrative Agent during the period from and including the
date such payment is due to the date on which such payment is immediately available to such Issuing Lender, times (iii) a fraction the numerator of which is the number of
days that elapse during such period and the denominator of which is 360.  With respect to payment to any Issuing Lender of the unreimbursed amounts described in this
Section 3.4(b), if the L/C Participants receive notice that any such payment is due (A) prior to 1:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on any Business Day, such payment shall be due that
Business Day, and (B) after 1:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on any Business Day, such payment shall be due on the following Business Day.

(c)           Whenever, at any time after any Issuing Lender has made payment under any Letter of Credit and has received from any L/C Participant its Revolving
Credit Commitment Percentage of such payment in accordance with this Section 3.4, such Issuing Lender receives any payment related to such Letter of Credit (whether
directly from a Borrower or otherwise, or any payment of interest on account thereof), such Issuing Lender will distribute to such L/C Participant its pro rata share thereof in
accordance with such L/C Participant’s Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage; provided that in the event that any such payment received by such Issuing Lender shall be
required to be returned by such Issuing Lender, such L/C Participant shall return to such Issuing Lender the portion thereof previously distributed by such Issuing Lender to it.

SECTION 3.5  Reimbursement Obligation of the Borrowers; Limitation on Liability.

(a)           Reimbursement Obligation of the Borrowers.  Each Borrower agrees to reimburse each Issuing Lender on each date such Issuing Lender notifies the
Company, on behalf of such Borrower, of the date and amount of a draft paid under any Letter of Credit requested by the Company, on behalf of such Borrower, for the
amount of (i) such draft so paid and (ii) any taxes, fees, charges or other costs or expenses incurred by any Issuing Lender in connection with such payment.  Each such
payment shall be made to any Issuing Lender at its address for notices specified herein in lawful money of the United States and in immediately available funds.  Interest shall
be payable on any and all amounts remaining unpaid by any Borrower under this Article III from the date such amounts become payable (which date shall be the date such
draft is paid, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) until payment in full at the rate which would be payable on any outstanding Base Rate Loans which
were then overdue.  If any Borrower fails to timely reimburse such Issuing Lender on the date the Company, on behalf of such Borrower, receives the notice referred to in this
Section 3.5, such Borrower shall be deemed to have timely given a Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing pursuant to Section 2.2 to the Administrative Agent requesting the
Lenders to make a Base Rate Loan on such date in an amount equal to the amount of such draft paid, together with any taxes, fees, charges or other costs or expenses incurred
by any Issuing Lender and to be reimbursed pursuant to this Section 3.5 and, regardless of whether or not the conditions precedent specified in Article VI have been satisfied,
the Lenders shall make Base Rate Loans in such amount, the proceeds of which shall be applied to reimburse such Issuing Lender for the amount of the related drawing and
costs and expenses.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 3.5 shall obligate
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the Lenders to make such Base Rate Loans if the making of such Base Rate Loans would violate the automatic stay under federal bankruptcy laws.

(b)           Limitation on Liability of Borrowers for Reimbursement Obligations.  Notwithstanding anything in this Section 3.5 or in any other provision of this
Agreement or any other Loan Document to the contrary, the obligations of the Borrowers (other than the Company) to reimburse the Lenders for any drawings under any
Letters of Credit or for any taxes, fees, charges or other costs or expenses incurred by any Issuing Lender in connection with the payment of any drafts by the Issuing Lender
with respect to any Letters of Credit are several and not joint and several obligations of the Borrowers.  Accordingly, no Borrower (other than the Company) shall be obligated
to reimburse the Lenders for any drawings under Letters of Credit that were not requested by such Borrower (or by the Company on behalf of such Borrower), or for any
taxes, fees, charges or other costs or expenses incurred by any Issuing Lender in connection with the payment of any drafts relating to Letters of Credit that were not requested
by such Borrower or by the Company on behalf of such Borrower.  The Company shall be jointly and severally liable to reimburse the Lenders for any drawings under any
Letters of Credit and for any taxes, fees, charges or other costs or expenses incurred by any Issuing Lender in connection with the payment of any drafts by the Issuing Lender
with respect to any Letters of Credit.

SECTION 3.6  Obligations Absolute.

Each Borrower’s obligations under this Article III (including without limitation the Reimbursement Obligation) shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable, and
shall be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under all circumstances, including the following:

(i)            any lack of validity or enforceability of such Letter of Credit, this Agreement, or any other agreement or instrument relating thereto;

(ii)           the existence of any claim, counterclaim, set-off, defense or other right that any Borrower may have at any time against any beneficiary or any transferee of
such Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), the applicable Issuing Lender or any other Person, whether
in connection with this Agreement, the transactions contemplated hereby or by such Letter of Credit or any agreement or instrument relating thereto, or any unrelated
transaction;



(iii)          any draft, demand, certificate or other document presented under such Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect
or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect; or any loss or delay in the transmission or otherwise of any document required in order to make a
drawing under such Letter of Credit;

(iv)          any payment by the applicable Issuing Lender under such Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or certificate that does not strictly comply with the
terms of such Letter of Credit; or any payment made by the Issuing Lender under such Letter of Credit to any Person purporting to be a trustee in bankruptcy, debtor-
in-possession, assignee for
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the benefit of creditors, liquidator, receiver or other representative of or successor to any beneficiary or any transferee of such Letter of Credit, including any arising in
connection with any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law; or

(v)           any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, including any other circumstance that might otherwise
constitute a defense available to, or a discharge of, any Borrower.

No Issuing Lender shall be liable for any error, omission, interruption or delay in transmission, dispatch or delivery of any message or advice, however transmitted, in
connection with any Letter of Credit, except for errors or omissions caused by such Issuing Lender’s gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final non-
appealable decision of a court of competent jurisdiction.  Each Borrower agrees that any action taken or omitted by any Issuing Lender under or in connection with any Letter
of Credit or the related drafts or documents, if done in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct, shall be binding on such Borrower and shall not result in any
liability of any Issuing Lender to such Borrower.  The responsibility of each Issuing Lender to such Borrower in connection with any draft presented for payment under any
Letter of Credit shall, in addition to any payment obligation expressly provided for in such Letter of Credit, be limited to determining that the documents (including each draft)
delivered under such Letter of Credit in connection with such presentment are in conformity with such Letter of Credit.  Each Borrower shall promptly examine a copy of each
Letter of Credit and each amendment thereto that is delivered to it and, in the event of any claim of noncompliance with the applicable Borrower’s instructions or other
irregularity, such Borrower will promptly notify the applicable Issuing Lender.  Each Borrower shall be conclusively deemed to have waived any such claim against the
applicable Issuing Lender and its correspondents unless such notice is given as aforesaid.

SECTION 3.7  Effect of L/C Application.

To the extent that any provision of any L/C Application related to any Letter of Credit is inconsistent with the provisions of this Article III, the provisions of this
Article III shall apply.

ARTICLE IV
GENERAL LOAN PROVISIONS

SECTION 4.1  Interest.

(a)           Interest Rate Options.  Subject to the provisions of this Section 4.1, at the election of a Borrower, the aggregate principal balance of any Revolving Credit
Loans shall bear interest at (i) the Base Rate or (ii) the Offshore Rate plus the Applicable Percentage for Offshore Rate Loans; provided that (A) such interest rate shall be
increased by any amount required pursuant to Section 4.1(f) and (B) Offshore Rate Loans shall not be available until three (3) Business Days after the Closing Date.  Such
Borrower shall select the rate of interest, Interest Period, if any, and Applicable Currency, in the case of an Offshore Currency Loan, applicable to any Revolving Credit Loan
at the time a Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing is given pursuant to Section 2.2, or at the time a Notice of Conversion/Continuation is given pursuant to Section 4.2.  Each
Revolving Credit Loan, Swingline Loan, or portion thereof bearing interest based on the Base
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Rate shall be a “Base Rate Loan,” and each Revolving Credit Loan or portion thereof bearing interest based on the Offshore Rate shall be an “Offshore Rate Loan.” Any
Revolving Credit Loan or any portion thereof as to which the Company, on behalf of a Borrower, requesting such Revolving Credit Loan has not duly specified an interest
rate as provided herein shall be deemed a Base Rate Loan.  A Competitive Bid Loan will bear interest at the Competitive Bid Rate specified in the Competitive Bid accepted
by the Borrower with respect to such Competitive Bid Loan.  Swingline Loans shall bear interest at the Swingline Rate.

(b)           Interest Periods.  In connection with each Offshore Rate Loan and each Competitive Bid Loan, the Company, on behalf of a Borrower, by giving notice at
the times described in Section 4.1(a), shall elect an interest period (each, an “Interest Period”) to be applicable to such Revolving Credit Loan or such Competitive Bid Loan,
which Interest Period shall, unless otherwise agreed by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, be a period of one (1), two (2), three (3), or, if available to all Lenders for
the requested Available Currency, six (6) months with respect to each Offshore Rate Loan, a period of seven (7) days to 180 days with respect to each Dollar Competitive Bid
Loan and a period of seven (7) to sixty (60) days with respect to Offshore Currency Competitive Bid Loans; provided that

(i)            the Interest Period shall commence on the date of advance of or conversion to any Offshore Rate Loan and, in the case of immediately successive
Interest Periods, each successive Interest Period shall commence on the date on which the next preceding Interest Period expires;

(ii)           if any Interest Period would otherwise expire on a day that is not a Business Day, such Interest Period shall expire on the next succeeding Business
Day; provided that if any Interest Period with respect to an Offshore Rate Loan would otherwise expire on a day that is not a Business Day but is a day of the month
after which no further Business Day occurs in such month, such Interest Period shall expire on the next preceding Business Day;

(iii)          any Interest Period with respect to an Offshore Rate Loan that begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no
numerically corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the relevant calendar month at the end of
such Interest Period;

(iv)          no Interest Period shall extend beyond the Termination Date of the facility under which the Loan with respect to which such Interest Period relates
was made; and

(v)           there shall be no more than twelve (12) Offshore Rate Loans (exclusive of Competitive Bid Loans) outstanding hereunder at any time (it being
understood that, for purposes hereof, Offshore Rate Loans with different Interest Periods shall be considered as separate Offshore Rate Loans, even if they begin on the
same date, although borrowings, extensions and conversions may, in accordance with the provisions hereof, be combined by a Borrower at the end of existing Interest
Periods to constitute a new Offshore Rate Loan with a single Interest Period).



48

(c)           Default Rate, etc.  Subject to Section 11.3, (x) in the case of any Event of Default under Section 11.1(a), (b), (d)(i), (g), (h), (i), (j), (m), (n) and (o), unless
otherwise agreed by the Required Lenders, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of such Event of Default, (i) the Company, on behalf of the Borrowers, shall no
longer have the option to request Offshore Rate Loans, (ii) all outstanding Offshore Rate Loans shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of
the rate then applicable to such Offshore Rate Loans until the end of the applicable Interest Period and thereafter at a rate equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate then
applicable to Base Rate Loans, (iii) all outstanding Base Rate Loans shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate then applicable to
Base Rate Loans and (iv) each outstanding Competitive Bid Loan shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate then applicable to such
Competitive Bid Loan and (y) in the case of any other Event of Default, at the option of the Required Lenders exercised by written notice to the Company, upon the
occurrence and during the continuance of such Event of Default, (i) the Company, on behalf of the Borrowers, shall no longer have the option to request Offshore Rate Loans,
(ii) all outstanding Offshore Rate Loans shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate then applicable to such Offshore Rate Loans
until the end of the applicable Interest Period and thereafter at a rate equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate then applicable to Base Rate Loans, (iii) all outstanding
Base Rate Loans shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate then applicable to Base Rate Loans and (iv) each outstanding
Competitive Bid Loan shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate then applicable to such Competitive Bid Loan.  To the greatest
extent permitted by law, interest shall continue to accrue on the amount of Loans outstanding after the filing by or against a Borrower of any petition seeking any relief in
bankruptcy or under any act or law pertaining to insolvency or debtor relief, whether state, federal or foreign.

(d)           Interest Payment and Computation.  Interest on each Base Rate Loan shall be payable in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter
commencing on the first of such dates to occur after the Closing Date, and interest on each Offshore Rate Loan and each Competitive Bid Loan shall be payable on the last day
of each Interest Period applicable thereto, and if such Interest Period exceeds three (3) months, at the end of each three (3) month interval during such Interest Period.  Interest
on all Loans and all fees payable hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year and assessed for the actual number of days elapsed; provided that interest on
Loans bearing interest at a rate based upon the Base Rate shall be computed on the basis of a 365- or 366-day year, as applicable.  Interest on each Swingline Loan shall be
payable in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter, commencing on the first of such dates to occur after the Closing Date.

(e)           Maximum Rate.  In no contingency or event whatsoever shall the aggregate of all amounts deemed interest hereunder or under any of the Notes charged or
collected pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or pursuant to any of the Notes exceed the highest rate permissible under any Applicable Law which a court of competent
jurisdiction shall, in a final determination, deem applicable hereto.  In the event that such a court determines that the Lenders have charged or received interest hereunder in
excess of the highest applicable rate, the rate in effect hereunder shall automatically be reduced to the maximum rate permitted by Applicable Law and the Lenders shall at the
Administrative Agent’s option (i) promptly refund to the Borrowers any interest received by Lenders in excess of the maximum lawful rate or (ii) shall apply such excess
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to the principal balance of the Obligations.  It is the intent hereof that the Borrowers not pay or contract to pay, and that neither the Administrative Agent nor any Lender
receive or contract to receive, directly or indirectly in any manner whatsoever, interest in excess of that which may be paid by the Borrowers under Applicable Law.

(f)            Mandatory Costs.  In the case of a Revolving Credit Loan that is an Offshore Currency Loan, the otherwise applicable interest rate determined pursuant to
Section 4.1(a) shall be increased by the Mandatory Cost, if any, of the applicable Lender associated with such Loan, computed in the manner set forth in Schedule 4.1(f)
attached hereto.

(g)           Determination of Rates.  The Administrative Agent shall determine each interest rate applicable to the Loans hereunder as follows:  (i) on the same
Business Day of the date of borrowing for each Base Rate Loan and (ii) two (2) Business Days before the date of borrowing of (A) each Offshore Rate Loan denominated in
Dollars and (B) each Offshore Currency Loan.  The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Lenders of such rate in writing (or by telephone,
promptly confirmed in writing).  Any such determination shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent manifest error.

SECTION 4.2  Conversion and Continuation of Revolving Credit Loans.

Provided that no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is then continuing, and subject to the terms of this Agreement, any Borrower shall have the option (a)
to convert all or any portion of its outstanding Base Rate Loans in a principal amount equal to $1,000,000 or any whole multiple of $500,000 in excess thereof into one or
more Offshore Rate Loans denominated in Dollars or an Offshore Currency and (b)(i) to convert all or any part of its outstanding Offshore Rate Loans in a principal amount
equal to $500,000 or a whole multiple of $100,000 in excess thereof into Base Rate Loans denominated in Dollars or (ii) to continue Offshore Rate Loans, whether
denominated in Dollars or Offshore Currency Loans, as Offshore Rate Loans in the same currency for an additional Interest Period; provided that if any conversion or
continuation is made on a day other than the last day of any Interest Period, such Borrower shall pay any amount required to be paid pursuant to Section 4.9 hereof. Whenever
a Borrower desires to convert or continue Revolving Credit Loans or Swingline Loans as provided above, the Company, on behalf of such Borrower, shall give the
Administrative Agent irrevocable prior written notice in the form attached as Exhibit F (a “Notice of Conversion/Continuation”) not later than 11:00 a.m. (Atlanta time) three
(3) Business Days before the day on which a proposed conversion or continuation of such Revolving Credit Loan or Swingline Loan is to be effective (except in the case of a
conversion of an Offshore Rate Loan denominated in Dollars to a Base Rate Loan, in which case same day notice not later than 11:00 a.m. (Atlanta time) by the Borrower
shall be sufficient) specifying (A) the Revolving Credit Loans or Swingline Loans to be converted or continued, the facility under which such Loans were made and, in the
case of any Offshore Rate Loan to be converted or continued, the last day of the Interest Period therefor, (B) the effective date of such conversion or continuation (which shall
be a Business Day), (C) the principal Dollar Equivalent amount of such Revolving Credit Loans to be converted or continued, (D) the Interest Period to be applicable to such
converted or continued Offshore Rate Loan and (E) in the case of any continued Offshore Rate Loan which is an Offshore Currency Loan, the Applicable Currency.  The
Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Lenders of such Notice of Conversion/Continuation.
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SECTION 4.3  Fees.

(a)           Facility Fee.  The Company agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the Lenders, a non-refundable facility fee (the “Facility Fee”) at a
rate per annum equal to the Applicable Percentage for Facility Fee for the Revolving Credit Facility on the average daily amount of the Aggregate Revolving Credit
Commitment during the applicable period, regardless of usage.  The Facility Fee shall apply to the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the termination of
the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment and shall be payable in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter for the immediately preceding calendar quarter
(or portion thereof), beginning with the first such date to occur after the Closing Date.  Such Facility Fee shall be distributed by the Administrative Agent to the Lenders pro
rata in accordance with the Lenders’ respective Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage.



(b)           Administrative Fees.  The Company agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own account, the fees referred to in the Administrative Agent’s Fee
Letter.

SECTION 4.4  Manner of Payment.

Each payment by a Borrower on account of the principal of or interest on the Loans or of any fee (including any L/C Fees relating to an Letter of Credit denominated
in an Offshore Currency), commission or other amounts (including the Reimbursement Obligation) payable to the Lenders under this Agreement or any Note shall be made on
the date specified for payment under this Agreement to the Administrative Agent at the Administrative Agent’s Office for the account of the Lenders (other than as set forth in
the next sentence below), in Dollars (other than as set forth below), in immediately available funds and shall be made without any set-off, counterclaim or deduction
whatsoever.  Payment of principal of, interest on or any other amount relating to any Offshore Currency Loan shall be made in the Offshore Currency in which such Loan is
denominated or payable.  Such payments, if denominated in Dollars, shall be made no later than 2:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on the relevant date and, if denominated in an
Offshore Currency, by such time as the Administrative Agent may determine to be necessary for such funds to be credited on such date in accordance with normal banking
practices in the place of payment.  Any payment denominated in Dollars received after 1:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) but before 2:00 p.m. (Atlanta time) on a due date shall be
deemed a payment on such date for the purposes of Section 11.1, but for all other purposes shall be deemed to have been made on the next succeeding Business Day.  Any
payment denominated in Dollars received after 2:00 p.m. (Atlanta time), or any payment denominated in an Offshore Currency received after the relevant time determined by
the Administrative Agent, shall be deemed to have been made on the next succeeding Business Day for all purposes. Each payment to the Administrative Agent of the L/C
Fees shall be made in like manner, but for the account of the Issuing Lenders and the L/C Participants.  Each payment to the Administrative Agent of Administrative Agent’s
fees or expenses shall be made for the account of the Administrative Agent and any amount payable to any Lender under Section 2.5, 2.6, 4.8, 4.9, 4.10, 4.11 or 13.2 shall be
paid to the Administrative Agent for the account of the applicable Lender.  The Administrative Agent shall distribute any such payments received by it for the account of any
other Lender to such Lender promptly following receipt thereof and shall wire advice of the amount of such credit to such Lender.  Subject to Section 4.l(b)(ii), if any payment
under this Agreement or any Note shall be specified
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to be made upon a day which is not a Business Day, it shall be made on the next succeeding day which is a Business Day and such extension of time shall in such case be
included in computing any interest if payable along with such payment.

SECTION 4.5  Crediting of Payments and Proceeds.

In the event that any Borrower shall fail to pay any of the Obligations when due and the Obligations have been accelerated pursuant to Section 11.2, all payments
received by the Lenders upon the Notes and the other Obligations and all net proceeds from the enforcement of the Obligations of such Borrower shall be applied first to all
expenses then due and payable by such Borrower hereunder, then to all indemnity obligations then due and payable by such Borrower hereunder, then to all Administrative
Agent’s fees then due and payable allocable to such Borrower, then to all commitment and other fees and commissions then due and payable allocable to such Borrower, then
to accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes issued by such Borrower and L/C Fees owing from such Borrower, then to the principal amount of the Notes and Reimbursement
Obligations of such Borrower and then to the cash collateral account described in Section 11.2(b) hereof to the extent of any L/C Obligations of such Borrower then
outstanding, in that order (in each case, if applicable, pro rata in accordance with all such amounts due).

SECTION 4.6  Adjustments.

If any Lender (a “Benefited Lender”) shall at any time receive any payment of all or part of the Obligations owing to it, or interest thereon, or if any Lender shall at
any time receive any collateral in respect to the Obligations owing to it (whether voluntarily or involuntarily, by set- off or otherwise) in a greater proportion than any such
payment to and collateral received by any other Lender, if any, in respect of the Obligations owing to such other Lender, or interest thereon, such Benefited Lender shall
purchase for cash from the other Lenders such portion of each such other Lender’s Extensions of Credit, or shall provide such other Lenders with the benefits of any such
collateral, or the proceeds thereof, as shall be necessary to cause such Benefited Lender to share the excess payment or benefits of such collateral or proceeds ratably with each
of the Lenders; provided that if all or any portion of such excess payment or benefits is thereafter recovered from such Benefited Lender, such purchase shall be rescinded, and
the purchase price and benefits returned to the extent of such recovery, but without interest.  Each Borrower agrees that each Lender so purchasing a portion of another
Lender’s Extensions of Credit may exercise all rights of payment (including, without limitation, rights of set-off) with respect to such portion as fully as if such Lender were
the direct holder of such portion.

SECTION 4.7  Nature of Obligations of Lenders Regarding Extensions of Credit; Assumption by the Administrative Agent.

(a)           The obligations of the Lenders under this Agreement to make the Loans and issue or participate in Letters of Credit are several and are not joint or joint and
several.

(b)           Unless any Borrower or any Lender has notified the Administrative Agent prior to the date any payment is required to be made by it to the Administrative
Agent hereunder, that such Borrower or such Lender, as the case may be, will not make such payment, the
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Administrative Agent may assume that such Borrower or such Lender, as the case may be, has timely made such payment and may (but shall not be so required to), in
reliance thereon, make available a corresponding amount to the Person entitled thereto.  If and to the extent that such payment was not in fact made to the Administrative
Agent in immediately available funds, then:

(i)            if any Borrower failed to make such payment, each Lender shall forthwith on demand repay to the Administrative Agent the portion of such
assumed payment that was made available to such Lender in immediately available funds, together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the
date such amount was made available by the Administrative Agent to such Lender to the date such amount is repaid to the Administrative Agent in immediately
available funds, at the Federal Funds Rate from time to time in effect; and

(ii)           if any Lender failed to make such payment, such Lender shall forthwith on demand pay to the Administrative Agent the amount thereof in
immediately available funds, together with interest thereon for the period from the date such amount was made available by the Administrative Agent to the applicable
Borrower to the date such amount is recovered by the Administrative Agent (the “Compensation Period”) at a rate per annum equal to the Federal Funds Rate from
time to time in effect.  If such Lender pays such amount to the Administrative Agent, then such amount shall constitute such Lender’s Loan, as the case may be,
included in the applicable Borrowing.  If such Lender does not pay such amount forthwith upon the Administrative Agent’s demand therefor, the Administrative Agent
may make a demand therefor upon the applicable Borrower, and such Borrower shall pay such amount to the Administrative Agent, together with interest thereon for
the Compensation Period at a rate per annum equal to the rate of interest applicable to the applicable Borrowing.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to relieve any
Lender from its obligation to fulfill its Revolving Credit Commitment or to prejudice any rights which the Administrative Agent or any Borrower may have against



any Lender as a result of any default by such Lender hereunder.

A notice of the Administrative Agent to any Lender with respect to any amount owing under this subsection (b) shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.

SECTION 4.8  Changed Circumstances.

(a)           Circumstances Affecting Offshore Rate Availability.  If with respect to any Interest Period: (i) the Administrative Agent or any Lender (after consultation
with the Administrative Agent) shall determine that for any reason adequate and reasonable means do not exist for determining the Offshore Rate for any requested Interest
Period with respect to a proposed Offshore Rate Loan or (ii) the Required Lenders reasonably determine (which determination shall be conclusive) and notify the
Administrative Agent that the LIBOR Rate will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to the Required Lenders of funding Offshore Rate Loans for such Interest Period, then
the Administrative Agent shall forthwith give notice thereof to the Company.  Thereafter, until the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrowers that such circumstances no
longer exist, the obligation of the Lenders to make Offshore Rate Loans and the right of the Borrowers to convert any Revolving Credit Loan to or continue any Revolving
Credit Loan as an Offshore Rate Loan shall be suspended, and the Borrowers shall repay in full
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(or cause to be repaid in full) the then outstanding principal amount of each such Offshore Rate Loan together with accrued interest thereon, on the last day of the then current
Interest Period applicable to such Offshore Rate Loan or convert the then outstanding principal amount of each such Offshore Rate Loan to a Base Rate Loan as of the last day
of such Interest Period (Offshore Currency Loans which are not repaid shall be redenominated and converted into their Dollar Equivalent of Base Rate Loans in Dollars).

(b)           Laws Affecting Offshore Rate Availability.  If, after the date hereof, the introduction of, or any change in, any Applicable Law or any change in the
interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or
compliance by any Lender (or any of their respective Lending Offices) with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) issued after the date hereof of
any such Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency, shall make it unlawful or impossible for any of the Lenders (or any of their respective Lending
Offices) to honor its obligations hereunder to make or maintain any Offshore Rate Loan, such Lender shall promptly give notice thereof to the Administrative Agent and the
Administrative Agent shall promptly give notice to the Company and the other Lenders.  Thereafter, until the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrowers that such
circumstances no longer exist, (i) the obligations of the affected Lenders to make Offshore Rate Loans and the right of the Borrowers to convert any Revolving Credit Loan of
the affected Lenders or continue any Revolving Credit Loan of the affected Lenders as an Offshore Rate Loan shall be suspended and thereafter the Borrowers may select
only Base Rate Loans hereunder, (ii) if any of the Lenders may not lawfully continue to maintain an Offshore Rate Loan to the end of the then current Interest Period
applicable thereto as an Offshore Rate Loan, the applicable Offshore Rate Loan of the affected Lenders shall immediately be converted to a Base Rate Loan for the remainder
of such Interest Period (Offshore Currency Loans shall be redenominated and converted into their Dollar Equivalent of Base Rate Loans in Dollars) and the Borrowers shall
pay any amount required to be paid pursuant to Section 4.9 in connection therewith and (iii) if any of the Lenders may not lawfully continue to maintain a Competitive Bid
Loan which bears interest at a rate based on the Offshore Rate to the end of the then current Interest Period applicable thereto at such rate of interest, such Competitive Bid
Loan of the affected Lender shall immediately be converted to a Base Rate Loan for the remainder of such Interest Period.  The Borrowers shall repay the outstanding
principal amount of any Competitive Bid Loans converted into Base Rate Loans in accordance with clause (iii) of this Section 4.8(b), together with all accrued but unpaid
interest thereon and any amount required to be paid pursuant to Section 4.9 hereof, on the last day of the Interest Period applicable to such Competitive Bid Loans.

(c)           Increased Costs.  If, after the date hereof, the introduction of, or any change in, any Applicable Law, or in the interpretation or administration thereof by
any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any of the Lenders (or any of
their respective Lending Offices) with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) issued after the date hereof of such Governmental Authority, central
bank or comparable agency:

(i)            shall subject any of the Lenders (or any of their respective Lending Offices) to any tax, duty or other charge with respect to any Note, Letter of
Credit or L/C Application or shall change the basis of taxation of payments to any of the Lenders (or
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any of their respective Lending Offices) of the principal of or interest on any Note, Letter of Credit or L/C Application or any other amounts due under this Agreement
in respect thereof (except for taxes of the type excluded from the indemnity provided for in Section 4.11(a)); or

(ii)           shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including, without limitation, any imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System, other than any reserve included in the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage), special deposit, insurance or capital or similar requirement against assets of, deposits
with or for the account of, or credit extended by any of the Lenders (or any of their respective Lending Offices) or shall impose on any of the Lenders (or any of their
respective Lending Offices) or the foreign exchange and interbank markets any other condition affecting any Note;

and the result of any event of the kind described in the foregoing clause (i) or this clause (ii), is to increase the costs to any of the Lenders of maintaining any Offshore Rate
Loan, Competitive Bid Loan or issuing or participating in Letters of Credit or to reduce the yield or amount of any sum received or receivable by any of the Lenders under this
Agreement or under the Notes or any Letter of Credit or L/C Application in respect of an Offshore Rate Loan or Letter of Credit, then such Lender may promptly notify the
Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Company, on behalf of the respective Borrower, of such fact and demand compensation therefor
and, within fifteen (15) days after such notice by the Administrative Agent, such Borrower shall pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate
such Lender or Lenders for such increased cost or reduction, provided that the Borrowers shall not be required to compensate a Lender or the Issuing Lender under this
Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than 90 days prior to the date that such Lender or the Issuing Lender notifies the Company of such increased costs
or reductions and of such Lender’s or the Issuing Lender’s intention to claim compensation therefor.  The Administrative Agent and the applicable Lender will promptly notify
the Company, on behalf of the respective Borrower, of any event of which it has knowledge which will entitle such Lender to compensation pursuant to this Section 4.8(c);
provided that the Administrative Agent shall incur no liability whatsoever to the Lenders or the Borrowers in the event it fails to do so.  The amount of such compensation
shall be determined, in the applicable Lender’s reasonable discretion, based upon the assumption that such Lender funded its Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment
Percentage of the Offshore Rate Loans, or the amount of any Competitive Bid Loans made by such Lender, in the London interbank market and using any reasonable
attribution or averaging methods which such Lender deems appropriate and practical.  A certificate of such Lender setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for determining
such amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender shall be forwarded to the respective Borrower through the Administrative Agent and shall be conclusively
presumed to be correct save for manifest error.

SECTION 4.9  Indemnity.

Upon demand of any Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent) from time to time, the Borrowers shall promptly compensate such Lender for and hold such
Lender harmless from any loss, cost or expense incurred by it as a result of:
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(a)           any continuation, conversion, payment or prepayment of any Loan other than a Base Rate Loan on a day other than the last day of the Interest Period for
such Loan (whether voluntary, mandatory, automatic, by reason of acceleration, or otherwise); or

(b)           any failure by any Borrower (for a reason other than the failure of such Lender to make a Loan) to prepay, borrow, continue or convert any Loan other than
a Base Rate Loan on the date or in the amount notified by such Borrower;

including any loss or expense arising from the liquidation or reemployment of funds obtained by it to maintain such Loan or from fees payable to terminate the deposits from
which such funds were obtained.  The Borrowers shall also pay any customary administrative fees charged by such Lender in connection with the foregoing.  For purposes of
calculating amounts payable by the Borrowers to the Lenders under this Section 4.9, each Lender shall be deemed to have funded each Offshore Rate Loan made by it by a
matching deposit or other borrowing in the London Dollar interbank market for a comparable amount and for a comparable period, whether or not such Offshore Rate Loan
was in fact so funded.

SECTION 4.10  Capital Requirements.

If either (a) the introduction of, or any change in, or in the interpretation of, any Applicable Law after the date hereof or (b) compliance with any guideline or request
issued after the date hereof from any central bank or comparable agency or other Governmental Authority (whether or not having the force of law), has or would have the
effect of reducing the rate of return on the capital of, or has affected or would affect the amount of capital required to be maintained by, any Lender or any corporation
controlling such Lender as a consequence of, or with reference to any Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment or with reference to the Swingline Lender’s Swingline
Maximum and other commitments of this type, below the rate which the Lender or such other corporation could have achieved but for such introduction, change or
compliance, then within five (5) Business Days after written demand by any such Lender, the Borrowers shall pay to such Lender from time to time as specified by such
Lender additional amounts sufficient to compensate such Lender or other corporation for such reduction, provided that the Borrower shall not be required to pay to such
Lender such additional amounts under this Section for any amount incurred as a result of such reduction more than 90 days prior to the date that such Lender or the Issuing
Lender notifies the Borrower of such reduction and of such Lender’s or the Issuing Lender’s intention to claim compensation therefor.  A certificate of such Lender setting
forth in reasonable detail the basis for determining such amounts necessary to compensate such Lender shall be forwarded to the Borrowers through the Administrative Agent
and shall be conclusively presumed to be correct save for manifest error.

SECTION 4.11  Taxes.

(a)           Payments Free and Clear.  Any and all payments by any Borrower hereunder or under the Notes or the Letters of Credit shall be made free and clear of and
without deduction for any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholding, and all liabilities with respect thereto excluding, (i) in the case of
each Lender and the Administrative Agent, income and franchise taxes imposed on (or measured by) its net income by the United States of America or by the jurisdiction
under the laws of which such Lender or the
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Administrative Agent (as the case may be) is organized or its principal office is located or is or should be qualified to do business or any political subdivision thereof, or in the
case of any Lender, in which its applicable Lending Office is located (provided, however, that no Lender shall be deemed to be located in any jurisdiction solely as a result of
taking any action related to this Agreement, the Notes or Letters of Credit) and (ii) any branch profits tax imposed by the United States of America or any similar tax imposed
by any other jurisdiction described in clause (i) above (all such non-excluded taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings and liabilities being hereinafter referred
to as “Taxes”).  If any Borrower shall be required by law to deduct any Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder or under any Note or Letter of Credit to any
Lender or the Administrative Agent, (A) the sum payable shall be increased as may be necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable
to additional sums payable under this Section 4.11) such Lender or the Administrative Agent (as the case may be) receives an amount equal to the amount such party would
have received had no such deductions been made, (B) such Borrower shall make such deductions, (C) such Borrower shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxing
authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law, and (D) such Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent evidence of such payment to the relevant
taxing authority or other authority in the manner provided in Section 4.11(d).  No Borrower shall, however, be required to pay any amounts pursuant to clause (A) of the
preceding sentence to any Foreign Lender or the Administrative Agent not organized under the laws of the United States of America or a state thereof (or the District of
Columbia) if such Foreign Lender or the Administrative Agent fails to comply with the requirements of paragraph (e) of this Section 4.11.

(b)           Stamp and Other Taxes.  In addition, the Borrowers shall pay any present or future stamp, registration, recordation or documentary taxes or any other
similar fees or charges or excise or property taxes, levies of the United States or any state or political subdivision thereof or any applicable foreign jurisdiction which arise
from any payment made hereunder or from the execution, delivery or registration of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement, the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the other
Loan Documents, or the perfection of any rights or security interest in respect thereto (hereinafter referred to as “Other Taxes”).

(c)           Indemnity.  Each Borrower shall indemnify each Lender and the Administrative Agent for the full amount of Taxes and Other Taxes (including, without
limitation, any Taxes and Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 4.11) paid by such Lender or the Administrative Agent (as the case
may be) and any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or
legally asserted. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability prepared by a Lender or the Administrative Agent, absent manifest error, shall be conclusive,
provided that if the Borrowers reasonably believe that such Taxes or Other Taxes were not correctly or legally asserted, such Lender or the Administrative Agent (as the case
may be) shall use reasonable efforts to cooperate with the Borrowers, at the Borrowers’ expense, to obtain a refund of such Taxes or Other Taxes.  Such indemnification shall
be made within thirty (30) days from the date such Lender or the Administrative Agent (as the case may be) makes written demand therefor.  If a Lender or the Administrative
Agent shall become aware that it is entitled to receive a refund in respect of Taxes or Other Taxes, it promptly shall notify the Company, on behalf of the respective Borrower,
of the availability of such refund and shall, within sixty (60) days after receipt of a request by the Company, on behalf of such Borrower,

57

pursue or timely claim such refund at such Borrower’s expense.  If any Lender or the Administrative Agent receives a refund in respect of any Taxes or Other Taxes for which
such Lender or the Administrative Agent has received payment from any Borrower hereunder, it promptly shall repay such refund (plus interest received, if any) to such
Borrower (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by such Borrower under this Section 4.11 with respect to Taxes or Other Taxes
giving rise to such refund), provided that such Borrower, upon the request of such Lender or the Administrative Agent, agrees to return such refund (plus any penalties, interest
or other charges required to be paid) to such Lender or the Administrative Agent in the event such Lender or the Administrative Agent is required to repay such refund to the
relevant taxing authority.  Nothing contained in this Section 4.11(c) shall require the Administrative Agent or any Lender to make available its tax returns (or any other



information relating to its taxes which it deems confidential).

(d)           Evidence of Payment.  Within thirty (30) days after the date of any payment of Taxes or Other Taxes, the respective Borrower shall furnish to the
Administrative Agent, at its address referred to in Section 13.1, the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof or other evidence of payment
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(e)           Delivery of Tax Forms.  Each Foreign Lender shall deliver to the Company (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), at the time or times prescribed by
applicable law, such properly completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Company as will permit all payments under
this Agreement to be made without withholding.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Foreign Lender agrees that it will deliver to the Administrative Agent
and the Company (or in the case of a Participant, to the Lender from which the related participation shall have been purchased) (i) two (2) duly completed copies of Internal
Revenue Service Form W-8ECI or W-8BEN, or any successor form thereto, as the case may be, certifying in each case that such Foreign Lender is entitled to receive
payments made by any Borrower hereunder and under the Notes payable to it, without deduction or withholding of any United States federal income taxes and (ii) a duly
completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-8 or W-9, or any successor form thereto, as the case may be, to establish an exemption from United State backup withholding
tax.  Each such Foreign Lender shall deliver to the Company and the Administrative Agent such forms on or before the date that it becomes a party to this Agreement (or in
the case of a Participant, on or before the date such Participant purchases the related participation).  In addition, each such Lender shall deliver such forms promptly upon the
obsolescence or invalidity of any form previously delivered by such Lender.  Each such Lender shall promptly notify the Company and the Administrative Agent at any time
that it determines that it is no longer in a position to provide any previously delivered certificate to the Company (or any other form of certification adopted by the U.S. taxing
authorities for such purpose) which notice shall create in Borrower the right to replace such Lender pursuant to Section 4.12 hereof.

(f)            Each Lender agrees upon the request of the Company and at the Company’s expense to complete, accurately and in a manner reasonably satisfactory to the
Company and the Administrative Agent, and to execute, arrange for any required certification of, and deliver to the Company (with a copy to the Administrative Agent) (or to
such government or taxing authority as the Company or Administrative Agent reasonably directs), any other form or document that may be required under the laws of any
jurisdiction outside the United States to allow the
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Company or any other Borrower to make a payment under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents without any deduction or withholding for or on account of any taxes
of the type described in this Section 4.11 or with any such deduction or withholding for or on account of such taxes at a reduced rate, in each case so long as such Lender is
(i) legally entitled to provide such certification and deliver such form or document and (ii) such action is consistent with its overall tax policies and is not otherwise, in the
judgment of such Lender, impractical or disadvantageous in any material respect to such Lender.

(g)           Notwithstanding any provision of this Section 4.11 to the contrary, no Borrower shall have any obligation to pay any taxes or to indemnify any Lender for
such taxes pursuant to this Section 4.11 to the extent that such taxes result from (i) the failure of any Lender to comply with its obligations pursuant to Section 4.11(f) or
(ii) any representation made on Form 1001, 4224 or W-8 or successor applicable form or certification by any Lender incurring such taxes proving to have been incorrect, false
or misleading in any material respect when so made or deemed to be made or (iii) such Lender changing its applicable Lending Office to a jurisdiction in which such taxes
arise, except to the extent in the judgment of such Lender such change was required by the terms of this Agreement.

(h)           To the extent that the payment of any Lender’s Taxes or Other Taxes by the Borrowers hereunder gives rise from time to time to a Tax Benefit (defined
below) to such Lender in any jurisdiction other than the jurisdiction which imposed such Taxes or Other Taxes, such Lender shall pay to the Borrowers the amount of each
such Tax Benefit so recognized or received.  The amount of each Tax Benefit and, therefore, payment to the Borrowers will be determined from time to time by the relevant
Lender in its sole discretion, which determination shall be binding and conclusive on all parties hereto.  Each such payment will be due and payable by such Lender to the
Borrowers within a reasonable time after the filing of the tax return in which such Tax Benefit is recognized or, in the case of any tax refund, after the refund is received;
provided, however, if at any time thereafter such Lender is required to rescind such Tax Benefit or such Tax Benefit is otherwise disallowed or nullified, the Borrowers shall
promptly, after notice thereof from such Lender, repay to such Lender the amount of such Tax Benefit previously paid to it by such Lender and which has been rescinded,
disallowed or nullified.  For purposes hereof, the term “Tax Benefit” shall mean the amount by which any Lender’s income tax liability for the taxable period in question is
reduced below what would have been payable had the Borrowers not been required to pay such Lender’s taxes hereunder.

(i)            Survival.  Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrower hereunder, the agreements and obligations of the Borrowers contained
in this Section 4.11 shall survive the payment in full of the Obligations and the termination of the Revolving Credit Commitment, but shall be limited in duration to the
applicable statute of limitations for Taxes or Other Taxes for which indemnification is sought.

SECTION 4.12  Mitigation of Obligations; Replacement of Lenders.

(a)           If any Lender requests compensation under Section 4.8, or if any Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental
Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Sections 4.10 or 4.11, then such Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or
booking its Loans hereunder or to
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assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the sole judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would
eliminate or reduce amounts payable under Sections 4.8, 4.10 or 4.11, as the case may be,  in the future and (ii) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or
expense and would not otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender.  The Borrowers hereby agree to pay all costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with
such designation or assignment.

(b)           If (i) any Lender requests compensation under Section 4.8, (ii) any Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental
Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Sections 4.10 or 4.11, (iii) any Lender is unable to make Offshore Rate Loans for the reasons set forth in Section 2.18 or is
unwilling to accept a proposed Designated Borrower because it is unwilling or unable to obtain additional licenses or franchises to enable it to make such requested Loan, (iv)
any Lender defaults in its obligation to fund Loans hereunder, or (v) any Lender does not consent to a proposed amendment, waiver, consent or release with respect to any
Loan Document that requires the consent of each Lender and that has been approved by the Required Lenders then the Company may, at its sole expense (including as to any
assignment fees payable in connection therewith) and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without
recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions set forth in Section 13.9 all its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement (other than any outstanding
Competitive Bid Loans held by such Lender) to an assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender); provided that (A) the Company shall
have received the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, (B) such Lender shall have received
payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal amount of all Loans (other than any outstanding Competitive Bid Loans) owed to it, accrued interest thereon, accrued
fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder, from the assignee (in the case of such outstanding principal and accrued interest) and from the Company (in the case of all
other amounts), (C) in the case of a claim for compensation under Section 4.8 or payments required to be made pursuant to Sections 4.10 or 4.11, such assignment will result



in a reduction in such compensation or payments, (D) in the case of an assignment and delegation pursuant to clause (v) above, the applicable amendment, waiver, consent or
release can be effected as a result of the assignment contemplated hereby (together with all other such assignments required by the Company to be made pursuant hereto), and
(E) such assignment does not conflict with Applicable Laws.  A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a
waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Company to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

ARTICLE V
CLOSING; CONDITIONS OF CLOSING AND BORROWING

SECTION 5.1  Conditions to Closing.

The obligations of the Lenders to close this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of each of the following conditions:

(a)           Executed Loan Documents.  This Agreement, the Revolving Credit Notes (if any) and all other applicable Loan Documents shall have been duly
authorized, executed and
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delivered to the Administrative Agent by the parties thereto, shall be in full force and effect and no  Default shall exist hereunder or thereunder.

(b)           Closing Certificates; Etc.

(i)            Officers’ Certificates.  The Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate from a Responsible Officer, in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, to the effect that all representations and warranties of the Borrowers contained in this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents are true, correct and complete in all material respects; that the Borrowers are not in violation of any of the covenants contained in this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents; that, after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; and
that each of the closing conditions has been satisfied or waived (assuming satisfaction of the Administrative Agent where not advised otherwise).

(ii)           General Certificates.  The Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate of the secretary, assistant secretary of each Borrower certifying as to
the incumbency and genuineness of the signature of each officer of such Borrower executing Loan Documents to which it is a party and certifying that attached thereto
is a true, correct and complete copy of (A) the articles of incorporation, certificate of limited partnership, or certificate or articles of formation, of such Borrower and
all amendments thereto, certified as of a recent date by the appropriate Governmental Authority in its jurisdiction of incorporation or formation, (B) the bylaws,
partnership agreement or operating agreement of such Borrower as in effect on the date of such certifications, and (C) resolutions duly adopted by the Board of
Directors of such Borrower authorizing, as applicable, the borrowings contemplated hereunder and the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents to which it is a party.

(iii)          Certificates of Good Standing.  The Administrative Agent shall have received certificates as of a recent date of the good standing of the Borrowers
under the laws of their respective jurisdictions of organization and certificates as of a recent date of the good standing of each Borrower under the laws of each other
jurisdiction where such Borrower is qualified to do business and where a failure to be so qualified could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(iv)          Opinions of Counsel.  The Administrative Agent shall have received opinions in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent of internal and external counsel to the Company and any other Designated Borrower, addressed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders with respect to the
Borrowers, the Loan Documents and such other matters as the Administrative Agent shall reasonably request.

(c)           Consents; Defaults.

(i)            Governmental and Third Party Approvals.  The Borrowers shall have obtained all approvals, authorizations and consents of any Person and of all
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Governmental Authorities and courts having jurisdiction necessary in order to enter into this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as of the Closing Date. 
Additionally, there shall not exist any judgment, order, injunction or other restraint issued or filed or a hearing seeking injunctive relief or other restraint pending or
notified prohibiting or imposing materially adverse conditions upon the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents or otherwise
referred to herein or therein.

(ii)           No Event of Default.  No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.

(d)           No Material Adverse Effect.  Since December 31, 2005 nothing shall have occurred (and neither the Administrative Agent nor the Lenders shall have
become aware of any facts or conditions not previously known) which has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

(e)           Financial Matters.

(i)            Financial Statements.  The Administrative Agent shall have received and reviewed (A) the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
Subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, including balance sheets, income and cash flow statements audited by independent public accountants of
recognized national standing and prepared in conformity with GAAP, and the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the fiscal
quarter ending March 31, 2006, and (B) such other financial information as the Administrative Agent may request.

(ii)           Payment at Closing.  The Borrowers shall have paid any accrued and unpaid fees or commissions due hereunder (including, without limitation, legal
fees and expenses payable under Section 13.2, to the extent invoiced) to the Administrative Agent and Lenders, and to any other Person such amount as may be due
thereto in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including all taxes, fees and other charges in connection with the execution, delivery, recording, filing
and registration of any of the Loan Documents.

(f)            Litigation.  As of the Closing Date, there shall be no actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to the best knowledge of any Borrower, threatened (i) with
respect to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or (ii) which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(g)           Miscellaneous.



(i)            Proceedings and Documents. All Loan Documents, opinions, certificates and other instruments and all proceedings in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Administrative Agent.

(ii)           Accuracy and Completeness of Information.  All information taken as an entirety made available to the Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders by
the Borrowers or any of their representatives in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby
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(“Information”) is and will be complete and correct in all material respects as of the date made available to the Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders and does not
and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading.

SECTION 5.2  Conditions to All Extensions of Credit.

The obligation of each Lender to make any Extension of Credit hereunder (including the initial Extension of Credit to be made hereunder) is subject to the
satisfaction of the following conditions precedent on the relevant borrowing or issue date, as applicable:

(a)           Continuation of Representations and Warranties.  The representations and warranties contained in Article VI shall be true and correct in all material respects
on and as of such borrowing or issuance date with the same effect as if made on and as of such date, except for any representation and warranty made as of an earlier date,
which representation and warranty shall remain true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date.

(b)           No Existing Default.  No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing hereunder on the date of such Extension of Credit, both before
and after giving effect to the Loans to be made on such date and/or the Letters of Credit to be issued on such date.

(c)           Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing.  To the extent applicable, the Administrative Agent shall have received a Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing
and/or Notice of Swingline Borrowing from the Company on behalf of the relevant Borrower in accordance with Section 2.2(a) or a Competitive Bid Request in accordance
with Section 2.5(a) and a Notice of Account Designation specifying the account or accounts to which the proceeds of any Loans made after the Closing Date are to be
disbursed.

(d)           Borrower Joinder Agreement Documents.  In the case of any Loan to a new Designated Borrower, the Administrative Agent shall have received a Borrower
Joinder Agreement together with any other documents, certificates, information or legal opinions from a Designated Borrower as specified in Section 2.10 hereof.

The occurrence of the Closing Date and the acceptance by any Borrower of the benefits of each Extension of Credit hereunder shall constitute a representation and
warranty by such Borrower to the Administrative Agent and each of the Lenders that all the conditions specified in Sections 5.1 and 5.2 and applicable to such borrowing have
been satisfied as of that time or waived in writing by the Lenders.  All of the Notes, certificates, legal opinions and other documents and papers referred to in Sections 5.1 and
5.2, unless otherwise specified, shall be delivered to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of each of the Lenders and, except for the Notes, in sufficient counterparts or
copies for each of the Lenders and shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
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ARTICLE VI
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE CREDIT PARTIES

SECTION 6.1  Representations and Warranties.

To induce the Administrative Agent and Lenders to enter into this Agreement and to induce the Lenders to make Extensions of Credit, each Borrower hereby
represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and Lenders that:

(a)           Organization; Power; Qualification.  Each of the Borrowers and its Subsidiaries (other than inactive Subsidiaries which are not Material Subsidiaries) is duly
organized, validly existing and in good standing or active status, as applicable under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation, has the power and authority
to own its properties and to carry on its business as now being and hereafter proposed to be conducted and is duly qualified and authorized to do business in each jurisdiction
in which the character of its properties or the nature of its business requires such qualification and authorization, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b)           Ownership.  Each Subsidiary of each of the Borrowers as of the Closing Date is listed on Schedule 6.l(b).

(c)           Authorization of Agreement, Loan Documents and Borrowing.  Each of the Borrowers and, if applicable, their Subsidiaries has the right, power and
authority and has taken all necessary corporate and other action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of each of the Loan Documents to which it is a party in
accordance with its respective terms.  Each of the Loan Documents has been duly executed and delivered by the duly authorized officers of the Borrowers and each of their
Subsidiaries party thereto, as applicable, and each such document constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrowers and, if applicable, each of their
Subsidiaries party thereto, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or
similar state or federal debtor relief laws from time to time in effect which affect the enforcement of creditors’ rights in general and the availability of equitable remedies.

(d)           Compliance of Agreement, Loan Documents and Borrowing with Laws, Etc.  The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrowers and their
Subsidiaries of the Loan Documents to which each such Person is a party, in accordance with their respective terms, the borrowings hereunder and the transactions
contemplated hereby do not and will not, by the passage of time, the giving of notice or otherwise, (i) require any of the Borrowers or any of their Subsidiaries to obtain any
Governmental Approval or approval of any other Person not otherwise already obtained or violate any Applicable Law relating to the Borrowers or any of their Subsidiaries,
(ii) conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute a default under the articles of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents of the Borrowers or any of their
Subsidiaries or any indenture or other material agreement or instrument to which such Person is a party or by which any of its properties may be bound or any Governmental
Approval relating to such Person except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, or (iii) result in or require the creation or imposition of any
material Lien (other than a Lien
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permitted under Section 9.2) upon or with respect to any property now owned or hereafter acquired by such Person.

(e)           Compliance with Law; Governmental Approvals.  Each of the Borrowers and their respective Subsidiaries (i) has all Governmental Approvals required by
any Applicable Law for it to conduct its business, each of which is in full force and effect, is final and not subject to review on appeal and is not the subject of any pending or,
to the best of the Borrowers’ knowledge, threatened attack by direct or collateral proceeding, except where the failure to have such Governmental Approval could not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) is in compliance with each Governmental Approval applicable to it and in compliance with all other
Applicable Laws relating to it or any of its respective properties; in each case, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect.

(f)            Tax Returns and Payments.  Each of the Borrowers and their respective Subsidiaries has timely filed or caused to be filed all federal and state, local and
other tax returns required by Applicable Law to be filed, and has paid, or made adequate provision for the payment of, all federal and state, local and other taxes, assessments
and governmental charges or levies upon it and its property, income, profits and assets which are due and payable, except taxes (i) that are being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings and for which such Borrower or Subsidiary, as applicable, has set aside on its books adequate reserves or (ii) to the extent the failure to do so could
not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.  No Governmental Authority has asserted any material Lien or other claim against the Borrowers or any
Subsidiary thereof with respect to unpaid taxes which has not been discharged or resolved.  The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of each of the Borrowers and any
of their respective Subsidiaries in respect of federal and all material state, local and other taxes are, in the judgment of the Borrowers, adequate, and the Borrowers do not
anticipate any material additional taxes or assessments for any of the periods reflected on such books.

(g)           Intellectual Property Matters.  Each of the Borrowers and its Subsidiaries owns or possesses rights to use all franchises, licenses, copyrights, copyright
applications, patents, patent rights or licenses, patent applications, trademarks, trademark rights, trade names, trade name rights, copyrights and rights with respect to the
foregoing which are required to conduct its business except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.  No event has
occurred which, to the knowledge of the Borrowers, permits, or after notice or lapse of time or both would permit, the revocation or termination of any such rights, and, to the
knowledge of the Borrowers, neither the Borrowers nor any Subsidiary thereof is liable to any Person for infringement under Applicable Law with respect to any such rights as
a result of its business operations, except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(h)           Environmental Matters.  Except as set forth on Schedule 6.1(h) (and only to the extent described therein) or as could not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect:

(i)            The properties of the Borrowers and their Subsidiaries (including soils, surface waters, groundwaters on, at or under such properties) do not contain
and are not
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otherwise affected by, and to the Borrowers’ knowledge have not previously contained or been affected by, any Hazardous Materials in amounts or concentrations
which (A) constitute or constituted a violation of applicable Environmental Laws or (B) could give rise to liability or obligation under applicable Environmental Laws;

(ii)           The properties of the Borrowers and their Subsidiaries and all operations conducted in connection therewith are in compliance, and have been in
compliance, with all applicable Environmental Laws, and there are no Hazardous Materials at, under or about such properties or such operations which could
reasonably be expected to interfere with the continued operation of such properties;

(iii)          The Borrowers and their Subsidiaries have obtained, are in compliance with, and have made all appropriate filings for issuance or renewal of, all
permits, licenses, and other governmental consents required by applicable Environmental Laws (“Environmental Permits”), and all such Environmental Permits are in
full force and effect;

(iv)          Neither any of the Borrowers nor any Subsidiary thereof has received any notice of violation, alleged violation, non-compliance, liability or
potential liability regarding environmental matters or compliance with Environmental Laws, nor do the Borrowers have knowledge or reason to believe that any such
notice will be received or is being threatened;

(v)           To the knowledge of the Borrowers, Hazardous Materials have not been transported or disposed of from the properties of the Borrowers or any of
their Subsidiaries in violation of, or in a manner or to a location which could reasonably be expected to give rise to liability under, Environmental Laws, nor, to the
knowledge of the Borrowers, have any Hazardous Materials been generated, treated, stored or disposed of at, on or under any of such properties in violation of, or in a
manner which could reasonably be expected to give rise to liability under, any Environmental Laws;

(vi)          No judicial proceedings or governmental or administrative action is pending, or, to the knowledge of the Borrowers, threatened, under any
Environmental Law to which any of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof has been or will be named as a party, nor are there any consent decrees or other decrees,
consent orders, administrative orders or other orders, or other administrative or judicial requirements outstanding under any Environmental Law with respect to the
properties or operations of the Borrowers and their Subsidiaries; and

(vii)         To the knowledge of the Borrowers, there has been no release, or threat of release, of Hazardous Materials at or from the properties of the Borrowers
or any of their Subsidiaries, in violation of or in amounts or in a manner that could reasonably be expected to give rise to liability under Environmental Laws.

(i)            ERISA.

(i)            Each of the Borrowers and each ERISA Affiliate is in compliance with all applicable provisions of ERISA and the regulations and published
interpretations
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thereunder with respect to all Employee Benefit Plans except where any such noncompliance could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Except for any failure that could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, each Employee Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under
Section 401(a) of the Code has been determined by the Internal Revenue Service to be so qualified, and each trust related to such plan has been determined to be
exempt under Section 501(a) of the Code.  No liability that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect has been incurred by the Borrowers or any
ERISA Affiliate which remains unsatisfied for any taxes or penalties with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan or any Multiemployer Plan;

(ii)           No accumulated funding deficiency (as defined in Section 412 of the Code) has been incurred (without regard to any waiver granted under Section



412 of the Code), nor has any funding waiver from the Internal Revenue Service been received or requested with respect to any Pension Plan except for any
accumulated funding deficiency or funding waiver that could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(iii)          Neither the Borrowers nor any ERISA Affiliate has: (A) engaged in a nonexempt prohibited transaction described in Section 406 of ERISA or
Section 4975 of the Code, (B) incurred any liability to the PBGC which remains outstanding other than the payment of premiums and there are no premium payments
which are due and unpaid, (C) failed to make a required contribution or payment to a Multiemployer Plan, or (D) failed to make a required installment or other
required payment under Section 412 of the Code, except where any of the foregoing individually or in the aggregate could not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect;

(iv)          No Termination Event that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur; and

(v)           No proceeding, claim, lawsuit and/or investigation is existing or, to the knowledge of the Borrowers, threatened concerning or involving any
Employee Benefit Plan that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(j)            Margin Stock.  No Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof is engaged principally or as one of its material activities in the business of extending credit for the
purpose of ‘‘purchasing’’ or “carrying” any ‘‘margin stock’’ (as each such term is defined or used in Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System). 
No part of the proceeds of any of the Loans or Letters of Credit will be used for purchasing or carrying margin stock, unless the Borrowers shall have given the Administrative
Agent and Lenders prior notice of such event and such other information as is reasonably necessary to permit the Administrative Agent and Lenders to comply, in a timely
fashion, with all reporting obligations required by Applicable Law, or for any purpose which violates, or which would be inconsistent with, the provisions of Regulation T, U
or X of such Board of Governors.

(k)           Government Regulation.  No Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof is an “investment company” or a company “controlled” by an “investment company” (as
each such
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term is defined or used in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended) and neither the Borrowers nor any Subsidiary thereof is, or after giving effect to any Extension
of Credit will be, subject to regulation under the Interstate Commerce Act, each as amended.

(l)            Burdensome Provisions. No Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof is a party to any indenture, agreement (excluding the CSC Agreement and the CSC Put),
lease or other instrument, or subject to any corporate or partnership restriction, Governmental Approval or Applicable Law which is so unusual or burdensome that in the
foreseeable future it could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Affect.  The Borrowers and their Subsidiaries do not presently anticipate that their future
expenditures needed to meet the provisions of any statutes, orders, rules or regulations of a Governmental Authority will be so burdensome as to have a Material Adverse
Effect.

(m)          Financial Statements; Financial Condition: Etc.  The financial statements delivered to the Lenders pursuant to Section 5.1(e)(i) and, if applicable, Section
7.1, copies of which have been furnished to the Administrative Agent and each Lender, have been prepared in accordance with GAAP (except, in the case of unaudited
financial statements, for the absence of footnotes and subject to normal year end adjustments), are complete in all material respects and fairly present in all material respects
the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Borrowers and their Subsidiaries as at such dates, and the results of the operations and changes of financial position for the
periods then ended, subject, in the case of unaudited financial statements, to the absence of footnotes and normal year end adjustments.

(n)           No Material Adverse Effect.  Since December 31, 2005, there has been no Material Adverse Effect.

(o)           Liens.  None of the properties and assets of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof is subject to any Lien, except Liens permitted pursuant to Section 9.2.

(p)           Debt and Support Obligations.  Schedule 6.1(p) is a complete and correct listing of all Debt and Support Obligations of the Borrowers and their Subsidiaries
as of the Closing Date.

(q)           Litigation.  There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending nor, to the knowledge of the Borrowers, threatened against or affecting the Borrowers or any
Subsidiary thereof or any of their respective properties in any court or before any arbitrator of any kind or before or by any Governmental Authority, which could reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(r)            Absence of Defaults.  No event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default.

(s)           Absence of Bankruptcy Events.  Since December 31, 2005, no event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Bankruptcy Event, other than
Bankruptcy Events affecting Subsidiaries which are not Material Subsidiaries.

(t)            Accuracy and Completeness of Information.  As of the Closing Date, the Borrowers have disclosed to the Lenders all agreements, instruments and corporate
or other
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restrictions to which they or any of their Subsidiaries are subject, and all other matters known to them, other than general market, economic and industry conditions, that,
individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.  The written information, taken as a whole, furnished by or on behalf of the
Borrowers to the Administrative Agent or any Lender in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement or delivered hereunder (as modified or supplemented by other
information so furnished) does not contain any material misstatement of fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that, with respect to any projected financial information, the Borrowers represent only that such
information was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time.

(u)           Property.  The Borrowers and their Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to all material Property owned by them and valid leasehold interests in all
material Property leased by them (except as permitted by the terms of this Agreement), free and clear of all Liens, except for Liens permitted pursuant to Section 9.2.

(v)           Labor Practices.   No Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof is engaged in any unfair labor practices that could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.  There is (i) no unfair labor practice complaint pending against any Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof, to the knowledge of the Borrowers, threatened against
a Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof, before the National Labor Relations Board, and no grievance or arbitration proceeding arising out of or under any collective bargaining
agreement is so pending against a Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof or, to the knowledge of the Borrowers, threatened against a Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof, (ii) no



strike, labor dispute, slowdown or stoppage pending against a Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Borrowers, threatened against a Borrower or any
Subsidiary thereof and (iii) no union representation question exists with respect to the employees of a Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof, except (with respect to any matter
specified in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above, either individually or in the aggregate) such as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(w)          Subordinated Indebtedness.  Neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries has any Debt that is subordinated to any other Debt (except for any subordinated
loans made or deemed made by the seller of any account receivables and related property to the purchaser of such receivables and related property in connection with the
Permitted Securitization Transaction in order to fund all or a portion of the purchase price for such receivables and related property which are transferred as part of the
Permitted Securitization Transaction), unless such subordinated debt is subordinated in right of payment to the Obligations.

(x)            Foreign Assets Control Regulations, etc.  Neither the making of any Loan nor the use of the proceeds thereof nor the issuance of any Letter of Credit will
violate (a) the Trading with the Enemy Act, as amended, or any of the foreign assets control regulations of the United States Treasury Department (31 CFR, Subtitle B,
Chapter V, as amended) or any enabling legislation or executive order relating thereto, (b) the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required
to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (the “Patriot Act”) or (c) Executive Order No. 13,224, 66 Fed. Reg. 49,079 (2001), issued by the President of the United
States (Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions
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with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit or Support Terrorism).  Without limiting the foregoing, neither Holdings nor any of its Subsidiaries is a “blocked person” as
described in Section 1 of such Executive Order or engages in any dealings or transactions with, or is otherwise associated with, any such blocked person.

(y)           Representations as to Foreign Obligors. Each of the Company and each Foreign Obligor represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders that:

(i)            Such Foreign Obligor is subject to civil and commercial Applicable Laws with respect to its obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents to which it is a party (collectively as to such Foreign Obligor, the “Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents”), and the execution, delivery and performance
by such Foreign Obligor of the Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents constitute and will constitute private and commercial acts and not public or governmental acts. 
Neither such Foreign Obligor nor any of its property has any immunity from jurisdiction of any court or from any legal process (whether through service or notice,
attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution, execution or otherwise) under the laws of the jurisdiction in which such Foreign Obligor is organized and
existing in respect of its obligations under the Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents.

(ii)           The Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents are in proper legal form under the Applicable Laws of the jurisdiction in which such Foreign Obligor is
organized and existing for the enforcement thereof against such Foreign Obligor under the Applicable Laws of such jurisdiction, and to ensure the legality, validity,
enforceability, priority or admissibility in evidence of the Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents.  It is not necessary to ensure the legality, validity, enforceability,
priority or admissibility in evidence of the Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents that the Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents be filed, registered or recorded
with, or executed or notarized before, any court or other authority in the jurisdiction in which such Foreign Obligor is organized and existing or that any registration
charge or stamp or similar tax be paid on or in respect of the Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents or any other document, except for (i) any such filing, registration,
recording, execution or notarization as has been made or is not required to be made until the Applicable Foreign Obligor Document or any other document is sought to
be enforced and (ii) any charge or tax as has been timely paid.

(iii)          The execution, delivery and performance of the Applicable Foreign Obligor Documents executed by such Foreign Obligor are, under applicable
foreign exchange control regulations of the jurisdiction in which such Foreign Obligor is organized and existing, not subject to any notification or authorization except
(i) such as have been made or obtained or (ii) such as cannot be made or obtained until a later date (provided that any notification or authorization described in clause
(ii) shall be made or obtained as soon as is reasonably practicable).

SECTION 6.2  Survival of Representations and Warranties, Etc.

All representations and warranties set forth in this Article VI and all representations and warranties contained in any certificate related hereto, or any of the Loan
Documents (including

70

but not limited to any such representation or warranty made in or in connection with any amendment thereto) shall constitute representations and warranties made under this
Agreement.  All representations and warranties made under this Agreement shall be made or deemed to be made at and as of the Closing Date (unless expressly relating to any
earlier date), shall survive the Closing Date and shall not be waived by the execution and delivery of this Agreement, any investigation made by or on behalf of the Lenders or
any borrowing hereunder.

ARTICLE VII
FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND NOTICES

Until all the Obligations (other than contingent liabilities not yet due and payable) have been paid and satisfied in full and the Termination Date has occurred, unless
consent has been obtained in the manner set forth in Section 13.11 hereof, the Company will furnish or cause to be furnished to the Administrative Agent and to the Lenders at
their respective addresses as set forth in Section 13.1 and on Schedule 13.1, or such other office as may be designated by the Administrative Agent and Lenders from time to
time:

SECTION 7.1  Financial Statements, Etc.

(a)           Quarterly Financial Statements.  As soon as practicable and in any event within forty-five (45) days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of
each Fiscal Year, either (i) a copy of a report on Form 10-Q, or any successor form, and any amendments thereto, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission with respect to the immediately preceding fiscal quarter or (ii) an unaudited Consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the close of
such fiscal quarter and unaudited Consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the fiscal quarter then ended and that portion of the Fiscal Year
then ended, including any notes thereto, all in reasonable detail setting forth in comparative form the corresponding figures for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in
the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the preceding Fiscal Year and prepared by the Company in accordance with GAAP and, if applicable, containing disclosure of
the effect on the financial position or results of operations of any change in the application of accounting principles and practices during the period, and certified by a
Responsible Officer of the Company to present fairly in all material respects the financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of their respective dates and the
results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the respective periods then ended, subject to normal year end adjustments and to the absence of footnotes
required by GAAP.



(b)           Annual Financial Statements.  As soon as practicable and in any event within ninety (90) days after the end of each Fiscal Year either (i) a copy of a report
on Form 10-K, or any successor form, and any amendments thereto, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to the immediately
preceding Fiscal Year or (ii) an audited Consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the close of such Fiscal Year and audited Consolidated
statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the Fiscal Year then ended, including the notes thereto, all in reasonable detail setting forth in comparative form
the corresponding figures for the preceding Fiscal Year and prepared by the Company and certified by a nationally recognized independent certified public accounting firm
acceptable to the Administrative Agent in accordance with GAAP and, if applicable, containing
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disclosure of the effect on the financial position or results of operation of any change in the application of accounting principles and practices during the year, and
accompanied by a report thereon by such certified public accountants that is not qualified with respect to scope limitations imposed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
or with respect to accounting principles followed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries not in accordance with GAAP.

(c)           Each Borrower hereby acknowledges that (a) subject to Section 13.10, the Administrative Agent and/or any Arranger will make available to the Lenders and
the Issuing Lender materials and/or information provided by or on behalf of such Borrower under the Loan Documents (collectively, “Borrower Materials”) by posting the
Borrower Materials on IntraLinks or another similar electronic system (the “Platform”) and (b) certain of the Lenders may be “public-side” Lenders (i.e., Lenders that do not
wish to receive material non-public information with respect to any Borrower or its securities) (each, a “Public Lender”).  Each Borrower hereby agrees that so long as such
Borrower is the issuer of any outstanding debt or equity securities that are registered or issued pursuant to a private offering or is actively contemplating issuing any such
securities (w) all Borrower Materials that are to be made available to Public Lenders shall be clearly and conspicuously marked “PUBLIC” which, at a minimum, shall mean
that the word “PUBLIC” shall appear prominently on the first page thereof; (x) by marking Borrower Materials “PUBLIC,” the Borrowers shall be deemed to have authorized
the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers, the Issuing Lender and the Lenders to treat such Borrower Materials as not containing any material non-public information with
respect to the Borrowers or their respective securities for purposes of United States Federal and state securities laws (provided, however, that to the extent such Borrower
Materials constitute Confidential Information, they shall be treated as set forth in Section 13.10); (y) all Borrower Materials marked “PUBLIC” are permitted to be made
available through a portion of the Platform designated “Public Investor;” and (z) the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers shall be entitled to treat any Borrower Materials
that are not marked “PUBLIC” as containing material non-public information and as being suitable only for posting on a portion of the Platform not designated “Public
Investor”; it being understood that all Borrower Materials shall be subject to Section 13.10.”

SECTION 7.2  Officer’s Compliance Certificate.

At each time financial statements are delivered pursuant to Section 7.1(a) or (b), a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Company in the form of Exhibit G
attached hereto (an “Officer’s Compliance Certificate”) (a) certifying as to statements consistent with the applicable requirements of the Securities and Exchange
Commission; (b) certifying as to whether there exists a Default or Event of Default on the date of such certificate, and if a Default or an Event of Default, specifying the details
thereof and the action which the Company has taken or proposes to take with respect thereto; and (c) setting forth in reasonable detail calculations demonstrating compliance
with the financial covenant contained in Section 9.1.

SECTION 7.3  Accountants’ Certificate.

At each time financial statements are delivered pursuant to Section 7.1(b), a certificate of the independent public accountants certifying such financial statements
addressed to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders stating that in making the examination
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necessary for the certification of such financial statements, they obtained no knowledge of any Default or Event of Default or, if such is not the case, specifying such Default
or Event of Default and its nature and period of existence.

SECTION 7.4  Other Reports.

(a)           Promptly after the filing thereof, a copy of (i) each report or other filing made by any of the Borrowers or any or their Subsidiaries with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and required by the Securities and Exchange Commission to be delivered to the shareholders of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof, (ii) each
report made by any of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K and (iii) each final registration statement of any of
the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, except in connection with pension plans and other employee benefit plans; and

(b)           Such other information regarding the operations, business affairs and financial condition of the Borrowers and/or any of their Subsidiaries as the
Administrative Agent or any Lender may reasonably request.

SECTION 7.5  Notice of Litigation and Other Matters.

Prompt (but in no event later than (x) with respect to clause (d) below, two (2) Business Days after a Responsible Officer obtains knowledge thereof or (y) with
respect to any other clause below, five (5) Business Days after a Responsible Officer obtains knowledge thereof) telephonic (confirmed in writing) or written notice of:

(a)           the commencement of all proceedings and investigations by or before any Governmental Authority and all actions and proceedings in any court or before
any arbitrator against or involving any of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof or any of their respective properties, assets or businesses the potential liability of which in
the reasonable judgment of the Borrowers could reasonably be expected to exceed $25,000,000;

(b)           any notice of any violation received by any of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof from any Governmental Authority including, without limitation, any
notice of violation of Environmental Laws, the potential liability of which in the reasonable judgment of the Borrowers in any such case could reasonably be expected to
exceed $25,000,000;

(c)           (i)  any unfavorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service regarding the qualification of an Employee Benefit Plan under Section 401(a) of
the Code (along with a copy thereof) which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) all notices received by any of the Borrowers or any ERISA
Affiliate of the PBGC’s intent to terminate any Pension Plan or to have a trustee appointed to administer any Pension Plan, which could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect, (iii) all notices received by any of the Borrowers or any ERISA Affiliate from a Multiemployer Plan sponsor concerning the imposition or amount of
withdrawal liability pursuant to Section 4202 of ERISA which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (iv) the Borrowers obtaining knowledge or
reason to know that the Borrowers or any ERISA Affiliate has filed or intends to file a notice of intent to terminate any Pension Plan under a distress termination within the
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meaning of Section 4041(c) of ERISA which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (v) the occurrence of a Reportable Event which could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(d)           the occurrence of any Default or an Event of Default; and

(e)           the receipt by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of written notice from CSC or any of its Subsidiaries regarding the exercise of the CSC Put.

SECTION 7.6  Ratings Information.

The Company shall, no later than five (5) Business Days after a Responsible Officer obtains knowledge of any such change, give notice to the Administrative Agent
(by telephone, followed promptly by written notice transmitted by facsimile with a hand copy sent promptly thereafter) of any change (either expressly or pursuant to a letter
from S&P or Moody’s stating an “implied” rating, excluding in all cases any private indicative ratings that the Company may request from time to time from Moody’s or
S&P) in rating by S&P or Moody’s in respect of the Company’s non-credit enhanced senior unsecured long-term debt, together with details thereof, and of any announcement
by S&P or Moody’s that its rating in respect of such non-credit enhanced senior unsecured long-term debt is “under review” or that any such debt rating has been placed on a
“Credit Watch List”® or “watch list” or that any similar action has been taken by S&P or Moody’s.

SECTION 7.7  Accuracy of Information.

All written information, reports, statements and other papers and data furnished by or on behalf of the Borrowers to the Administrative Agent or any Lender (other
than financial forecasts) whether pursuant to this Article VII or any other provision of this Agreement, shall be, at the time the same is so furnished, true and complete in all
material respects.

ARTICLE VIII
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Until all of the Obligations (other than contingent liabilities not yet due and payable) have been paid and satisfied in full and the Termination Date has occurred,
unless consent has been obtained in the manner provided for in Section 13.11, each Borrower will, and will cause each of its respective Subsidiaries to:

SECTION 8.1  Preservation of Corporate Existence and Related Matters.

(a)           Except as permitted by Section 9.4 and Section 9.5, preserve and maintain its separate corporate existence and all rights, franchises, licenses and privileges
necessary to the conduct of its business, provided, however, that, subject to compliance with Section 8.9, nothing in the foregoing shall prevent the Company or any
Subsidiary from discontinuing any line of business if (i) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result therefrom, and (ii) with respect to the discontinuance of a
material line of business, the Board of Directors of the Company determines in good faith that such discontinuance is in the best interest of the Company and its Consolidated
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
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(b)           Qualify and remain qualified as a foreign corporation and authorized to do business in each jurisdiction where the nature and scope of its activities require it
to so qualify under Applicable Law, except where the failure to so preserve and maintain its existence and rights or to so qualify could not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 8.2  Maintenance of Property.

Protect and preserve all properties useful in and material to its business, including copyrights, patents, trade names and trademarks; maintain in good working order
and condition all buildings, equipment and other tangible real and personal property material to the conduct of its business, ordinary wear and tear excepted; and from time to
time make or cause to be made all renewals, replacements and additions to such property necessary for the conduct of its business, so that the business carried on in connection
therewith may be properly and advantageously conducted at all times, except, in each case, where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

SECTION 8.3  Insurance.

Maintain insurance with financially sound and reputable insurance companies against such risks and in such amounts as are consistent with past practices and prudent
business practice (and in any event consistent with normal industry practice), and as may be required by Applicable Law.

SECTION 8.4  Accounting Methods and Financial Records.

Maintain a system of accounting, and keep such books, records and accounts (which shall be true and complete in all material respects) as may be required or as may
be necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP and in compliance with the regulations of any Governmental Authority having
jurisdiction over it or any of its properties.

SECTION 8.5  Payment and Performance of Obligations.

(a)           Pay and perform all of its Obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

(b)           Pay and discharge (i) all material taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon its income or profits, or upon any
properties belonging to it, prior to the date on which penalties attach thereto, and (ii) all other material indebtedness, obligations and liabilities in accordance with customary
trade practices; provided that such Borrower or Subsidiary may contest any item described in clause (i) or (ii) of this Section 8.5(b) in good faith and by proper proceedings so
long as adequate reserves are maintained with respect thereto to the extent required by GAAP.

(c)           Perform all of its obligations under the terms of each mortgage, indenture, security agreement, loan agreement or credit agreement and each other
agreement, contract or instrument by which it is bound, except where such non-performances could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.
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SECTION 8.6  Compliance With Laws and Approvals.

Observe and remain in compliance with all Applicable Laws and maintain in full force and effect all Governmental Approvals, in each case applicable to the conduct
of its business, except where the failure to observe, comply or maintain could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 8.7  Environmental Laws.

In addition to and without limiting the generality of Section 8.6, (a) comply with, and use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure such compliance by all tenants
and subtenants with all applicable Environmental Laws and obtain and comply with and maintain, and ensure that all tenants and subtenants obtain and comply with and
maintain, any and all licenses, approvals, notifications, registrations or permits required by applicable Environmental Laws, except where the failure to obtain, comply or
maintain could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (b) conduct and complete all investigations, studies, sampling and testing, and all remedial,
removal and other actions required under Environmental Laws, and promptly comply with all lawful orders and directives of any Governmental Authority regarding
Environmental Laws, except (i) where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) to the extent the Borrowers or any of
their Subsidiaries are contesting, in good faith, any such requirement, order or directive before the appropriate Governmental Authority so long as adequate reserves are
maintained with respect thereto to the extent required by GAAP, and (c) defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, and their respective
parents, Subsidiaries, Affiliates, employees, agents, officers and directors, from and against any claims, demands, penalties, fines, liabilities, settlements, damages, costs and
expenses of whatever kind or nature known or unknown, contingent or otherwise, arising out of, or in any way relating to the violation of, noncompliance with or liability
under any Environmental Laws applicable to the operations or properties of the Borrowers or such Subsidiaries, or any orders, requirements or demands of Governmental
Authorities related thereto, including, without limitation, reasonable and actual attorney’s and consultant’s fees, investigation and laboratory fees, response costs, court costs
and litigation expenses, except to the extent that any of the foregoing directly result from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the party seeking indemnification
therefor.

SECTION 8.8  Compliance with ERISA.

In addition to and without limiting the generality of Section 8.6, (a) comply with all applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code and the regulations and published
interpretations thereunder with respect to all Employee Benefit Plans, except where the failure to so comply could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect, (b) not take any action or fail to take action the result of which would result in a liability to the PBGC or to a Multiemployer Plan in an amount that could reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (c) furnish to the Administrative Agent or any Lender upon the Administrative Agent’s or such Lender’s request such
additional information about any Employee Benefit Plan concerning compliance with this covenant as may be reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent or such
Lender.
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SECTION 8.9  Conduct of Business.

Carry on substantially all of its businesses in substantially the same fields as the businesses conducted on the Closing Date and in lines of business reasonably related
thereto or as otherwise permitted pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.  Additionally, the Permitted Securitization Subsidiary may carry on activities necessary or incidental
to the acquisition of accounts receivable and related rights from the Company and the financing of such accounts receivable and related rights.

SECTION 8.10  Visits and Inspections.

Subject to compliance with applicable securities laws, permit representatives of the Administrative Agent or any Lender, from time to time upon reasonable prior
written notice to the Company and during ordinary business hours, to visit and inspect its properties; inspect and make extracts from its books, records and files, including,
but not limited to, management letters prepared by independent accountants; and discuss with its principal officers, and its independent accountants, its business, assets,
liabilities, financial condition, results of operations and business prospects.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Administrative Agent nor the Issuing Lender or any
other Lender shall have the right to inspect or make or receive copies of any customer data files or any other credit information or files concerning consumers owned or
maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 8.11  Use of Proceeds.

Use the proceeds of the Extensions of Credit for the purposes set forth in Section 2.1(b).  Not in limitation of the foregoing, the Borrower, and any Designated
Borrower will use the proceeds of all Loans to finance working capital needs and for other general corporate purposes of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries. No part of the
proceeds of any Loan will be used, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose that would violate any rule or regulation of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System, including Regulations T, U or X.  All Letters of Credit will be used for general corporate purposes.

ARTICLE IX
NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Until all of the Obligations (other than contingent liabilities not yet due and payable) have been paid and satisfied in full and the Termination Date has occurred,
unless consent has been obtained in the manner set forth in Section 13.11:

SECTION 9.1  Maximum Leverage Ratio.  As of the end of each fiscal quarter, commencing with the end of the first fiscal quarter ending after the Closing Date, the
Borrowers will not permit the Leverage Ratio to be greater than 3.50 to 1.00.

SECTION 9.2  Limitations on Liens.

No Borrower will, nor will it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien on, or with respect to, any of its assets or properties
(including without
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limitation shares of Capital Stock or other ownership interests owned by it), real or personal, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, except

(a)           Liens existing on the Closing Date and set forth on Schedule 9.2;

(b)           Liens for taxes, assessments and other governmental charges or levies not yet due or as to which the period of grace, if any, related thereto has not expired
or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings if adequate reserves are maintained to the extent required by GAAP;

(c)           Liens of materialmen, mechanics, carriers, warehousemen, processors or landlords for labor, materials, supplies or rentals and other similar Liens imposed
by law so long as such Liens secure claims incurred in the ordinary course of business, (i) which are not overdue for a period of more than thirty (30) days or (ii) which are
being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings if adequate reserves are maintained to the extent required by GAAP;

(d)           Liens consisting of deposits or pledges made in the ordinary course of business (i) in connection with, or to secure payment of, obligations under workers’
compensation, unemployment insurance or similar legislation or obligations under customer service contracts or (ii) to secure the performance of letters of credit, bids, tenders,
sales, contracts, leases, statutory obligations, surety, appeal and performance bonds and other similar obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business, in each case not
incurred in connection with the borrowing of money or the payment of the deferred purchase price of property;

(e)           Liens constituting encumbrances in the nature of zoning restrictions, easements and rights or restrictions of record on the use of real property, which in the
aggregate are not substantial in amount and which do not, in any case, materially detract from the value of any material parcel of real property or impair the use thereof in the
ordinary conduct of business;

(f)            Liens in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders;

(g)           Liens on the property or assets of any Subsidiary existing at the time such Subsidiary becomes a Subsidiary of a Borrower and not incurred in contemplation
thereof, as long as the outstanding principal amount of the Debt secured thereby is not voluntarily increased by such Subsidiary after the date such Subsidiary becomes a
Subsidiary of such Borrower;

(h)           Liens on the property or assets of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary securing Debt which is incurred to finance or refinance the acquisition of such property
or assets, provided that (i) each such Lien shall be created substantially simultaneously with the acquisition of the related property or assets; (ii) each such Lien does not at
any time encumber any property other than the related property or assets financed by such Debt and the proceeds thereof; (iii) the principal amount of Debt secured by each
such Lien is not increased; and (iv) the principal amount of Debt secured by each such Lien (together with any accrued interest thereon and closing costs relating thereto) shall
at no time exceed 100% of the original purchase price of such related property or assets at the time acquired;

78

(i)            Liens consisting of judgment or judicial attachment Liens, provided that (i) the claims giving rise to such Liens are being diligently contested in good faith
by appropriate proceedings, (ii) adequate reserves for the obligations secured by such Liens have been established and (iii) enforcement of such Liens has been stayed;

(j)            Liens (if any) against the Company or any Consolidated Subsidiary which is created solely to evidence (i) the transfer of any receivables and related
property by the Company and certain of its Subsidiaries as originators under any Permitted Securitization Transaction to another direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Company,
as purchaser, pursuant to any Permitted Securitization Transaction, (ii) the transfer of any receivables and related property from the purchaser referred to in the immediately
preceding clause (i) to any Permitted Securitization Subsidiary pursuant to any Permitted Securitization Transaction, and (iii) any back-up Lien granted by the purchaser
referred to in the immediately preceding clause (i) and the Permitted Securitization Subsidiary, in each case solely in any receivables and related property being transferred
pursuant to the Permitted Securitization Transaction;

(k)           any Lien against a Permitted Securitization Subsidiary pursuant to any Permitted Securitization Transaction;

(l)            any Lien on any specific fixed asset of any corporation existing at the time such corporation is merged or consolidated with or into any Borrower or a
Consolidated Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;

(m)          any Lien arising out of the refinancing, extension, renewal or refunding of any Debt secured by any Lien permitted by any of the foregoing paragraphs of
this Section, provided that (i) such Debt is not secured by any additional assets, and (ii) the amount of such Debt (together with any accrued interest thereon and closing costs
relating thereto) secured by any such Lien is not increased;

(n)           any Lien existing on any specific fixed asset prior to the acquisition thereof by any Borrower or a Consolidated Subsidiary and not created in contemplation
of such acquisition;

(o)           Liens securing Debt owing by any Subsidiary to the Company or another Wholly Owned Subsidiary;

(p)           inchoate Liens arising under ERISA to secure current service pension liabilities as they are incurred under the provisions of Plans from time to time in
effect;

(q)           rights reserved to or invested in any municipality or governmental, statutory or public authority to control or regulate any property of such Borrower or such
Subsidiary, as the case may be, or to use such property in a manner which does not materially impair the use of such property for the purposes of which it is held by such
Borrower or such Subsidiary, as the case may be; and

(r)            Liens not otherwise permitted by this Section 9.2 securing Debt or other obligations in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding that does not
exceed 20% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets, measured as of the date of the incurrence of such Debt or obligation.
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SECTION 9.3  Limitations on Subsidiary Debt.

No Borrower will permit any Subsidiary of the Company to contract, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Debt, except

(a)           Debt arising under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents;



(b)           Debt existing as of the Closing Date as referenced on Schedule 6.1(p) (and renewals, refinancings or extensions thereof on terms and conditions no less
favorable in any material respect to such Person than such existing Debt and in a principal amount not in excess of that outstanding as of the date of such renewal, refinancing
or extension);

(c)           Capital Lease obligations and Debt incurred, in each case, to provide all or a portion of the purchase price or costs of construction of an asset or, in the case
of a Sale and Leaseback Transaction, to finance the value of such asset owned by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, provided that (i) such Debt when incurred shall not
exceed the purchase price or cost of construction of such asset or, in the case of a Sale and Leaseback Transaction, the fair market value of such asset and any transaction costs
directly related thereto, (ii) no such Debt shall be refinanced for a principal amount in excess of the principal balance outstanding thereon (together with any accrued interest
thereon and closing costs relating thereto) at the time of such refinancing, and (iii) the aggregate principal amount of all such Debt shall not exceed $200,000,000 at any time
outstanding;

(d)           intercompany Debt owed by any Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or any other Subsidiary of the Company;

(e)           Debt and Obligations owing under Hedging Agreements relating to the Loans hereunder and other Hedging Agreements entered into in order to manage
existing or anticipated interest rate, exchange rate or commodity price risks and not for speculative purposes;

(f)            Debt in connection with any Permitted Securitization Transaction;

(g)           Debt of the types described in clause (j) of the definition of Debt which is incurred in the ordinary course of business in connection with (i) the sale or
purchase of goods, or (ii) to assure performance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of their respective service contracts, operating leases, obligations to a utility or a
governmental entity, or worker’s compensation obligations;

(h)           Support Obligations of Debt of the Company or Debt otherwise permitted under this Section 9.3; and

(i)            other Debt of the Subsidiaries at any time outstanding which in the aggregate does not exceed 20% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets, measured as of the
date of the incurrence of such Debt.
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SECTION 9.4  Limitations on Mergers and Liquidation.

No Borrower will, nor will it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, merge, consolidate or enter into any similar combination with any other Person or liquidate, wind-up
or dissolve itself (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution), except

(a)           Any Borrower or a Subsidiary may merge with another Person that is not a Borrower or a Subsidiary, provided that (i) in the case of any merger involving
the Company or a Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of the United States or one of its states, such other Person is organized under the laws of the United States or
one of its states, (ii) in the case of any merger involving a Borrower, such Borrower is the corporation surviving such merger, (iii) in the case of any merger involving a
Subsidiary, the survivor is or will become a Subsidiary of the Company, (iv) immediately prior to and after giving effect to such merger, no Default or Event of Default exists
or would exist, (iv) the Board of Directors of such Person has approved such merger and (v) such transaction is permitted under Section 9.6;

(b)           Any Subsidiary that is not a Borrower may merge into a Borrower or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of a Borrower;

(c)           Any Subsidiary that is not a Borrower may liquidate, wind-up or dissolve itself into a Borrower or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of a Borrower;

(d)           Any Borrower may merge with any other Borrower, provided that in the case of any merger involving the Company, the Company is the corporation
surviving such merger; and

(e)           Any Borrower (other than the Company) may liquidate, wind-up or dissolve itself into any other Borrower.

SECTION 9.5  Limitation on Asset Dispositions.

No Borrower will, nor will it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, make any Asset Disposition (including, without limitation, in connection with any Sale and Leaseback
Transaction), in one transaction or a series of transactions, unless (a)  no Default or Event of Default shall exist on the date of, or shall result from, any such transaction
(including after giving effect to such transaction on a pro forma basis); and (b) the assets so disposed of or transferred in connection with all such Asset Dispositions in any
Fiscal Year did not contribute, in the aggregate, more than 20% of Consolidated Operating Profit for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year.

SECTION 9.6  Limitations on Acquisitions.

Other than transactions permitted under Section 9.7, no Borrower will, nor will it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, acquire all or any portion of the Capital Stock or
other ownership interest in any Person which is not a Subsidiary or all or any substantial portion of the assets, property and/or operations of a Person which is not a
Subsidiary, unless (a) the Person, assets, property and/or operations being acquired operate in substantially the same or a similar line of business as any line of business
engaged in by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries on the Closing Date or a business reasonably related thereto, including ancillary or complementary
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businesses; (b) in the case of an acquisition of Capital Stock or other ownership interest of a Person, the Board of Directors of the Person which is the subject of such
acquisition shall have approved the acquisition; (c) no Default or Event of Default shall exist on the date of, or shall result from, any such acquisition (including after giving
effect to such transaction on a pro forma basis); and (d) in the case of the acquisition of all or any portion of the Capital Stock or other ownership interest in any Person, such
Person so acquired will be Consolidated with the Company in its financial statements upon the consummation of such acquisition.

SECTION 9.7  Limitation on Restricted Investments.

No Borrower will, nor will it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, make any Restricted Investment unless, after giving effect thereto, the aggregate amount of all such
Restricted Investments outstanding at any time does not exceed 20% of the Consolidated Total Assets, measured as of the date of the making of such Restricted Investment;
provided that (i) the foregoing shall be tested as at the end of each fiscal quarter, and (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing both before and
after giving effect to any such Restricted Investment.



SECTION 9.8  Limitation on Restricted Payments.

No Borrower will, nor will it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, declare, order, make or set apart any sum for or pay any Restricted Payment,
except that the Company and its Subsidiaries may make Restricted Payments in an aggregate amount in any Fiscal Year not to exceed 20% of Consolidated Total Assets,
measured as of the last day of the immediately preceding Fiscal Year.

SECTION 9.9  Limitation on Transactions with Affiliates.

Neither any Borrower nor any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries shall enter into, or be a party to, any transaction with any Affiliate of such Borrower or such
Subsidiary (which Affiliate is not a Borrower or a Subsidiary), except pursuant to the reasonable requirements of its business and upon fair and reasonable terms that are no
less favorable to such Borrower or such Subsidiary than would be obtained in a comparable arm’s length transaction with a Person which is not an Affiliate.

SECTION 9.10  Limitation on Certain Accounting Changes.

No Borrower will (a) change its Fiscal Year end in order to avoid a Default or an Event of Default or if a Material Adverse Effect would result therefrom or (b) make
any material change in its accounting treatment and reporting practices except as required by GAAP.

SECTION 9.11  Limitation of Restricting Subsidiary Dividends and Distributions.

No Borrower will permit any Subsidiary to agree to, incur, assume or suffer to exist any restriction, limitation or other encumbrance (by covenant or otherwise) on
the ability of such Subsidiary to make any payment to a Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (in the form of dividends, intercompany advances or otherwise) or to transfer any
of its properties or assets to a Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except
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(a)           Restrictions and limitations applicable to a Subsidiary existing at the time such Subsidiary becomes a Subsidiary of a Borrower and not incurred in
contemplation thereof, as long as no such restriction or limitation is made more restrictive after the date such Subsidiary becomes a Subsidiary of such Borrower;

(b)           Restrictions and limitations imposed on any Permitted Securitization Subsidiary in connection with a Permitted Securitization Transaction;

(c)           Restrictions and limitations existing pursuant to this Agreement; and

(d)           Other restrictions and limitations that are not material either individually or in the aggregate.

SECTION 9.12  Hedging Agreements.

The Company will not, and will not permit any of the Subsidiaries to, enter into any Hedging Agreement, other than non-speculative Hedging Agreements entered
into in the ordinary course of business in order to manage existing or anticipated interest rate, foreign exchange rate or commodity price risks.

ARTICLE X
GUARANTY OF THE COMPANY

SECTION 10.1  Guaranty of Payment.

Subject to Section 10.7 below, the Company hereby unconditionally guarantees to each Lender and the Administrative Agent the prompt payment of the Guaranteed
Obligations in full when due (whether at stated maturity, as a mandatory prepayment, by acceleration or otherwise). This guaranty is a guaranty of payment and not solely of
collection and is a continuing guaranty and shall apply to all Guaranteed Obligations whenever arising.

SECTION 10.2  Obligations Unconditional; Waivers.

The obligations of the Company hereunder are absolute and unconditional, irrespective of the value, genuineness, validity, regularity or enforceability of this
Agreement, or any other agreement or instrument referred to herein, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, irrespective of any other circumstance whatsoever
which might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor.  The Company agrees that this guaranty may be enforced by the Lenders
without the necessity at any time of resorting to or exhausting any security or collateral and without the necessity at any time of having recourse to the Notes, this Agreement
or any other Loan Document or any collateral, if any, hereafter securing the Guaranteed Obligations or otherwise and the Company hereby waives the right to require the
Lenders to proceed against a Designated Borrower or any other Person (including a co-guarantor) or to require the Lenders to pursue any other remedy or enforce any other
right.  In this connection, the Company hereby waives the right of the Company to require any holder of the Guaranteed Obligations to take action against a Designated
Borrower as provided in Official Code of Georgia Annotated §10-7-24.  The Company further agrees that it shall have no right of subrogation, indemnity, reimbursement or
contribution against a Designated Borrower or any
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other guarantor of the Guaranteed Obligations for amounts paid under this guaranty until such time as the Lenders have been paid in full, all commitments under this
Agreement have been terminated and no Person or Governmental Authority shall have any right to request any return or reimbursement of funds from the Lenders in
connection with monies received under this Agreement.  The Company further agrees that nothing contained herein shall prevent the Lenders from suing on the Notes, this
Agreement or any other Loan Document or foreclosing its security interest in or Lien on any collateral, if any, securing the Guaranteed Obligations or from exercising any
other rights available to it under this Agreement, the Notes, or any other instrument of security, if any, and the exercise of any of the aforesaid rights and the completion of
any foreclosure proceedings shall not constitute a discharge of any of the Company’s obligations hereunder; it being the purpose and intent of the Company that its
obligations hereunder shall be absolute, independent and unconditional under any and all circumstances.  Neither the Company’s obligations under this guaranty nor any
remedy for the enforcement thereof shall be impaired, modified, changed or released in any manner whatsoever by an impairment, modification, change, release or limitation
of the liability of a Designated Borrower or by reason of the bankruptcy or insolvency of such Borrower.  The Company waives any and all notice of the creation, renewal,
extension or accrual of any of the Guaranteed Obligations and notice of or proof of reliance of by the Administrative Agent or any Lender upon this guaranty or acceptance of
this guaranty.  The Guaranteed Obligations, and any of them, shall conclusively be deemed to have been created, contracted or incurred, or renewed, extended, amended or
waived, in reliance upon this guaranty.  All dealings between the Designated Borrowers and the Company, on the one hand, and the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, on
the other hand, likewise shall be conclusively presumed to have been had or consummated in reliance upon this guaranty.



SECTION 10.3  Modifications.

The Company agrees that (a) all or any part of the security which hereafter may be held for the Guaranteed Obligations, if any, may be exchanged, compromised or
surrendered from time to time; (b) the Lenders shall not have any obligation to protect, perfect, secure or insure any such security interests, liens or encumbrances which
hereafter may be held, if any, for the Guaranteed Obligations or the properties subject thereto; (c) the time or place of payment of the Guaranteed Obligations may be changed
or extended, in whole or in part, to a time certain or otherwise, and may be renewed or accelerated, in whole or in part; (d) a Designated Borrower and any other party liable
for payment under this Agreement may be granted indulgences generally; (e) any of the provisions of the Notes, this Agreement or any other Loan Document may be
modified, amended or waived; (f) any party (including any co-guarantor) liable for the payment thereof may be granted indulgences or be released; and (g) any deposit
balance for the credit of a Designated Borrower or any other party liable for the payment of the Guaranteed Obligations or liable upon any security therefor may be released,
in whole or in part, at, before or after the stated, extended or accelerated maturity of the Guaranteed Obligations, all without notice to or further assent by the Company in its
capacity as a guarantor under this Article X, which shall remain bound thereon, notwithstanding any such exchange, compromise, surrender, extension, renewal, acceleration,
modification, indulgence or release.
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SECTION 10.4  Additional Waiver of Rights.

The Company expressly waives to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law:  (a) notice of acceptance of this guaranty by the Lenders and of all Extensions of
Credit to a Designated Borrower by the Lenders; (b) presentment and demand for payment or performance of any of the Guaranteed Obligations; (c) protest and notice of
dishonor or of default (except as specifically required in this Agreement) with respect to the Guaranteed Obligations or with respect to any security therefor; (d) notice of the
Lenders obtaining, amending, substituting for, releasing, waiving or modifying any Lien, if any, hereafter securing the Guaranteed Obligations, or the Lenders’ subordinating,
compromising, discharging or releasing such Liens, if any; (e) all other notices to which the Company might otherwise be entitled in connection with the guaranty evidenced
by this Article X; and (f) demand for payment under this guaranty.  Furthermore, the Company, to the fullest extent permitted by law, hereby waives any other act or thing, or
omission or delay to do any other act or thing, which in any manner or to any extent might vary the risk of the Company with respect to the Guaranteed Obligations or which
otherwise might operate to discharge the Company from its obligations in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations.

SECTION 10.5  Reinstatement.

The obligations of the Company under this Article X shall be automatically reinstated if and to the extent that for any reason any payment by or on behalf of any
Person in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations is rescinded or must be otherwise restored by any holder of any of the Guaranteed Obligations, whether as a result of any
proceedings in bankruptcy or reorganization or otherwise, and the Company agrees that it will indemnify the Administrative Agent and each Lender on demand for all
reasonable costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable fees and expenses of counsel) incurred by the Administrative Agent or such Lender in connection
with such rescission or restoration, including any such costs and expenses incurred in defending against any claim alleging that such payment constituted a preference,
fraudulent transfer or similar payment under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law.

SECTION 10.6  Remedies.

The Company agrees that, as between the Company, on the one hand, and the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, on the other hand, the Guaranteed Obligations
may be declared to be forthwith due and payable as provided in Section 11.2 (and shall be deemed to have become automatically due and payable in the circumstances
provided in Section 11.2) notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such declaration (or preventing such Guaranteed Obligations from becoming
automatically due and payable) as against any other Person and that, in the event of such declaration (or such Guaranteed Obligations being deemed to have become
automatically due and payable), such Guaranteed Obligations (whether or not due and payable by any other Person) shall forthwith become due and payable by the Company.

SECTION 10.7  Limitation of Guaranty.

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained herein, to the extent the obligations of the Company shall be adjudicated to be invalid or unenforceable for
any reason
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(including, without limitation, because of any applicable state or federal law relating to fraudulent conveyances or transfers) then the obligations of the Company hereunder
shall be limited to the maximum amount that is permissible under Applicable Law (whether federal or state and including, without limitation, the Federal Bankruptcy Code (as
now or hereinafter in effect)).

ARTICLE XI
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

SECTION 11.1  Events of Default.

Each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default, whatever the reason for such event and whether it shall be voluntary or involuntary or be effected by
operation of law or pursuant to any judgment or order of any court or any order, rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority or otherwise:

(a)           Default in Payment of Principal of Loans and Reimbursement Obligation.  Any Borrower shall default in any payment of principal of any Loan, Note or
Reimbursement Obligation when and as due (whether at maturity, by reason of acceleration or otherwise).

(b)           Other Payment Default.  Any Borrower shall default in the payment when and as due (whether at maturity, by reason of acceleration or otherwise) of any
interest, fees or other amounts owing on any Loan, Note or Reimbursement Obligation or the payment of any other Obligation, and such default shall continue unremedied for
five (5) Business Days after the earlier of a Responsible Officer becoming aware of such default or written notice thereof has been given to the Company by the
Administrative Agent.

(c)           Misrepresentation.  Any representation, warranty or statement made or deemed to be made by any Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, if applicable, under
this Agreement, any Loan Document or any amendment hereto or thereto or in any certificate delivered to the Administrative Agent or to any Lender pursuant hereto and
thereto, shall at any time prove to have been incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed made.

(d)           Default in Performance of Certain Covenants.  (i) Any of the Borrowers shall default in the performance or observance of any covenant or agreement
contained in Sections 7.5(d), 8.1(a)  and 8.11 and Article IX or (ii) any of the Borrowers shall default in the performance or observance of any other covenant or agreement



contained in Article VII, and such default shall continue unremedied for fifteen (15) days after the earlier of a Responsible Officer becoming aware of such default or written
notice thereof has been given to the Company by the Administrative Agent.

(e)           Default in Performance of Other Covenants and Conditions.  Any of the Borrowers or any Subsidiary thereof, if applicable, shall default in the performance
or observance of any term, covenant, condition or agreement contained in this Agreement (other than as specifically provided for otherwise in this Section 11.1) or any other
Loan Document and such default shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after the earlier of a Responsible Officer becoming aware of such default or written notice
thereof has been given to the Company by the Administrative Agent.
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(f)            Hedging Agreement.  Any termination payments in an amount greater than $20,000,000 shall be due by any Borrower under any Hedging Agreement and
such amount is not paid within thirty (30) Business Days of the due date thereof.

(g)           Debt Cross-Default.  Any of the Borrowers or any of their Material Subsidiaries shall (i) default in the payment of any Debt (other than Debt under this
Agreement, the Notes or any Reimbursement Obligation) the aggregate outstanding amount of which Debt is in excess of $20,000,000, beyond the period of grace if any,
provided in the instrument or agreement under which such Debt was created, or (ii) default in the observance or performance of any other agreement or condition relating to
any Debt (other than Debt under this Agreement, the Notes or any Reimbursement Obligation), the aggregate outstanding amount of which Debt is in excess of $20,000,000
or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto or any other event shall occur or condition exist, the effect of which default or other event
or condition is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such Debt (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) to cause, with the giving of notice if required,
any such Debt to become due prior to its stated maturity (any such notice having been given and any applicable grace period having expired) or (iii) breach any covenant
imposed upon such Person under any agreement relating to a Permitted Securitization Transaction causing the acceleration of the obligations thereunder or requiring the
prepayment of such obligations or termination of such securitization program prior to its stated maturity or term and the Borrower or any Consolidated Subsidiary (other than
any Permitted Securitization Subsidiary) has liability in excess of $20,000,000 under such Permitted Securitization Transaction.

(h)           Change in Control.  An event described in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) below shall have occurred: (i) during any period of twelve (12) consecutive months,
individuals who at the beginning of such period constituted the board of directors of the Company (together with any new directors whose election by such board or whose
nomination for election by the shareholders of the Company was approved by a vote of a majority of the directors then still in office who were either directors at the beginning
of such period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved) and who were entitled to vote on such matters, cease for any reason to constitute a
majority of the board of directors of the Company then in office, (ii) any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended) after the Closing Date shall obtain ownership or control in one or more series of transactions of more than 25% of the common stock or 25% of the voting
power of the Company entitled to vote in the election of members of the board of directors of the Company or (iii) there shall have occurred under any indenture or other
instrument evidencing any Debt in excess of $20,000,000 any “change in control” (as defined in such indenture or other evidence of Debt) obligating the Company to
repurchase, redeem or repay all or any part of the Debt provided for therein (any such event, a “Change in Control”).

(i)            Voluntary Bankruptcy Proceeding.  Any Borrower or any Material Subsidiary thereof shall (i) commence a voluntary case under the federal bankruptcy
laws (as now or hereafter in effect), (ii) file a petition seeking to take advantage of any other laws, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
winding up or composition for adjustment of debts, (iii) consent to or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner any petition filed against it in an involuntary case
under such bankruptcy laws or other laws, (iv) apply for or consent to, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner, the
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appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, custodian, trustee or liquidator of itself or of a substantial part of its property, domestic or foreign, (v) admit in
writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due, (vi) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or (vii) take any corporate action for the purpose of
authorizing any of the foregoing.

(j)            Involuntary Bankruptcy Proceeding.  A case or other proceeding shall be commenced against any Borrower or any Material Subsidiary thereof in any court
of competent jurisdiction seeking (i) relief under the federal bankruptcy laws (as now or hereafter in effect) or under any other laws, domestic or foreign, relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding up or composition for adjustment of debts, or (ii) the appointment of a trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator or the like for
any Borrower or any Material Subsidiary thereof or for all or any substantial part of their respective assets, domestic or foreign, and such case or proceeding shall continue
without dismissal or stay for a period of sixty (60) consecutive days, or an order granting the relief requested in such case or proceeding (including, but not limited to, an
order for relief under such federal bankruptcy laws) shall be entered.

(k)           Enforcement.  A creditor or an encumbrance (other than a judgment or order of the type referred to in clause (l) of this Section 11.1) attaches or takes
possession of, or a distress, execution, sequestration or other process is levied or enforced upon or sued out against, any of the undertakings and assets of any Borrower or any
Subsidiary thereof having a value exceeding $10,000,000 and (if capable of discharge) such possession is not terminated or such attachment or process is not satisfied,
removed or discharge within thirty (30) days.

(l)            Judgment.  A judgment or order for the payment of money which causes the aggregate amount of all such judgments or orders at any time undischarged and
unstayed as provided for in this paragraph (exclusive of amounts covered by insurance provided by reputable insurers) to exceed $10,000,000 shall be entered against any
Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof by any court and such judgment or order shall continue without discharge or stay for a period of thirty (30) days.

(m)          Guaranty.  At any time after the execution and delivery thereof, the guaranty given by the Company hereunder or any provision thereof shall cease to be in
full force or effect as to the Company, or the Company or any Person acting by or on behalf of the Company shall deny or disaffirm the Company’s obligations under such
guaranty.

(n)           ERISA.  An event described in each and every clause (i), (ii) and (iii) below shall have occurred: (i) any Pension Plan shall fail to satisfy the minimum
funding standard required for any plan year or part thereof under Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA or a waiver of such standard or extension of any
amortization period is sought or granted under Section 412 of the Code or Section 303 or 304 of ERISA, a Reportable Event shall have occurred, a contributing sponsor (as
defined in Section 4001(a)(13) of ERISA) of a Pension Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA shall be subject to the advance reporting requirement of PBGC Regulation Section
4043.61 (without regard to subparagraph (b)(1) thereof) and an event described in subsection .62 , .63, .64, .65, .66, .67 or .68 of PBGC Regulation Section 4043 shall be
reasonably expected to occur with respect to such Pension Plan within the following thirty (30) days, any Pension Plan which is subject to Title IV of ERISA shall have had or
is likely to have a trustee appointed to administer such Pension Plan, any Pension Plan which is subject to
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Title IV of ERISA is, shall have been or is likely to be terminated or to be the subject of termination proceedings under ERISA, any Pension Plan shall have an Unfunded
Current Liability, a contribution required to be made with respect to a Pension Plan or a Foreign Pension Plan has not been timely made, the Borrowers or any of their
Subsidiaries or any ERISA Affiliate has incurred or is likely to incur any liability to or on account of a Pension Plan under Section 409, 502(i), 502(1), 515, 4062, 4063, 4064,
4069, 4201, 4204 or 4212 of ERISA or Section 401(a)(29), 4971 or 4975 of the Code or on account of a group health plan (as defined in Section 607(1) of ERISA or Section
4980B(g)(2) of the Code) under Section 4980B of the Code, or the Borrowers or any of their Subsidiaries has incurred or is likely to incur liabilities pursuant to one or more
employee welfare benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA) that provide benefits to retired employees or other former employees (other than as required by Section
601 of ERISA) or Pension Plans or Foreign Pension Plans; (ii) there shall result from any such event or events the imposition of a lien, the granting of a security interest or a
liability or a material risk of such a lien being imposed, such security interest being granted or such liability being incurred, and (iii) such lien, security interest or liability,
individually, and/or in the aggregate, has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

(o)           Borrower Joinder Agreement.  Any default or breach shall occur under any Borrower Joinder Agreement or the Borrower Joinder Agreement given by any
Designated Borrower shall cease to be in full force or effect as to a Designated Borrower, or a Designated Borrower itself or through the Company or any Person acting by or
on behalf of the Designated Borrower shall deny or disaffirm the Designated Borrower’s obligations under such Borrower Joinder Agreement or this Agreement.

SECTION 11.2  Remedies.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, with the consent of the Required Lenders, the Administrative Agent may, or upon the
request of the Required Lenders, the Administrative Agent shall, by notice to the Borrowers:

(a)           Acceleration: Termination of Facilities.  Declare the principal of and interest on the Loans, the Notes and the Reimbursement Obligations at the time
outstanding, and all other amounts owed to the Lenders and to the Administrative Agent under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents (including, without
limitation, all L/C Obligations, whether or not the beneficiaries of the then outstanding Letters of Credit shall have presented the documents required thereunder) and all other
Obligations, to be forthwith due and payable, whereupon the same shall immediately become due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any
kind, all of which are expressly waived, anything in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents to the contrary notwithstanding, and terminate the Credit Facility and any
right of the Borrowers to request borrowings or Letters of Credit thereunder; provided that upon the occurrence of an Event of Default specified in Section 11.1(i) or (j) with
respect to the Borrowers, the Credit Facility shall be automatically terminated and all Obligations shall automatically become due and payable.

(b)           Letters of Credit.  With respect to all Letters of Credit with respect to which presentment for honor shall not have occurred at the time of an acceleration
pursuant to the preceding paragraph, require the Borrowers at such time to deposit or cause to be deposited in a
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cash collateral account opened by the Administrative Agent (in Dollars) an amount equal to the aggregate then undrawn and unexpired amount of such Letters of Credit. 
Amounts held in such cash collateral account shall be applied by the Administrative Agent to the payment of drafts drawn under such Letters of Credit, and the unused
portion thereof after all such Letters of Credit shall have expired or been fully drawn upon, if any, shall be applied to repay the other Obligations.  After all such Letters of
Credit shall have expired or been fully drawn upon, the Reimbursement Obligation shall have been satisfied and all other Obligations shall have been paid in full, the balance,
if any, in such cash collateral account shall be promptly returned to the Borrowers.

(c)           Rights of Collection.  Exercise on behalf of the Lenders all of its other rights and remedies under this Agreement, the other Loan Documents and Applicable
Law, in order to satisfy all of the Obligations.

SECTION 11.3  Rights and Remedies Cumulative; Non-Waiver; etc.

The enumeration of the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders set forth in this Agreement is not intended to be exhaustive and the exercise
by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders of any right or remedy shall not preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies, all of which shall be cumulative, and shall
be in addition to any other right or remedy given hereunder or under the Loan Documents or that may now or hereafter exist in law or in equity or by suit or otherwise.  No
delay or failure to take action on the part of the Administrative Agent or any Lender in exercising any right, power or privilege shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any
single or partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege preclude other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege or shall be
construed to be a waiver of any Event of Default.  No course of dealing between the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders or their respective agents or
employees shall be effective to change, modify or discharge any provision of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or to constitute a waiver of any Event of
Default.

ARTICLE XII
THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT

SECTION 12.1  Appointment of Administrative Agent.

(a)           Each Lender irrevocably appoints SunTrust Bank as the Administrative Agent and authorizes it to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such
powers as are delegated to the Administrative Agent under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, together with all such actions and powers that are reasonably
incidental thereto.  The Administrative Agent may perform any of its duties hereunder by or through any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Administrative Agent. The
Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers through their respective Related Parties.  The
exculpatory provisions set forth in this Article shall apply to any such sub-agent and the Related Parties of the Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent and shall apply to
their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as Administrative Agent.
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(b)           The Issuing Lender shall act on behalf of the Lenders with respect to any Letters of Credit issued by it and the documents associated therewith until such
time and except for so long as the Administrative Agent may agree at the request of the Required Lenders to act for the Issuing Lender with respect thereto; provided that the
Issuing Lender shall have all the benefits and immunities (i) provided to the Administrative Agent in this Article XII with respect to any acts taken or omissions suffered by
the Issuing Lender in connection with Letters of Credit issued by it or proposed to be issued by it and the application and agreements for letters of credit pertaining to the
Letters of Credit as fully as the term “Administrative Agent” as used in this Article XII  included the Issuing Lender with respect to such acts or omissions and (ii) as
additionally provided in this Agreement with respect to the Issuing Lender.

SECTION 12.2  Nature of Duties of Administrative Agent.



The Administrative Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, (a) the Administrative Agent shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default or an Event
of Default has occurred and is continuing; (b) the Administrative Agent shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, except
those discretionary rights and powers expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents that the Administrative Agent is required to exercise in writing by the Required Lenders
(or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 13.1); and (c) except as expressly set forth in the
Loan Documents, the Administrative Agent shall not have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries that is communicated to or obtained by the Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity. The Administrative Agent shall not be liable
(provided that the Company reserves any and all rights and claims against any Lender, including the Administrative Agent in its capacity as a Lender) for any action taken or
not taken by it with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as
provided in Section 10.2) or in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct.  The Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any
Default or Event of Default unless and until written notice thereof is given to the Administrative Agent by the Company or any Lender, and the Administrative Agent shall not
be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with any Loan Document, (ii) the
contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith, (iii) the performance or observance of any of
the covenants, agreements, or other terms and conditions set forth in any Loan Document, (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of any Loan Document
or any other agreement, instrument or document, or (v) the satisfaction  of any condition set forth in Article III or elsewhere in any Loan Document, other than to confirm
receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 12.3  Lack of Reliance on the Administrative Agent.

Each of the Lenders, the Swingline Lender and the Issuing Lender acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or
any other Lender and
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based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement.  Each of the Lenders, the
Swingline Lender and the Issuing Lender also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Lender and based on
such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking of any action under or based on this Agreement, any
related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder.

SECTION 12.4  Certain Rights of the Administrative Agent.

If the Administrative Agent shall request instructions from the Required Lenders with respect to any action or actions (including the failure to act) in connection with
this Agreement, the Administrative Agent shall be entitled to refrain from such act or taking such act, unless and until it shall have received instructions from such Lenders;
and the Administrative Agent shall not incur liability to any Person (provided that the Company reserves any and all rights and claims against any Lender, including the
Administrative Agent in its capacity as a Lender) by reason of so refraining.  Without limiting the foregoing, no Lender shall have any right of action whatsoever against the
Administrative Agent as a result of the Administrative Agent acting or refraining from acting hereunder in accordance with the instructions of the Required Lenders where
required by the terms of this Agreement.

SECTION 12.5  Reliance by Administrative Agent.

The Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement,
instrument, document or other writing believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person.  The Administrative Agent may also rely upon
any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to be made by the proper Person and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. The Administrative
Agent may consult with legal counsel (including counsel for the Company), independent public accountants and other experts selected by it and shall not be liable for any
action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of such counsel, accountants or experts.

SECTION 12.6  The Administrative Agent in its Individual Capacity.

The bank serving as the Administrative Agent shall have the same rights and powers under this Agreement and any other Loan Document in its capacity as a Lender
as any other Lender and may exercise or refrain from exercising the same as though it were not the Administrative Agent; and the terms “Lenders”, “Required Lenders”,
“holders of Notes”, or any similar terms shall, unless the context clearly otherwise indicates, include the Administrative Agent in its individual capacity.  The bank acting as
the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, and generally engage in any kind of business with the Company or any Subsidiary or
Affiliate of the Company as if it were not the Administrative Agent hereunder.
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SECTION 12.7  Successor Administrative Agent.

(a)           The Administrative Agent may resign at any time by giving notice thereof to the Lenders and the Company. Upon any such resignation, the Required
Lenders shall have the right to appoint a successor Administrative Agent, subject to the approval by the Company provided that no Event of Default shall exist at such time. 
If no successor Administrative Agent shall have been so appointed, and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Administrative Agent gives
notice of resignation, then the retiring Administrative Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders and the Issuing Lender, appoint a successor Administrative Agent, which shall be a
commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof or a bank which maintains an office in the United States, having a combined
capital and surplus of at least $500,000,000.

(b)           Upon the acceptance of its appointment as the Administrative Agent hereunder by a successor, such successor Administrative Agent shall thereupon succeed
to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent, and the retiring Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its
duties and obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.  If within 45 days after written notice is given of the retiring Administrative Agent’s resignation
under this Section 12.7 no successor Administrative Agent shall have been appointed and shall have accepted such appointment, then on such 45  day (i) the retiring
Administrative Agent’s resignation shall become effective, (ii) the retiring Administrative Agent shall thereupon be discharged from its duties and obligations under the Loan
Documents and (iii) the Required Lenders shall thereafter perform all duties of the retiring Administrative Agent under the Loan Documents until such time as the Required
Lenders appoint a successor Administrative Agent as provided above. After any retiring Administrative Agent’s resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article XII shall
continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring Administrative Agent and its representatives and agents in respect of any actions taken or not taken by any of them while it
was serving as the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 12.8  Additional Agencies; No Duties Imposed Upon Syndication Agents or Co-Documentation Agents.
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(a)           The Administrative Agent, in consultation with the Arrangers, shall have the right from time to time to designate one or more Co-Documentation Agents. 
Upon any such designation, the Administrative Agent shall have the right to replace the cover page to this Agreement to reflect the addition of such Person as Co-
Documentation Agent.

(b)           None of the Persons designated on the cover page hereof as a “Syndication Agent”, “Co-Documentation Agent” or “Joint Lead Arranger” shall have any
right, power, obligation, liability, responsibility or duty under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents other than, if such Person is a Lender, those applicable to
all Lenders as such.  Without limiting the foregoing, none of the Persons designated as a “Syndication Agent”, “Co-Documentation Agent” or “Joint Lead Arranger” shall
have or be deemed to have any fiduciary duty to or fiduciary relationship with any Lender.  In addition to the agreements set forth in Section 12.8, each of the Lenders
acknowledges that it has not relied, and will not rely, on any of the Persons so identified in deciding to enter into this Agreement or in taking or not taking action hereunder.
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SECTION 12.9  Indemnification.

The Lenders agree to indemnify the Administrative Agent in its capacity as such and (to the extent not reimbursed by the Borrowers and without limiting the
obligation of the Borrowers to do so), ratably according to the respective amounts of their Revolving Credit Commitment Percentages from and against any and all liabilities,
obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind whatsoever which may at any time (including, without
limitation, at any time following the payment of the Notes or any Reimbursement Obligation) be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Administrative Agent in any
way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, or any documents contemplated by or referred to herein or therein or the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby or any action taken or omitted by the Administrative Agent under or in connection with any of the foregoing; provided that no Lender shall be
liable for the payment of any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements to the extent they
result from the Administrative Agent’s bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct.  The agreements in this Section 12.7 shall survive the payment of the Notes, any
Reimbursement Obligation and all other amounts payable hereunder and the termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XIII
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 13.1  Notices.

(a)           Method of Communication.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices and communications hereunder shall be in writing, or by telephone
subsequently confirmed in writing.  Any notice shall be effective if delivered by hand delivery or sent via telecopy, recognized overnight courier service or certified mail,
return receipt requested, and shall be presumed to be received by a party hereto (i) on the date of delivery if delivered by hand or sent by telecopy, (ii) on the next Business
Day if sent by recognized overnight courier service and (iii) on the third Business Day following the date sent by certified mail, return receipt requested.  A telephonic notice
to the Administrative Agent as understood by the Administrative Agent will be deemed to be the controlling and proper notice in the event of a discrepancy with or failure to
receive a confirming written notice.

(b)           Electronic Communications.  Notices and other communications to the Lenders and the Issuing Lender hereunder may be delivered or furnished by
electronic communication (including e-mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Administrative Agent, provided that the foregoing shall
not apply to notices to any Lender or the Issuing Lender pursuant to Articles II or III if such Lender or the Issuing Lender, as applicable, has notified the Administrative Agent
that it is incapable of receiving notices under such Articles by electronic communication.  The Administrative Agent or the Company may, in its discretion (but shall be under
no obligation to), agree (which agreement shall be in writing executed by the applicable party to the other party) to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by
electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it, provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.
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Unless the Administrative Agent otherwise prescribes, (A) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the
sender’s receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested” function, as available, return e-mail or other written
acknowledgement), provided that if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be
deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient, and (B) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website
shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (A) of notification that such notice or
communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.

(c)           The Platform.  THE PLATFORM IS PROVIDED “AS IS” AND “AS AVAILABLE.”  THE AGENT PARTIES (AS DEFINED BELOW) DO NOT
WARRANT THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE BORROWER MATERIALS OR THE ADEQUACY OF THE PLATFORM, AND EXPRESSLY
DISCLAIM LIABILITY FOR ERRORS IN OR OMISSIONS FROM THE BORROWER MATERIALS.  NO WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR
STATUTORY, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON-INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY
RIGHTS OR FREEDOM FROM VIRUSES OR OTHER CODE DEFECTS, IS MADE BY ANY AGENT PARTY IN CONNECTION WITH THE BORROWER
MATERIALS OR THE PLATFORM.  Subject to compliance with Section 13.10, in no event shall the Administrative Agent, any Arranger or any of their respective Related
Parties (collectively, the “Agent Parties”) have any liability to any Borrower, any Lender, the Issuing Lender or any other Person for losses, claims, damages, liabilities or
expenses of any kind (whether in tort, contract or otherwise) arising out of any Borrower’s or the Administrative Agent’s or any Arranger’s transmission of Borrower
Materials through the Internet, except to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by a final and
nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Agent; provided, however, that in no event shall any Agent Party have any
liability to any Borrower, any Lender, the Issuing Lender or any other Person for indirect, special, incidental, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual
damages).

(d)           Addresses for Notices.  Notices to any party shall be sent to it at the following addresses, or any other address as to which all the other parties are notified in
writing.

If the Company or any Designated Borrower:

Equifax Inc.
1550 Peachtree St., N.W.
Atlanta, GA 30309
Attention: Michael G. Schirk, Senior Vice
President and Treasurer
Telephone No.: (404) 885-8915



Telecopy No.: (404) 885-8121
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If the Administrative Agent: SunTrust Bank

303 Peachtree Street, N. E., 3rd Floor
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
Attention: Don Besch
Telecopy Number: (404) 588-8833

   
With a copy to: SunTrust Capital Markets, Inc.

c/o Agency Services
303 Peachtree Street, N. E./ 25th Floor
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
Attention: Dorris Folsom
Telecopy Number: (404) 658-4906

   
If the Issuing Lender: SunTrust Bank

25 Park Place, N. E./Mail Code 3706, 16th Floor
Atlanta, Georgia 30303
Attention: Sharon Anderson
Telecopy Number: (404) 588-8129

   
If the Swingline Lender: SunTrust Bank

303 Peachtree Street, N.E./3rd Floor
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
Attention: Don Besch
Telecopy Number: (404) 588-8833

   
If any other Lender: the address and other contact information set forth under such Lender’s name on the signature pages hereof

or otherwise in the Assignment and Acceptance delivered by such Lender at the time it became a Lender
hereunder

 

(e)           Administrative Agent’s Office.  The Administrative Agent hereby designates its office located at the address set forth above, or any subsequent office which
shall have been specified for such purpose by written notice to the Company and the Lenders, as the Administrative Agent’s Office referred to herein, to which payments due
are to be made and at which Loans will be disbursed.

SECTION 13.2  Expenses, Indemnity.

The Borrowers jointly and severally agree to (a) pay all reasonable and actual out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers in connection
with (i) the preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and each other Loan Document, whenever the same shall be executed and delivered, including without
limitation the reasonable out-of-pocket syndication and due diligence expenses and reasonable and actual fees and disbursements
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of counsel for the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers (including the allocated cost of internal counsel); provided, that, notwithstanding the foregoing set forth in this
clause (i), with respect to the fees and disbursements of counsel for the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers incurred prior to the Closing Date, the Borrowers shall only be
obligated to pay the fees and disbursements of Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP and Alston & Bird LLP; and (ii) the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of any
waiver, amendment or consent by the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers or the Lenders relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, including without
limitation reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers (including the allocated cost of internal counsel); (b) pay all
reasonable and actual fees and disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agent incurred in connection with the administration of the Credit Facility; (c) pay all
reasonable out of pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and each Lender actually incurred in connection with the enforcement of any rights and
remedies of the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and the Lenders under the Credit Facility, including, to the extent reasonable under the circumstances, consulting with
accountants, attorneys and other Persons concerning the nature, scope or value of any right or remedy of the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers or any Lender hereunder or
under any other Loan Document or any factual matters in connection therewith, which expenses shall include without limitation the reasonable fees and disbursements of such
Persons (including the allocated cost of internal counsel); and (d) defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers, the Issuing Lender, the
Swingline Lender, and the Lenders, and their respective parents, Subsidiaries, Affiliates, employees, agents, officers and directors, from and against any losses, penalties,
fines, liabilities, settlements, damages, costs and expenses, suffered by any such Person in connection with any claim, investigation, litigation or other proceeding, including
claims brought by the Company, any Borrower or any of their Subsidiaries or Affiliates against the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Lender, the Swingline Lender, the
Arrangers or any Lender (whether or not the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers, the Issuing Lender, the Swingline Lender or any Lender is a party thereto) and the
prosecution and defense thereof, arising out of or in any way connected with this Agreement, the Credit Facility, any other Loan Document, the Loans or the Notes or, subject
to the limitations in Section 13.21, as a result of the breach of any of the Borrowers’ obligations hereunder, including without limitation reasonable and actual attorney’s fees
(including the allocated cost of internal counsel), consultant’s fees and settlement costs; provided, however, that the Borrowers shall not be obligated to indemnify any such
indemnified party for any such amounts to the extent that a court having competent jurisdiction shall have determined by a final judgment (not subject to further appeal) that
such amounts resulted from (i) a breach of the loan documents by such indemnified party or (ii) the gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the indemnified
party.

SECTION 13.3  Set-off.

In addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under Applicable Law and not by way of limitation of any such rights, upon and after the occurrence of any Event
of Default and during the continuance thereof, the Lenders and any assignee or participant of a Lender in accordance with Section 13.9 are hereby authorized by the Borrowers
at any time or from time to time, without notice to the Borrowers or to any other Person, any such notice being hereby expressly waived, to set off and to appropriate and to
apply (including, without limitation, the right to combine currencies) any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, including, but not
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limited to, indebtedness evidenced by certificates of deposit, whether matured or unmatured) and any other indebtedness at any time held or owing by the Lenders, or any such
assignee or participant to or for the credit or the accounts of the respective Borrowers against and on account of the Obligations irrespective of whether or not (a) the Lenders
shall have made any demand under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or (b) the Administrative Agent shall have declared any or all of the Obligations to be
due and payable as permitted by Section 11.2 and although such Obligations shall be contingent or unmatured.

SECTION 13.4  Governing Law.

This Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents, unless otherwise expressly set forth therein, shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of Georgia, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.

SECTION 13.5  Consent to Jurisdiction.

Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably consents to the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Fulton County, Georgia, in any action,
claim or other proceeding arising out of any dispute in connection with this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents, any rights or obligations hereunder or
thereunder, or the performance of such rights and obligations.  Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably consents to the service of a summons and complaint and other
process in any action, claim or proceeding brought by any other party hereto in connection with this Agreement, the Notes or the other Loan Documents, any rights or
obligations hereunder or thereunder, or the performance of such rights and obligations, on behalf of itself or its property, in the manner specified in Section 13.1.  Each
Designated Borrower hereby appoints the Company as its agent in the United States for service of process.  Nothing in this Section 13.5 shall affect the right of any of the
parties hereto to serve legal process in any other manner permitted by Applicable Law or affect the right of any of the parties hereto to bring any action or proceeding against
any other party hereto or its properties in the courts of any other jurisdictions.

SECTION 13.6  Waiver of Jury Trial:  Limitation on Damages.

(A)          TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY
RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING UNDER ANY LOAN DOCUMENT OR IN ANY WAY
CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES HERETO OR ANY OF THEM WITH RESPECT TO ANY
CREDIT DOCUMENT, OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED THERETO, IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND
WHETHER FOUNDED IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE; AND EACH PARTY HEREBY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM,
DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY, AND THAT ANY PARTY TO THIS
AGREEMENT MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE
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CONSENT OF THE SIGNATORIES HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

(B)          CONSEQUENTIAL AND OTHER DAMAGES. NEITHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, ANY LENDER, THE ARRANGERS, THE
ISSUING LENDER OR THE SWINGLINE LENDER OR ANY OF THEIR RELATED PARTIES OR AGENTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE OR LIABLE TO
THE COMPANY, ANY BORROWER OR ANY THEIR SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES FOR ANY PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY OR CONSEQUENTIAL
DAMAGES THAT MAY BE ALLEGED AS A RESULT OF THE CREDIT FACILITY OR ANY OF THE LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY TRANSACTION
CONTEMPLATED BY THE CREDIT FACILITY.

SECTION 13.7  Reversal of Payments.

To the extent any Borrower makes a payment or payments to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders or the Administrative Agent receives any
payment or proceeds of the collateral which payments or proceeds or any part thereof are subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside and/or
required to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any other party under any bankruptcy law, state or federal law, common law or equitable cause, then, to the extent of such
payment or proceeds repaid, the Obligations or part thereof intended to be satisfied shall be revived and continued in full force and effect as if such payment or proceeds had
not been received by the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 13.8  Accounting Matters.

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to
time, provided that, if the Company notifies the Administrative Agent that the Borrowers request an amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change
occurring after the date hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of such provision (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Company that the Required
Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the
application there of, then such provision shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until
such notice shall have been withdrawn or such provision amended in accordance therewith.

SECTION 13.9  Successors and Assigns; Participations.

(a)           The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted
hereby, except that no Borrower may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Lender (and any
attempted assignment or transfer by a Borrower without such consent shall be null and void).  Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer
upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective
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successors and assigns permitted hereby and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Indemnitees) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of
this Agreement.

(b)           Any Lender may assign to one or more Eligible Assignees all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its



Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment and the Loans (including for purposes of this subsection (b), participations in L/C Obligations and in Swingline Loans) at the time
owing to it); provided that (i) except in the case of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender’s Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment and the
Loans at the time owing to it or in the case of an assignment to a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund with respect to a Lender, the aggregate amount of the
Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment (which for this purpose includes Loans outstanding thereunder) subject to each such assignment, determined as of the date the
Assignment and Acceptance with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent, shall not be less than $10,000,000 unless each of the Administrative
Agent, the Swingline Lender and the Issuing Lender and, so long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Company otherwise consents (each
such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), (ii) each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender’s
rights and obligations under this Agreement with respect to the Loans or the Commitment assigned, except that this clause (ii) shall not apply to rights in respect of
outstanding Swingline Loans, and (iii) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Assignment and Acceptance agreement in
substantially the form of Exhibit H (an “Assignment and Acceptance”), together with a processing and recordation fee of $1,000.  Subject to acceptance and recording thereof
by the Administrative Agent pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Acceptance, the Eligible Assignee
thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Acceptance, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this
Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Acceptance, be released from its obligations under this
Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Acceptance covering all of the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to
be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 4.8, 4.9, 4.10, 4.11, 13.2 and 13.14).  Upon request, the Borrowers (at their expense) shall execute
and deliver new or replacement Notes to the assigning Lender and the assignee Lender.  Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement
that does not comply with this subsection shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in
accordance with subsection (d) of this Section.

(c)           The Administrative Agent, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the Borrowers, shall maintain at the Administrative Agent’s Office a copy of each
Assignment and Acceptance delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Revolving Credit Commitments (and
components thereof) of, and principal amount of the Loans and L/C Obligations owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “Register”).  The
entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders may treat each Person whose name is recorded
in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary.  The
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Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrowers and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.

(d)           Any Lender may, without the consent of, or notice to, the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent, the Swingline Lender or the Issuing Lender sell
participations to one or more banks or other entities (a “Participant”) in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and/or obligations under this Agreement (including all or a
portion of its Revolving Credit Commitment and/or the Loans (including such Lender’s participations in L/C Obligations and/or Swingline Loans) owing to it); provided that
(i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of
such obligations and (iii) the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such
Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement.  Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall
retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or
instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, waiver or other modification that would (i) postpone any
date upon which any payment of money is scheduled to be paid to such Participant, (ii) reduce the principal, interest, fees or other amounts payable to such Participant (other
than as a result of (x) waiving the applicability of any post-default increases in interest rates or (y) an amendment approved by the Required Lenders as set forth in the
definition of “Applicable Percentage” following the withdrawal by S&P and/or Moody’s of an Applicable Rating), (iii) permit any assignment (other than as specifically
contemplated in this Agreement) of any of the Borrowers’ rights and obligations hereunder or (iv) release the Borrower from its obligations hereunder.  Subject to
subsection (e) of this Section, the Borrowers agree that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Sections 4.8, 4.9, 4.10 and 4.11 to the same extent as if it were a
Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to subsection (b) of this Section.  To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the
benefits of Section 13.3 as though it were a Lender, provided such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 4.6 as though it were a Lender.

(e)           A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Sections 4.8, 4.9, 4.10 or 4.11 than the applicable Lender would have been entitled
to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Company’s prior written consent.  A
Participant that would be a Foreign Lender if it were a Lender shall not be entitled to the benefits of Section 4.11 unless the Company is notified of the participation sold to
such Participant and such Participant agrees, for the benefit of the Borrowers, to comply with Section 4.11(e) as though it were a Foreign Lender.

(f)            Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement (including under its Notes, if any) to
secure obligations of such Lender, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or assignment shall
release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.
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(g)           If the consent of the Company to an assignment or to an Eligible Assignee is required hereunder (including a consent to an assignment which does not meet
the minimum assignment threshold specified in clause (i) of the proviso to the first sentence of Section 13.9(b), the Company shall be deemed to have given its consent five
Business Days after the date notice thereof has been delivered by the assigning Lender (through the Administrative Agent) unless such consent is expressly refused by a
Borrower prior to such fifth Business Day.

(h)           Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if at any time SunTrust assigns all of its Revolving Credit Commitment and Loans pursuant to
subsection (b) above, SunTrust may, (i) upon thirty (30) days’ written notice to the Company and the Lenders, resign as Issuing Lender and/or (ii) upon five (5) Business
Days’ written notice to the Company, terminate the Swingline Maximum.  In the event of any such resignation as Issuing Lender or termination of the Swingline Maximum,
the Company shall be entitled to appoint from among the Lenders a successor Issuing Lender and/or Swingline Lender hereunder; provided that no failure by the Company to
appoint any such successor shall affect the resignation of SunTrust as Issuing Lender or the termination of the Swingline Maximum, as the case may be.  SunTrust shall retain
all the rights and obligations of the Issuing Lender hereunder with respect to all Letters of Credit outstanding as of the effective date of its resignation as Issuing Lender and
all L/C Obligations with respect thereto (including the right to require the Lenders to make Base Rate Loans or fund participations pursuant to Section 3.4.  If SunTrust
terminates the Swingline Maximum, it shall retain all the rights of the Swingline Lender provided for hereunder with respect to Swingline Loans made by it and outstanding as
of the effective date of such termination, including the right to require the Lenders to make Base Rate Loans or fund participations in outstanding Swingline Loans pursuant to
Section 2.5(b).

(i)            Designation of SPVs.

(i)            Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, any Lender (a “Designating Lender”) may grant to one or more special purpose funding
vehicles (each, an “SPV”), identified as such in writing from time to time by the Designating Lender to the Administrative Agent and the Company, the option to



provide to the Company all or any part of any Loan that such Designating Lender would otherwise be obligated to make to the Company pursuant to this Agreement;
provided that (A) nothing herein shall constitute a commitment by any SPV to make any Loan, (B) if an SPV elects not to exercise such option or otherwise fails to
provide all or any part of such Loan, the Designating Lender shall be obligated to make such Loan pursuant to the terms hereof, (C) the Designating Lender shall
remain liable for any indemnity or other payment obligation with respect to its Commitments hereunder and (D) each such SPV would satisfy the requirements of
Section 4.11 if such SPV was a Lender hereunder.  The making of a Loan by an SPV hereunder shall utilize the Commitment of the Designating Lender to the same
extent as a Loan made by, and as if such Loan were made by, such Designating Lender.

(ii)           As to any Loans or portion thereof made by it, each SPV shall have all the rights that a Lender making such Loans or portion thereof would have had
under this Agreement; provided, however, that each SPV shall have granted to its Designating Lender an irrevocable power of attorney, to deliver and receive all
communications and
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notices under this Agreement (and any related documents), including, without limitation, any Notice of Revolving Credit Borrowing and any Notice of
Conversion/Continuation,  and to exercise on such SPV’s behalf, all of such SPV’s voting rights under this Agreement.  No additional Note shall be required to
evidence the Loans or portion thereof made by an SPV; and the related Designating Lender shall be deemed to hold its Note as agent for such SPV to the extent of the
Loans or portion thereof funded by such SPV.  In addition, any payments for the account of any SPV shall be paid to its Designating Lender as agent for such SPV.

(iii)          Each party hereto hereby agrees that no SPV shall be liable for any indemnity or payment under this Agreement for which a Lender would otherwise
be liable for so long as, and to the extent, the Designating Lender provides such indemnity or makes such payment.  In furtherance of the foregoing, each party hereto
hereby agrees (which agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement) that, prior to the date that is one year and one day after the payment in full of all
outstanding prior indebtedness of any SPV, it will not institute against, or join any other person in instituting against, such SPV any bankruptcy, reorganization,
arrangement, insolvency or liquidation proceedings or similar proceedings under the laws of the United States or any State thereof.

(iv)          In addition, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 13.9 or otherwise in this Agreement, any SPV may (A) at any time
and without paying any processing fee therefor, assign or participate all or a portion of its interest in any Loans to the Designating Lender (or to any other SPV of such
Designating Lender) or to any financial institutions providing liquidity and/or credit support to or for the account of such SPV to support the funding or maintenance of
Loans and (B) disclose on a confidential basis any non-public information relating to its Loans to any rating agency, commercial paper dealer or provider of any surety,
guarantee or credit or liquidity enhancements to such SPV.  This Section may not be amended without the written consent of any Designating Lender affected thereby.

SECTION 13.10  Confidentiality.

Each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of Confidential Information, except that Confidential Information may be
disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates’ directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the Persons to
whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Confidential Information and instructed to keep such Confidential Information confidential),
solely for use in connection with this Agreement; (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority; (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any
subpoena or similar legal process; (d) to any other party to this Agreement; (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding
relating to this Agreement or the enforcement of rights hereunder; (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to (i) any
Eligible Assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective Eligible Assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or (ii) any direct or
indirect contractual counterparty or prospective counterparty (or such contractual counterparty’s or prospective counterparty’s
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professional advisor) to any credit derivative transaction relating to obligations of the Borrowers; (g) with the consent of the Borrowers; (h) to the extent such Confidential
Information (i) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section or (ii) becomes available to the Administrative Agent or any Lender on a
nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Borrowers; or (i) to the National Association of Insurance Commissioners or any other similar organization or any
nationally recognized rating agency that requires access to information about a Lender’s or its Affiliates’ investment portfolio in connection with ratings issued with respect to
such Lender or its Affiliates.  Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Confidential Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied
with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Confidential Information as such Person would accord
to its own confidential information.

SECTION 13.11  Amendments, Waivers and Consents.

Except as set forth below, any term, covenant, agreement or condition of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents may be amended or waived by the
Lenders and any consent may be given by the Lenders, if, but only if, such amendment, waiver or consent is in writing signed by the Required Lenders (or by the
Administrative Agent with the consent of the Required Lenders) and delivered to the Administrative Agent and, in the case of an amendment, signed by the Borrowers;
provided that no amendment, waiver or consent shall, without the consent of each Lender affected thereby, (a) increase the amount of any Lender’s Commitment or extend the
time of the obligation of the Lenders to make Loans or issue or participate in Letters of Credit, (b) extend the originally scheduled time or times of payment of the principal of
any Loan or Reimbursement Obligation or the time or times of payment of interest or fees on any Loan or Reimbursement Obligation (except as expressly contemplated by
Sections 2.7 or 2.8), (c) reduce the rate of interest or fees payable on any Loan or Reimbursement Obligation (other than as a result of (x) waiving the applicability of any
post-default increases in interest rates or (y) an amendment approved by the Required Lenders as set forth in the definition of “Applicable Percentage” following the
withdrawal by S&P and/or Moody’s of an Applicable Rating) (d) reduce the principal amount of any Loan or Reimbursement Obligation, (e) permit any assignment (other
than as specifically permitted or contemplated in this Agreement) of any of the Borrowers’ rights and obligations hereunder, (f) release the Company from its guaranty
hereunder or (g) amend the provisions of this Section or the percentage set forth in the definition of Required Lenders.  In addition, no amendment, waiver or consent to the
provisions of (i) Article XII shall be made without the written consent of the Administrative Agent, (ii) Section 2.6 shall be made without the consent of the Swingline Lender
and (iii) Article III shall be made without the written consent of each Issuing Lender.

Notwithstanding the fact that the consent of all the Lenders is required in certain circumstances as set forth above, (x) each Lender is entitled to vote as such Lender
sees fit on any bankruptcy reorganization plan that affects the Loans, and each Lender acknowledges that the provisions of Section 1126(c) of the Federal Bankruptcy Code
(as now or hereafter in effect) supersedes the unanimous consent provisions set forth herein and (y) the Required Lenders may consent to allow a Borrower to use cash
collateral in the context of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding.
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SECTION 13.12  Performance of Duties.

The Borrowers’ obligations under this Agreement and each of the Loan Documents shall be performed by the Borrowers at their sole cost and expense.

SECTION 13.13  All Powers Coupled with Interest.

All powers of attorney and other authorizations granted to the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and any Persons designated by the Administrative Agent or any
Lender pursuant to any provisions of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents shall be deemed coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable so long as any of
the Obligations remain unpaid or unsatisfied or the Credit Facility has not been terminated.

SECTION 13.14  Survival of Indemnities.

Notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement, the indemnities to which the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and the Lenders are entitled under the
provisions of this Article XIII and any other provision of this Agreement and the Loan Documents shall continue in full force and effect and shall protect the Administrative
Agent, the Arrangers and the Lenders against events arising after such termination as well as before, including after the Borrowers’ acceptance of the Lenders’ commitments
for the Credit Facility, notwithstanding any failure of such facility to close.

SECTION 13.15  Titles and Captions.

Titles and captions of Articles, Sections and subsections in this Agreement are for convenience only, and neither limit nor amplify the provisions of this Agreement.

SECTION 13.16  Severability of Provisions.

Any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective
only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions hereof or thereof or affecting the
validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

SECTION 13.17  Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be
deemed to be an original and shall be binding upon all parties, their successors and assigns, and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement. 
Delivery of any executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.
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SECTION 13.18  Term of Agreement.

(a)           This Agreement shall become effective at such time, on or after the Closing Date, that the conditions precedent set forth in Section 5.1 have been satisfied
or waived and when it shall have been executed by each of the Borrowers and the Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent shall have received copies of the
signature pages hereto (telefaxed or otherwise) which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each Lender (including the Issuing Lender), and thereafter this Agreement
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each Borrower, each Lender (including the Issuing Lender) and the Administrative Agent, together with their permitted
successors and assigns.

(b)           This Agreement shall remain in effect from the Closing Date through and including the date upon which all Obligations shall have been indefeasibly and
irrevocably paid and satisfied in full, all Letters of Credit have been terminated or expired and the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment has been terminated.  No
termination of this Agreement shall affect the rights and obligations of the parties hereto arising prior to such termination.

SECTION 13.19  Inconsistencies with Other Documents; Independent Effect of Covenants.

(a)           In the event there is a conflict or inconsistency between this Agreement and any other Loan Document, the terms of this Agreement shall control.

(b)           The Borrowers expressly acknowledge and agree that each covenant contained in Article VIII and Article IX shall be given independent effect.

SECTION 13.20  Judgment Currency.

If, for the purposes of obtaining judgment in any court, it is necessary to convert a sum due hereunder or under any other Loan Document in one currency into another
currency, the rate of exchange used shall be that at which in accordance with normal banking procedures the Administrative Agent could purchase the first currency with such
other currency on the Business Day preceding that on which final judgment is given.  The obligation of any Borrower in respect of any such sum due from it to the
Administrative Agent or any Lender hereunder or under the other Loan Documents shall, notwithstanding any judgment in a currency (the “Judgment Currency”) other than
that in which such sum is denominated in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement (the “Agreement Currency”), be discharged only to the extent that on
the Business Day following receipt by the Administrative Agent or such Lender of any sum adjudged to be so due in the Judgment Currency, the Administrative Agent or
such Lender may in accordance with normal banking procedures purchase the Agreement Currency with the Judgment Currency.  If the amount of the Agreement Currency so
purchased is less than the sum originally due to the Administrative Agent or such Lender in the Agreement Currency, the Borrowers jointly and severally agree, as a separate
obligation and notwithstanding any such judgment, to indemnify the Administrative Agent or such Lender or the Person to whom such obligation was owing against such
loss.  If the amount of the Agreement Currency so purchased is greater than the sum originally due to the Administrative Agent or such Lender in such
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currency, the Administrative Agent or such Lender agrees to return the amount of any excess to the Borrowers (or to any other Person who may be entitled thereto under
applicable law).

SECTION 13.21  Several Obligations of the Borrowers.

Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, the obligations of each of the Borrowers (other than the Company) under this Agreement and the Loan Documents are



several and not joint and several obligations.  Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, no Borrower (other than the Company) shall be responsible for or be
deemed to have guaranteed the obligations of any other Borrower hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents.

SECTION 13.22  Subordination of Company’s Claims Against the Designated Borrowers.

The Borrowers hereby agree that any claims of the Company against a Designated Borrower or any rights the Company has to be indemnified by a Designated
Borrower shall be subordinate in right of payment to the payment and satisfaction in full of the Guaranteed Obligations to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders under this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

SECTION 13.23  Patriot Act Notification.

The following notification is provided to the Company pursuant to Section 326 of the Patriot Act:

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT PROCEDURES FOR OPENING A NEW ACCOUNT.  To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money
laundering activities, Federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each person or entity that opens an account,
including any deposit account, treasury management account, loan, other extension of credit, or other financial services product.  When the Company opens an account, the
Lenders will ask for Company’s name, tax identification number, business address, and other information that will allow the Lenders to identify the Company.  The Lenders
may also ask to see Company’s legal organizational documents or other identifying documents.

SECTION 13.24  No Advisory or Fiduciary Responsibility.  In connection with all aspects of each transaction contemplated under this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents, each Borrower acknowledges and agrees, and acknowledges its Subsidiaries understanding, that: (i) the Credit Facilities provided for hereunder and any related
arranging or other services in connection therewith (including in connection with any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or of any other Loan Document) are an
arm’s-length commercial transaction between the Borrowers and their respective Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers, on the other
hand, and the Borrowers are capable of evaluating and understanding and understand and accept the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated hereby and by
the other Loan Documents (including any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or thereof); (ii) in connection with the process leading to such transaction, the
Administrative Agent and each of the Arrangers each is and has been acting solely as a principal and is not the financial advisor, agent or fiduciary, for any of the Borrowers
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or any of their respective Affiliates, stockholders, creditors or employees or any other Person; (iii) neither the Administrative Agent nor either of the Arrangers has assumed
or will assume an advisory, agency or fiduciary responsibility in favor of any Borrower with respect to any of the transactions contemplated under this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents or the process leading thereto, including with respect to any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or of any other Loan Document
(irrespective of whether the Administrative Agent or either of the Arrangers has advised or is currently advising any of the Borrowers or their respective Affiliates on other
matters) and none of the Administrative Agent or the Arrangers has any obligation to any of the Borrowers or their respective Affiliates with respect to the transactions
contemplated hereby except those obligations expressly set forth herein and in the other Loan Documents; (iv) the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and their respective
Affiliates may be engaged in a broad range of transactions that involve interests that differ from those of any of the Borrowers and their respective Affiliates, and neither the
Administrative Agent nor either of the Arrangers has any obligation to disclose any of such interests by virtue of any advisory, agency or fiduciary relationship; and (v) the
Administrative Agent and the Arrangers have not provided and will not provide any legal, accounting, regulatory or tax advice with respect to any of the transactions
contemplated hereby (including any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or of any other Loan Document) and each Borrower has consulted its own legal,
accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate.  Each Borrower hereby waives and releases, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims
that it may have against the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers with respect to any breach or alleged breach of agency or fiduciary duty in connection with any Loan
Document or the transactions contemplated under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents.

SECTION 13.25  Effect of Amendment and Restatement of the Existing Credit Agreement.

On the Closing Date, the Existing Credit Agreement shall be amended and restated in its entirety.  The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that (a) this Agreement
and the other Loan Documents, whether executed and delivered in connection herewith or otherwise, do not constitute a novation or termination of the “Obligations” (as
defined in the Existing Credit Agreement under the Existing Credit Agreement as in effect immediately prior to the Closing Date and which remain outstanding; and (b)
except for any “Obligations” (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) which are expressly contemplated to be repaid on the Closing Date and to the extent are in fact so
repaid, the “Obligations” (as amended and restated hereby and which are hereinafter subject to the terms herein) are in all respects continuing.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused their duly authorized officers to execute and deliver this Agreement as of the date first above written.

COMPANY: EQUIFAX INC.
   

By:
Name:
Title:

 

DESIGNATED BORROWER: EQUIFAX PLC
   

By:
Name:
Title:

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT – EQUIFAX INC.]

 
LENDERS: SUNTRUST BANK



Individually and as Administrative Agent, as
Issuing Lender and as Swingline Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 
WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 
THE BANK OF NEW YORK
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 
THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND PLC
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 
MIZUHO CORPORATE BANK, LTD.
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 
REGIONS BANK
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:



 
BEAR STEARNS CORPORATE
LENDING INC.
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 
BNP PARIBAS
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 
By:
Name:
Title:

 
THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY
as a Lender

   
By:
Name:
Title:

 



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS 

I, Richard F. Smith, certify that:

1.                 I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Equifax Inc.;

2.                 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.                 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)               Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b)              Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

b)              Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c)               Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)               All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)              Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 1, 2006 /s/ RICHARD F. SMITH
Richard F. Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS 

I, Lee Adrean, certify that:

1.                 I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Equifax Inc.;

2.                 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.                 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)               Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b)              Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

d)              Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

e)               Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)               All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)              Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 1, 2006 /s/ LEE ADREAN
Lee Adrean
Corporate Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

 



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Equifax Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2006, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard F. Smith, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 1, 2006 /s/ RICHARD F. SMITH
Richard F. Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Equifax Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2006, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Lee Adrean, Corporate Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 1, 2006 /s/ LEE ADREAN
Lee Adrean
Corporate Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

 


